
In the years after 1936. the l~iii~l~ose of tlic (‘ommunist Party COIX 
TEI.PRO chnngctl sonlcwht. Snpremc Court decisions substantially 
curbed criminal I)rosecution of Conmunists. 2i4 Subsequently, the FBI 
‘htionalc” for C~)IXTEI,PRO was that it had become “inlpossible 
to prosecute (‘oiniiinnist l’arty i~~ci~ib~~i~s” ant1 sonic altcrnxtivc was 
needed “to contain the threat.” 273 

6. Gtrl~7y z:‘~p”“sio,l of COZ‘~7’ELPZZO 
I~‘IY)III l9.X lInti 1%X), tllc COTSTII:I,PRO progran~ was primarily 

ainlet at the Co~iiiiiimist~ l’arty organizntion. But. in March 1960, 
l)ai.tic,il):itin:~ FliT ficltl offices ww tlirectrd to niake efforts to pre- 
\-cnt Comnl,inist 5iifiltrntion” of “lcgitinmte iii:155 oiyanizutioiis, sncll 
as PaI’(‘llt-‘I‘(~:I(‘li(‘I. .1ssocintioiis. civil oiyanizations, and racial and 
wligioi!s gm~1lk3.‘~ ‘1’11~ initial twlmicjiw u-as to notify a lcadcr of the 
orgallimtion. often l~v “:~iion~n~oi~s conlnliiiiicatioiis,” about the xl- 
lrgwl Coini~iiliiist iii its iili~lst:‘y” In SOIIIC easrs~ both the (‘omiiiin~ist 
trlltl the ‘biiifiltratctl” orgxiiizatioii mire targeted. 

This marlxd the begmning of the progression from targeting Corn- 
miiiiist I’:lrty IIICI~I~W~S, to tllose :~lltpedl~ nncler Communist “influ- 
WICC.” to persons taking positions sl~l)portcd by the C”onmunists. For 
csan~plc. in I%S tnrgrts untlcr the Communist Parts COISTELI’RO 
label included n group wit11 some Conmnnist parti’cipants urging in- 
creased cmployiicnt of minorities 2ii and a non-Coinnmnist group in 
opposition to tlw Hoiisc Committee on I-n-Abnericwn AdivitkZ7” 

Tn 1961. n COTSTET,PRO opwation was initiatetl against the So- 
cialist Worlrci~ Party. The oripinntiiig nirniorantliiiii said it was not 
a “cras!1” 1”‘0~““11’ :’ and it was never given high 1jriority.2’” The 
SWP’S support for “such vaiiscs as (‘Iastro’s Citba and integration 
I)roblw~ arising in the Sollth” were note(l as factors in the FBI’s 
clwision to tnrpct the oiyanizntioii. The I3iirenu also relict1 upon its 
ass~~ssnieiit that the SJYP was “not just mother socialist groiip but 
follows the wvoliitionar,v principles of Xnrs. Iknin. and Engrls as 
intrrl?rcted by I,con Trotsky” and that it \~as ‘k freqllent contact 
wit11 lntcrnntionnl Trotskite pmnps stopping short of open and direct 
contact wit11 these groi~lx:~’ ?qO The SW’ hat1 hen designated as “snh- 
versivc” on the “A\ttorney General’s list” since the 1910~.~“* 

T). hl-lXT,TGESCE .\SD hl\IESTIC ~ISSEST : 1%-2-1976 

1. loin Ik w7opnwnf.c of the IN&l9?6 PPGOC? 
Twinning in the nlid-sixties. the Vnitetl States experienced a period 

of clonicstic unrest and protest iuip:~r:~llclcd iii this ccntnry. Violence 
eriiptcd in the poverty-stricken iirban ghettos. ant1 opposition to 
a\mcrican intervention iii Vietnam prodncctl massire demonstrations. -- 

2i’E.g., I’cctC.9 r. T’nifcd Stntcs,354 T‘.S:. 498 (1057). 
2x %position of Suprrrisor, Internal Security Section, FBI Intelligence 

Dirision. 10/16/76. pp. 10, 14. 
ITo ~Iemornndnn~ from FI<I Hradqmrtrrs to Sew York field office, 3/31/60. 
2ii Jlrmorandum from E’RT IIcntlqnarters to Snn Franc5sco field offirr. l/16/64. 
(r” JIemor~~ndnm from FBI IIradqnnrtcrs to Clrrel:~ntl field office, 11/6/t%. 
“’ Forty-five actions were 21,prnred 11y IcXT Hendqiurters under the SW!? 

COISTET.PRO from 1961 until it was disc~ontinnrd ill 1969. The SWP prngram 
was then snl~snm~tl under tlics Sew T.cft (‘OISTET,PRO. see pp. SX-89. 

‘* Mfworilndun~ from Director. FRr. to Sew York field ofice, 10/E/61. 
281JI~n~or~ndiini from the Attorney General to IIeads of Departments and 

Agencies. 4/B/63. 



A1 small minority tlclilwratelv rwd I-iolcnce as a method for ac.hiering 
small minority tlt~libcixtcl~ 1w~1 violence as a niethod for achieving 
political goals-rangiiip fAni the bnital nllirder ant1 intin~idation of 
black ~~mrr~cans in parts of thr South to tli:> terrorist bombiiy of of- 
fice buildings and do\-erniiiciit-slll)l~orte~l unversity facilities. But 
tl,rcc Presidential commissions found that the larger outbreaks of via- 
lence in tll? gllettOs alld 011 tllf c:~lllpllst~S Wc~‘1’C 1llOst. Often S1~OlltilllPOllS 

reactions to events in a climate of social tension and i~l~heava1.2”Z 
During this period. thol~santls of ~onng ;1mcricans :;nd members of 

racial minorities came to beliew in civil disobedience as a vehicle for 
protest and dissent. 

The government could hare set an example for the nation’s citizens 
and prevented spiraling lawlessness 1~;~ respecting the law as it took 
step”, to predict or prevent violence. But agencies of the I-nitcd States, 
sometimes abetted by public opinion and government officials. all too 
often disregarded the Constitutional rights of -\merican in their con- 
duct of tlome5tic intelligence operations. 

The most significant dewlopments in domestic intelligence activity 
during this period may be summarized as follows : 

a.Scope of llomesficInte7ligence 

FBI intelligence reports on protest activity and domest.ic dissent 
accumulated massive information on lawful activity and law-abiding 
citizens for vaguely defined “pure intelligence” and “prerrntire 
intelligence” purposes related only remotely or not. at all to law enforce- 
ment, or the prevention of l.iolence. The FRT exaggerated the extent 
of domestic Communist influence, and CO;\IISFIT~ in\-esti.gations 
improperlv included groups with no significant connections to 
Commnni&s. 

The FBI expanded its use of informers for gathering intelligence 
about domestic political groups. sometimes upon the urging of the 
Attorney General. So significant limits were placed on the kind of 
political or personal information collected by informers, recorded 
in FBI files. and often disseminated outside the ISure’au. 

Army intelligence developed programs for the massive collection of 
information about, and surveillance of, civilian political activity in 
the I-nitecl States and sometimes abroad. 

In contrast. to previous policies for centralizing domestic intelligence 
investigations. the Federal Gorernment encouragetl local police to 
establish intelligence programs both for their own use and to feed 
into the Federal iiltelligencr-gatherings process. This greatly expanded 
the domestic intelligence apparatus. making it harder to control. 

The .Jnstice Department established a unit for storing and evaluat- 
ing intelligence about civil disorders which n-as designed to use non- 
intelligence agencies as regular sources of information, which. in fact., 
drew on military intelligence as well as the FBI, and which trans- 
mitted its computer list of citizens to the CL1 and the IRS. 

b.Don,,csticIntellige?1ce-~~-llcfho~ity 

Intelligence gathering related to protest activity was generally 
increased in response to vague requests by Attorneys General or other 

“’ Rrport of the Sationnl Adrisory Commission on Civil Disorders (1968), ch. 
2; Report of the Sntionnl Commission on tire Causes and Prevention of J’io- 
lence (1969) ; Report of the President’s Commission on Campus Unrest (1970). 
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officials outside the intelligence agencies : such incrcascs wcrc some- 
tinics ratified retroactively by wch officials. 

The FBI’s esclnsiw control over civilian tlomestic intrlligencc at, 
the Fetlcral Ic\-el was consolitlntcd by formal agreements nit11 the 
Secret &Service regarding protecti\-c intelligence ant1 wit11 thcl 1311rcau 
of A\lcol~ol, Tobacco, and Firearms regarding terrorist bombings. 

The FTST derrlopecl iielv covert programs for disrupting and tlis- 
crediting doiilcstic political groups, using the tccliniqws oripi- 
nally applied to Communists. The most intensive tlomestic intelli- 
gence investigations, and frequently COISTELPRO operations, \yerc 
targeted agamst persons itlentifictl not as criminals 01’ criminal 
suspects, but as “rabble rousers, ” “agitators.” “key activists.” or “kr? 
black extremists” brcanse of their militant rh<+or~c an<1 group leaders- 
ship. The Secnrit\- Index was revisetl to inclutlc sllch l~~~rsons. 

Withoutj imposing adequate safeguards against. misiw. the Ii~tc~imal 
Revenue Service passed tax information to the FI<I ant1 (‘IA. in 
some cases in I-iolation of tax regulations. *it the iirging of the White 
House and a Congressional Committee. the IRS established a l)ro:pram 
for in\-estigating politically active groups ant1 iiitli\-itliials;, which 
included auditing their tax returns. 

d. Foreign InteUigencc md Dome.8tic I~isw0f 
A 1966 agreement concerning ‘~coordination” between the (‘IA and 

the FBI permitted CIA1 invol\-emcnt in internal security functions. 
Thder pressure from the ,Johnson and Sison V’hite Houses to deter- 
mine whether there was “foreign influence” behind anti-war protests 
and black militant activity. the CL1 began collecting intelligence about 
domestic political gronps. 

The CIA also conducted operations within the I-nited States antler 
overly broad interpretations of its responsibility to protect the 
physical security of its facilities and to protect intelligence “sources” 
and “methods.” These operations included surreptitious entry, recruit- 
ment of informers in domestic political groups. and at least one 
instance of varrantless wiretapping approved by the Attorney 
General. 

In the same period, the Kational Security -1gency monitored inter- 
national communications of Americans involved in clomestic dissent 
despite the fact that its mission was supposed to be restricted to 
collecting foreign intelligence and monitoring only foreign communi- 
cations. 

e. Intrusize Technipes 
As domestic intelligence operations broadened and focused upon 

dissenters, the Gorernment increased the use of many of its most 
intrusive surveillance techniques. During the periotl from 1!)61 to 
1972, the standards and procedures for warrantless electronic survcil- 
lance were tightened, but actual practice was sometimes at odds with 
the articulatecl policy. .Ilso during these years. CIA mail opening 
expanded at the Ekeau’s request. and SSA monitoring expanded to 
target domestic dissenters. Howercr. the FRI cut back use of certain 
techniques lmder the pressure of Congressional probes ant1 changing 
public opinion. 
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f. Accountability a.nd Cos trol 
During this period several sustained domestic intelligence efforts 

illustrated deficiemies in the system for comrolling intelligence agen- 
cies and holding them accountable for their ac,tions. 

In 1970, presidential approval was temporarily granted for a plan 
for interagency coordination of domestic intelligence activities which 
included several illegal programs. Although the approval was sub- 
sequently revoked. some of the programs were implemented separate- 
ly by various agencies. 

Throughout the administ.rations of Presidents Johnson and Sixon, 
the investigative process was misused as a means of acquiring political 
intelligence for the White House. At the same time, the Justice De- 
partment’s Internal Security Division, which should have been a check 
against the excesses of domestic intelligence. generally failed to re- 
strain such activities. For example, as late as 1971-1973. the FBI con- 
tinued to evade the will of Congress, partly with ,Justice Department 
approval, by maintaining a secret “Administ,rative Index” of suspects 
for round-up in case of nat.ionnl emergency. 

g. Reconsideration of FEZ Authority 
Partly in reaction to congressional inquiries, the FBI in t,he early 

1970s began to reconsider the extent of its authority to conduct do- 
mestic intelligence activities and requested clarification from the At- 
torney General and an executive mandate for intelligence investiga- 
tions of “terrorists” and “revolutionaries”. 

In the absence of any new standards imposed by statute, or by the 
Attorney General, the FBI continued to collect domestic mtelligencc 
under sweeping authorizations issued by the Justice Department in 
1974 for investigations of “subversives,” potential civil disturbances. 
and “potential crimes”. These authorizations were explicitly based on 
broad theories of inherent. executive power. Attorney General Edward 
H. Levi recently promulgated guidelines which represent the first 
significant attempt by the ,Justice Department to set standards and 
limits for FBI domestic intelligence investigations. 

2’. Scope of Domestic Intelligence 
During this period the FBI continued the same broad investigations 

of the lawful activities of Americans that were based on the Bureau’s 
vague mandate to collect intelligence about “subversion.” 

In addition, the Bureau-joined by CIA. SSA, and military in- 
telligence agencies-took on new and equally broad assignments to 
investigate “racial matters,” the “Sew Left,” “student agitation,” and 
alleged “foreign influence” on the antiwar movement. 

a. Domestic Protest and Dissent: FBI 
“We are an intelligence agency,” stated a policy directive to all FBI 

offices in 1966, “and as such are expected to know what is going on or 
is likely to happen.‘! 283 Written in t.he context of demonstrations over 
the Vietnam war and civil rights, this order illustrates the general 
attitude among Bureau officials and high administ.ration officials who 
established intelligence policy : in a country in ferment, the FBI could, 
and should, know everything that might someday be useful in some 
undefined manner. 

253 SAC letter 6i-Zi, S/3/66. 
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(1) RncinZ ZnfclZigcnce.--nurin,rr the l!XOs, the FRT, partly on its 
own and partly in response to outside requests, derclopccl sweeping 
programs for collecting domestic intelligence concerning racial mat- 
tern These programs liad roots in the late IO~@S.~~~ 13y t,hc enrly,l!XOs. 
they had growi to the point. that the Bureau was gathering intclli- 
gence about proposed “civil drmonst.rations” and t,lir related activities 
of “officials, committees, legislatures, organizations, etc.,” in the “racial 
ficlcl*!’ 285 

In 196!, FBI field offices vxre directed to supplv “complete” infor 
mat,ion (mcluding “postponement or canccllntion”) : 

regarding planned racial activity, such as de.monstrations, 
rallies! marches, or threatened opposit,ion to activity of t.his 
kind. 

Field offices reported their full “coverage” of “meetin@ and “any 
ot.hcr pertinent information concerning racial activities.“iSG 

In late 1066. field offices were instructed to begin preparing semi- 
monthly summaries of “existing racial condit.ions in major urban 
areas,” relying upon “established sources,” and “racial,” “criminal,” 
and “security informants.” These reports were to describe the “general 
programs” of nil “civil rights organizations” and “b1ac.k nationalist 
organizations,” as well as snbverslrc or “hate-type” groups. The infor- 
mation to be gathered was to include : “rcadilv available personal back- 
ground data!’ on “leaders and individuals in t.he civil rights move- 
ment.” and other “leaders and individuals involved,” as well as any 
data in Bureau files on “subversive associations” t,hey might have; the 
“objectives sought by the minority community;” the community reac- 
tion to “minoritv demands ;” and “the number, character, and inten- 
sity of the tcchl~iqucs used by the minorit.y community, such as pick- 
eting or sit-in demonstrat.ions, to enforce their demands.” 28’ 

Thus, t.he FBI was mobilized to used all its available resources to 
discover evcrvthing it could about “general racial conditions.!’ While 
the st.ated objective was to arrive at an “evaluation” of potential for 
violence, the broad sweep of the directives issued to the field resulted 
in the collection and filing of vast. amounts of information unrelated 
to violence. 

Some programs concerning “general racial matters” were directed 
to concentrate on groups with a “propensity for violence and civil 
disorder.” B* Rut even thrse programs were so overboard in the.ir appli- 
cation as to include Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. and his non-violent 
Southern Christian Leadership Conference in the “radical and vio- 
lence-prone” “hate group” category. The stated iustification, unsnp- 
ported by any facts. was that, Dr. Ring might. “abandon his supposed 
‘obedience’ to ‘white. liberal do&rims (nonviolence) and embrace 
black nationalism.” 289 

Another leading civil rights group, the Congress of RaGal Equality 
(CORE), was investigated under the “Rac.ial Matters” Program be- 
cause the ?3ure.au concluded that it. was moving “a.way from a legiti- 

284 see 50. p. 
2cb 7964 FBI Manual Section 122, p. 1. 
m 1065 FBI Manual Section 122, PD. G8. 
=‘FRI Manual Section 122, rerised 12/13/M, pp. 8-9. 
?68 Memorandum from FBI Headquarters to all SACS, 8/25/W. 
298 Memorandum from FBI Headquarters to all SACS, 3/4/68. 
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mate civil rights organization” and “assnming a militant, black nation- 
alist. posture.” The FBI reached this conclusion on the gro~mds t.hat 
“some leaders in their public statements’? had condoned “violence as 

a me,ans of a.ttwining Negro rights.” The, investigation was intensified, 
even though it was recognized there \vas no information that its mcn- 
hers “advocate violcnw:’ or “part.icipatr in actual violence.” *9” 

The same orerbreadth characterized the FBI’s collection of intelli- 
gence about “white milit,ant groups.” Among the groups investigated 
were those “known to sponsor demonstrations agamst integration and 
against the, busing of Negro students to white s~hools.‘~ As soon as a 
new organization of this sort was formed, the Bureau used its inform- 
ants and “established sources” to determine “the aims and purposes of 
the organization, its leaders, approximate n~en~bershil~,~’ and other 
“background data,” bearing upon “the militancy” of the crroup.2”01 

(2) ‘(A’Pw Left’? ZntP77iwncc.-The FBI collected intelligence uncle1 
its VTDEM (Vietnam Demonstration) and STAG (Student A4pita- 
tion) Programs on “anti-C*ol-crnni~llt demonstrations and protest ral- 
lies” which the Bureau considered “disruptive.” Field offices were 
warned against “incomplete and nonspecific reporting” which neg- 
lected such details as %nmber of protesters present. identities of orga- 
nizations. and identities of speakers and leading activists.” 201 

The FBI attempted to define the “New Left,” but with little success. 
The Bureau agent who eras in charge of New Left, intelligence conceded 
that : 

It has never been strictly de’fined. as far as I know. . . . It’s more 
or less an attitude, I would think. 

He also stated that the definition was expanded cont,inually.2g2 
Field offices were told that the New Left was a “subversive force” 

dedicated to destroying our “traditional values.” Although it had “no 
definable ideology, ” it was seen as having “strong Marxist, rxistential- 
ist, nihilist and anarchist overtones.” Field offices were instructed that 
“proper areas of inquiry” regarding thr subjects of “Ne\r TRft” in- 
vestigations were “public statements. the wriiings and the leadership 
activities” which might est.ablish their “rejection of law and order” 
and thus their “potential” threat to security. Such persons would also 
be placed on the Security Index (for detention in a time of emergency) 
because of these “anarchistic tendencies,” even if the Bureau could not 
prove “membership in n subversive organization.” 293 

A Bureau memorandum which recommended the use of disruptive 
techniques against the “NeK Left” paid particular attention to one of 
its “anarchistic tendencies” : 

m SAC T&tter 6%16, 3/12/t%. Subject : Congress of Racial Equality. 
m8 SAC I,etter 6,%25,4/30/68. 
281 SAC, JIemorandum l-72; s/23/72, Subject: Reporting of Protest Dem- 

onstrations. 
‘WJ Supervisor, FBI Intelligence Division, deposition, 10/28/75, pp. 7-8. 
285 SAC Letter 68-21. 4/2/68. This directive did caution that “mere dissent and 

opposition to Governmektal policies pursued in a legal rnnstitutional manner” 
was “not sufficient to warrant inclusion in the Security Index.” Moreover, “anti- 
Vietnam or peace group sentiments” were not, in themselves. supposed to “justify 
an investigation.” The failure of this admonition to achieve its stated objective is 
discussed in the findings on “Orerbreadth” and “Covert Action to Disrupt.” 
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the Ken- IRft has on many occasions vicionsly and scnrrilously 
attacked the IXrectorand the Bureau in an attempt to hamper 
our inrcstigations and drive 11s off the college campnses. ‘04 

Later instrnctions to the field stated that the term “Kcw Left” did 
not refer to 5 definite organization,” out to a “loosely-boimcl. free- 
wheeling, college-oriented movement” and to the “more tAreme and 
militant anti-Virtnam war and antidraft protest organizations.” These 
instructions directed a “comprehensive stndy of the whole movement” 
for the purpose of assessing its “dailgerolisiless.” Quarterly reports 
JT-erc to be prepared. and “subfiles” opened, nnder the following 
headings : 

Organizations (“when organized, objecbires, locality which 
active. whether part of a national organization”) 

Membership (and “sympathizers’-use “best available in- 
formants and sources”) 

Financrs (inclnding identity of “angels” and f nnds f ram 
“foreign sources”) 

Comnunist~ Influence 
Publications (“describe pnblications, &OK circnl,ation and 

principal members of editorial staff”) 
Violence 
Religion (“support of movement by religious groups or in- 

dividnnls”) 
Race Relntlons 
Political Activities (“details relating to position taken on 

polit.ical matters including efforts to influence public opin- 
ion, the electorak and Government bodies”) 

1deolog.y 
Educntlon (“cowses given together with any educational out- 

lines and assigned or snggested reading”) 
Social Reform (“demonstrations aimed at social reform”) 
Ilabor (“all activity in the labor field”) 
Public Appearances of Leaders (“on radio ant1 television” 

and “before gronps. such as labor, chnrch and minority 
gronps.:’ inclucling “slm~mary of snbject matter discussed”) 

Factionalism 
Secnritv Measures 
Interna’tional Relations (“trawl in foreign colmtries,” %t- 

tacks on I-nitrd States foreign policy”) 
Mass Media (“indications of support of New hft by mass 

media”) 

Throngh thesr massive rrports, the FBI hoped to discover “thr 
true nahre of the sew Left movemrnt.” 2gB Fe= Bureau programs 
better reflect “pnrc intelligence” objectives which extended far beyond 
even the most generons clrfinition of “prerent.ive intelligence.” *N 

2Dl Menioranduln from C. D. Brennan to W. C. Sullivan. 5/9/f%. 
m ~Im~orandum from FRI Headquarters to all SSCs. 10/28/G& and enclosure, 

Subject : Sew Left JIovemmt-Report Outline. 
?O”A fnr~liri- renson for rollerting information on the Sew Left was pnt for- 

\~:~rtl I1.v Assistant Dirwtor Rrennnn. head of the FRI Intclli~encr Division in 
7 970-1!)71. Since Srtr- Left “le;~dcrs” had “l)ul~lid.r ~~roftwrtl” tllrir desire to 
overthrow the (:owrnmt~nt. the I%nrcau slionl(l file the names c,f anyone who 
“joiwtl ill mr~mlwrslii~~” for “fntnrc wfcrenw” in case thw ever “ol~tnined 
a smsitire Governmrnt I)osition.” (Charles Brrnnan testimo&, O/25/75, Hear- 
ings. Vol. 2, pp. 116117.) 
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Apart from the massive general reports required on the ‘Wem Left,” 
examples of particular investigations included : a stockholders group 
planning to protest t.heir corporation’s war product,ion at. the annual 
stockholders meeting; *R a university professor who was “an active 
participant in Xew Left demonst,rat.ions,” publicly surrendered his 
draft card. and had been arrested in antilvar demonstrations, but not 
convicted; 298 and two university instructors who helped support a 
student “underground” near-spa#per whose editorial policy was de- 
scribed as “left-of-center, anti-establishment, and opposed [to] the 
X-ni\-crsitv administration.” 290 

The FBI also investigated emerging “New Left” groups, such as 
“Free Universities” attached to various college campuses, to determine 
whether they were connected “in any way” with “subversive groups.” 
For e.xample, when an article appeared m a newspaper stating that 
one “Free University” was being formed and that it was “anti-institu- 
tional,” the FBI sought to determine its “origin,” the persons respon- 
sible for its “formation,” and whether they had “subversive back- 
grounds. ” 3oo The resulting report described in detail the formation, 
curriculum content? and associates of the group. It was disseminated 
to military intelligence and Secret Service field offices and headquar- 
ters in Washington as well as to the State Department and the Justice 
Department..301 

The FBI Manual has never significantly limited informant report- 
ing about the lawful political activities or personal lives of American 
citizens, except for prohibiting reports about legal defense “plans or 
strategy, ” “employer-employee relationships” connected with label 
unions, and “legitimate campus activities.” 302 In practice, FBI agents 
imposed no other limitations on the informants they handled and, on 
occasion, disregarded the prohibitions of the Manual.303 

(1) Znfiiltration of the Klan.-In mid-1964, ,Just.ice Department of- 
ficials became increasingly concerned about the spread of Ku Klux 
Klan act.ivity and violence in the Deep South. Attorney General Ken- 
nedy advised President Johnson that, because of the 5mlque difficulty” 
presented by a situation where “lawless activities” had the “sancti;)n 
of local law enforcement agencies,” the FBI should apply to the Klan 
the same “techniques” used previously “in the infiltration of Commu- 
nist groups.” 304 

Former Attorney General Katzenbach, under whose tenure FBI 
activities against. the Klan expanded, vigorously defended this deci- 

~Memorandum from Minneapolis field office to FBI Headquarters. 4/l/70. 
208 Jfemorandum from FFZI Headquarters to Pittsburgh field office, 5/l/70. 
298JIemorandum from Nobile field office to FBI He&iquarters, 12/g/70. 
3oo 3Iemorandum from FBI Headquarters to Detroit field offices, 2/17/t%. 
301 Memorandum from Detroit field office to FBI Headquarters, 4/15/66. 
3m FBI Manual, Section 107. 
m See Findings on rise of informants in “Intrusive Techniques,” p. 39.2. 
3N31emorandum from Attorney General Kennedy to the President, June 1964, 

quntwl in Victor Sarasky. Rmncrlq Jgtstice (Sew York : Atheneum. 1971)) pp. 
10.5-106. The President asked fnrmer CIA Director Allen Dnlles to evaluate the 
situation in Mississippi. Upon his return from a surrey of the state, Dnlles en- 
dorsed the Attorney General’s rerommendation that the FRI he used to “cnntrnl 
the terrorist activities.” (“Dulles Requests More FBI Agents for Mississippi,” 
New York Times, 6/27/M) 
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sion as necessary to “deter violence” by sowing “deep mistrust among 
Klan members” and making them aware that they were “under con- 
stant observation.” 3oz The FBI Manna1 did, in fact,, advise Bureau 
agents against “wholesale investigations” of persons who “mererly at- 
tencl meetings on a regular basis.” 30ti But FBI intelligence officials 
chafed under this rest.riction and sought expanded informant cover- 
age.aoT Subsequently, the Manual was revised in 1967 to require the 
field to furnish the “details” of Klan “rallies” and “demonstrations.” 308 
Ry 19’71, the Special ,ipents in Charge of field offices had the discre- 
tlon to investigate not only persons with “a potential for violence,” 
but also anyone else who in the SAC’s “judgment” was an “ex- 
tremist.” 3oo 

(2) “Listening Posts’? iv the R7nck C;‘omrnunit,~.-Tvo special in- 
formant programs illustrates the breadt.11 of the Bureau’s infiltrat.ion 
of the black community. In 1970. the FBI used its “established inform- 
ants” to determine the “background, aims and purposes, leaders and 
Key ,4ctivists” in every black student. group in the country, “regard- 
less of [the group’s] past or present involvement in disorders.” 3*o Field 
offices were, instructed to “target, informants” against these groups and 
to “derelop such cowrage” where informants were not already avnil- 
ab1e.311 

In response to Attorney General Clark’s instructions regarding 
civil disorders intelligence in 1967, the Bureau launched a “ghetto 
informant. program” which lasted until 197X312 The number of ghetto 
informants expanded rapidly : 4,067 in 1969 and 7,403 by 197L313 The 
original concept was to establish a “listening post” .?I4 by recrniting a 
person “who lives or works in a ghetto area” to provide infonnwtion rc- 
garding the “racial situation” and “racial activities.” 315 Such inform- 
ants co~lltl include “the proprietor of a candy store or barber shop7 
.Zs the program drvelopcd, hoverer. ghetto Inforniants were : 

utilized to attend public meetings held by extremists, to iden- 
tify extremists passing through or locating in the ghett,o area, 
to identify purveyors of extremist literature as well as given 
specific assignments where appropriate.316 

30jTestimonr of Sicholas deB. Katzenbach 12/3/75. Hearings, Yol. 6, p. 207. 
m 1DG FBI mnnnnl. Section 122. pp. 1-2. 
9o’ FBI Executives conference memorandum, 3/24/f%, Subject : Establishment 

of a Special Squad Against the Ku Klux Klan. 
eca 1967 FBI manual, Section 122, p. 2. 
Jw 1971 FBI manual, Section 122, p. 2. 
“‘Memorandum from FBI Executive Conference to Mr. Tolaon, 10/29/70. 
‘I’ 3Iemorandmn from FBI Headquarters to all SACS. 11/4/70. 
m Memorandum from G. C. Moore to William C. Sullivan, 10/11/W. For At- 

torney Gclnernl Clark’s nrder, see np. (q-84. 
“’ ;\lemorandnm from FBI to Select Committee, S/20/75 and enclosures.) 
=‘ 3kmorandum from Cr. C. Moore to E. S. Miller. 9/R/72. 
“‘Memorandum from G.-C. Moor; to C. D. Brennan. 30/27/70. 
n” Memorandum from Moore to Miller, R/27/72. This Dropram continued until 

19X n-hen the FBI derided to rely on its regular estremist informants “for ‘by- 
nroduct information on civil unrest.” The most “nroduetiw” ghetto informants 
nere “rnnwrted” into regular informants. (FBI Inspwctinn Grision Memnrnn- 
dum, U/24/72; Memorandum from Director Clarence 11. Kel1e.v to all SAC%. 
7/31/7X) 
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Material to be furnished by ghetto informants included names of 
“Afro-Smerican type book stores” 
clientele.” 31i 

and their “owners, operators and 

(3) z?lfiltmfio,l of the “nTct(- Left”.-The FBI used its “securit.v” 
informant program to report extensivelv on all activities relating to 
opposition to the Vietnam war. Jloreover3”informants already in groups 
considered “subversive” by the FBI also reported on the activities of 
other organizations and their members, if the latter were being “infil- 
trated” by the former groups.318 

to 
The agent who handled one informant, in an antiwar group believed 

be infiltrated by “subversive groups and/or violent elements” 
testified that the mformant told him “everything she knew” about 
the chapter she joined.“‘” Summaries of her reports indicate that she 
~re1~orte.d estrnsivolv about personal matters and lawful polit,ic’al 
activity.320 This informant estimated that her reports identified as 
many as 1,000 people to the FBI over an 1%month period. The vast 
n1alority of these persons were members of peaceful and law-abiding 
groups, including the T’nited Church for Christ, which were engaged 
in joint social welfare projects with the antiwar group whlCll the 
informant had infiltrated.32l 

Other FRT informants rcportcd, for esamplc, on the Women’s 
Liberation Jloremcnt, identifying its members at several micl-western 
universities 322 and reporting statements made by women concerning 
their personal reasons for participating in the women’s n~ovement.323 

Jlorcovcr, as in the case of informants in the black community: 
efforts were made toegreatly increase the number of informants who 
could report on antiwar and related groups. In 1860, the Justice 
Department specifically asked the FBI to use not) only “existing 
sources.” but, also “any other sources you lnny ,be able to develop” to 
collect, information about “serious campus disorders.:’ 3Z4 The Bureau 
orclcred its field offices in 1970 to “make every effort” to obtain 
“informant coverage” of evrrv “New Left commune.” 323 Later that 
year, after Director Hoover lifted restrictions against recruiting 18 
to 21-year-old informants, field offices were urged to take advantage of 
this “trenienclons opl~ortunity~~ to expand coverage of New Left 
“collectives, communes, ancl staffs of their underground ncws- 
papers,:’ 326 

n7 Philadelphia Field Office memo S/12/68, re Racial Informant. 
‘I8 FRI Manual Section 87. 
318Testin~onr of FRI ‘Rnecill Agent. 11/20/75, p. 55. 
320 Staff review of informant report summaries. 
321 Mary Jo Cook. testimony. 12/2/7X Hearings, Vol. 6. pp. 111, 119-129. 
323 Report of Kansas City Field Office. 10/20/76. 
“a Memorandum from Sew York Field Office to FRI Headquarters, 5/28/69. 
~Jtemorandnm from Assistant Attorney General J. Waiter Yeagleq’ to 

J. Edgar Hoover, 3/3/69. This memorandum stated that the Department -xas 
considering “conducting a grand jury investigation” under the antiriot act and 
other statutes. 

32’JIemorandnm from FRT Headquarters to all SACS. 4/17/70. This dirwtire 
defined a “commune” as “a group of individuals residing in one location who 
practice communal living, i.e., they share income and adhere to the philosophy 
of a Marxist-T,eninist-Jlanist-oriented violent rernlution.” 

Z+ SAC T,etter 7648, 9/15/70. This directive implemented one provision of the 
“Hustnn Plan,” n-hich had been disapproved as a domestic intelligence package. 
See pp. 113,116. 



77 

In the early 1960s. after several commitments of troops to control 
racial disturbances ant1 enforce court orders in the South, Army 
intelligence began collecting information on civilian political activity 
in all areas where it brlirvetl civil disorders might occur. The growth 
of the ,4rmy’s domestic intclljpcncc program @p&s, once again, the 
general tendency of information-gathering operations to continually 
broaden their coverage. 

Shortly after the Army was callftl upon to quell civil clisorclers in 
Detroit and to cope with an antiwar drmonstration at. the Pentagon 
in 1967, tlie Army Chief of Staff approved a recommendation for 
“continiions colintcl~ilitclligeIlce investigations” to obtain informa- 
tion on “subversive personalities, groups or organizations” and their 
“inflllence on i~rl)an populations” 
The Arm;v% 

in promoting civil distlirbances.327 
‘.collcction plan” for civil disturbances specifically 

targeted as L‘dissident elements” (Ivithout further definition) the 
“civil rights movement” and the “anti-Vietnam/anti-draft move- 
ments.” 32y ;\s rc&d later. Army intelligence-gathering extended 
bryontl “subversion” and “dissident groups” to “prominent persons” 
who wcrc “friendly” with the “lcaclers of the disturbance” or 
“s~mpathctic with their plans.” 32g 

d. Feclern7 E?~cownge?nent of Locnl Po7ice Intelligence 

In reaction to ciril disorders in 1965-1066, Attornev General Katz- 
enbnch tnrncd for advice to the newly created President’s Commis- 
sion on Law Enforcemwlt and Administration of Justice. After hold- 
ing a conference with police and Sational Guard officials, the Presi- 
dent’s Commission urged police not to react with too much force to dis- 
order “in the course of demonstrations,” but to make advance plans for 
“a true riot situation.” This meant that police should establish “pro- 
cetlnrcs for the acquisition and channeling of intelligence” for the use 
of “those who need it.” 330 Former Assistant Attornev General Vinson 
recalled the ,Justicr Department’s concern that local police did not 
have “any useful intcllipcnce, or knowledge 
communfties in the big cities.‘! D* 

about, ghettos, about black 

During the winter of lHRi-1968. the ,Justice Department and the 
National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders reiterated the mes- 
sage that) local police should establish “intelligence units” to gather 
and disseminate information on “potential” civil disorders. These 
units would use “undercover police personnel ancl informants” and 
dram on “community. leaders, agencies, and organizations in the 
ghetto.” 332 The Commission also urged that. these local units be linked 

97 See Memorandum for the Record from Milton B. Hyman, Office of the 
General Conmel. to the Army General Counsel, l/23/71, in dfilitar~/ A’urwil- 
lance. Hearings before the Rubcnmmittee nn Constitutional Rights, Committee 
on the .Judiciary. United States Senate, 93x1 Cnng., 2nd Sew. (1974), p. 203. 

“2RF~tl~r~l Dntn Rn~kr. Coniputcm awd thr Rill of Rights. Hearings before 
thz%Srnate Rnbcnmmittee on Constitutional Rights (1971), at pp. 1120-1121. 

* F’cdo-n7 IInto Rnnkn. Helrines, at pp. 112.%1138. 
w President’s Commission on Law Enforcement and Administration of Justice, 

The Chnllmgc of Crime in a Free society (1967), pp. 118-119. 
=’ Fred 31. Vinsnn testimony. l/27/76, p. 32. 
JJ* Report of the National Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders (1968), 

p. 487 (Bantam Books ed.). 
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to “a national center and clearinghouse” in the ,Justice Department.333 
One consequence of these recommendations was that the FBI, because 
of re,vulnr liaison with local police, became a channel and repository 
for much of this intelligence data. 

Local police intelligence provided a convenient manner for the FBI 
to acquire information it wanted while avoiding criticism for using 
covert techniques such as developing campus informants. For exam- 
ple, in 1060. Director Hoover decided “that additional student in- 
formants cannot be developed” by the Bureau.334 Field offices were 
instructed. however. that. one way to continue obtaining intelligence 
on “situations having a potential for violence’? was to develop “in- 
depth liaison with local law enforcement agencies.” 335 Instead of re- 
cruiting student informants itself, the FBI would rely on local police 
to do so. 

These Fe,deral policies contributed to the proliferation of local police 
intelligence activities, often without adequate controls. One result was 
that. still more persons were subjected to investigation who neither 
engaged in uniawful activity, nor belonged to groups which might be 
violent. For example: a recent state grand jury report on the 
Chicago Police Department’s “SecuritT Section” described its “close 
working relationship!’ with Federal i;ltelligence agencies, including 
,2rm?: intelligence and the FI31. The report found that the police 
intelligence system produced “inherently inaccurate and distortive 
data” which contaminated Federal intelligence. One police officer 
testified that he listed “any person” vho attended two “public mcet- 
ingsTs:’ of a group as a “member.” This conclusion ~-ns forwarded “as a 
fart” to the FBI. Subsequently, an agency seeking, “background 
information” on that person from the Bureau in an employment, 
investigation or for other purposes would be told that the individual 
tras “a member.” The grand jury stated : 

Since federal agencies accepted data from the Security Sec- 
tion without questioning the procedures followed. or met,hods 
used to gain information. the federal government cannot 
escape responsibility for the harm done to untold numbers of 
innocent persons.336 

Joseph Califano, President qJohnson’s assistant in 1967, testified 
that the Sew-ark and Detroit riots were a “shattering experience” for 
Justice Department officials and “for us in the White House.” They 
xvere concerned about the “lack of intelligence” about. “black groups.” 
Conscquentlv, “there was a desire to hare the ,Justice Department 
have better ‘intelligence, for lack of a better term. ahout dissident 
groups.” This desire “precipitated the intelligence unit” established by 
Attorney General Ramsey Clark in late 1067. According to Califano, 

535 Report of the National Adtisorv Commission, p. 490. 
= SAC Letter 69-16, 3/U/69. This order “recognized that with the graduation 

of senior classes, gou will lose a certain percentage of your existing student in- 
formant coverage.” Rut this would “not be accepted as an escuse for not devel- 
oping the necessary information.” 

aJI SAC Letter 69-44. S/19/69. 
91) “Improper Police TntelIigence Actirities.” A Report by the Extended March 

1975 Cook County (Illinois) Grand Jury, 11/10/75. 
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the President and the Khite House staff were insisting: “There must 
be a way to predict violence. We’ve got to know more about this.” 337 

In Srptcmbrr 1907 A1ttorncy General Clark asked ,&istant -1ttornq 
General ,John Dear to review tbc Dcpartmcnt’s “facilities” for civil 
disorders intrlligencc: 33y T>onr recommended creating a Departmental 
‘5ntclligence nnlt” to analyze FBI information aboutj “certain persons 
and groups” (without further definition) in the urban ghettos. He 
proposed that its “scope be very broad initially” so as to “measure 
the influence of partirulnr groups.” Doar recommended that, in addi- 
tion to the FBI. agencies who should “funnel information” to the 
unit should include : 

Community Relations Service 
Poverty Programs 
Seighborhood Legal Services Program 
T&or Department Programs 
Tntclligence I-nit of the Internal Revenue Service 
~\lcohol, Tobacco, and Firearms Division of the Treasury 

Department 
Snrcotics Bureau (then in the Treasury Department) 
Post Office Department 

Doar recognized that the Just,icc Department’s Con1munit.y Relations 
Service, designed to conciliate racial conflicts, risked losing its “credi- 
bility” and thereby its ability to help prevent riots, but he assured the 
Attorney General that. t,he “confidentiality” of its information could 
be protected.33” 

A later study for Attorney General Clark added the following 
agencies to Dear’s list : 

President’s Commission on Civil Disorders 
New Jersey Blue Ribbon Commission (and similar state 

,agencies) 
St.ate Department 
Army Intelligence 
Office of Economic Opportunity 
Depart.ment of I-Tousing and Urban Development (surveys 

and Model City applications) 
Central Intelligence ,2gency 
National Security Agency 

This study recommended that FBI reports relating “to the civil dis- 
turbance problem” under the headings “black power, new left, pacifist, 
pro-Red Chinese, anti-Vietnam war, pro-Castro, etc.” be used to de- 

&” .Joseph Califano testimony, l/27/76, pp. 6-9. Califano states in retro- 
speet that the attempt to “predict violence” was “not a successful undertaking,” 
that “advance intelligence about dissident groups” would not “have been of 
much help.” and that what is “important” is “physical intelligence about 
geography, hospitals, power stations, etc.” (Califnno, l/27/76. pp. 8. 11-12.) 

338 In 1966, the .Justice Department had started an informal “Summer Project,” 
staffed by a handful of law students, to pull together data from the newspapers, 
the T7.R. Attorneys, and “ snme Bureau material” for the purpose, according to 
former Assistant Attorney General Fred Vinson. Jr., of finding out “what’s going 
on in the black communit.r.” (Vinsnn, l/27/76 p. 3.1.) 

JBM~mnrandum from Assistant Attorney General John Doar to Attorney 
General Clark, n/27/67. 
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velop “a master index on individuals, or organizations, and by 
cities.” 340 

Attorney General Clark approved these recommendations and estab- 
lished the Interdivision Information Unit (IDIU) for : 

reviewing and reducing to quickly retrievable form all infor- 
mation that may come to this Department relating to orga- 
niza.tions and individua.ls who may play a role, whether 
purposefully. or not, either in instigating or 
disorders, or In preventing or checking them.341 

spreading civil 

In early inst,ructions, Clark had stated that the Department must 
“endeavor to increase” such intelligence from “external sources.” 342 

In fact, according to its first head, the IDIU did use intelligence 
from the Srmy, the Internal Revenue Service, and “other investiga- 
tive agencies.” Sometimes IDIU information was used to “determine 
whether or not:’ the Community Relations Service should “mediate” 
a dispute. 343 ‘The Unit developed a computer system which could gen- 
erate lists of all “members or affiliates” of an organization, their loca- 
tion and travel, “ all incidents” relating to “specific issues”, and “all 
information” on a “planned specific demonstration” 344 

By 1070, the IDIU computer was receiving over 42,000 “intelligence 
reports” a year relating to “c.ivil disorders and campus disturbances” 
from : 

the FBI, the U.S. ,4ttorneys, Bureau of Warcotics, Alcohol, 
Tobacco, and Firearms Division of the Treasury Department 
and other intelligence gathering bodies within the Executive 
Branch.“5 

IDIU computer tapes, which included lo-12,000 entries on “numer- 
ous anti-war activists and other dissidents,” were provided to the 
Central Intelligence Agency in 1970 by Assistant Attorney General 
,Jerris Leonard. then the ,4ttornev General’s Chief of Staff for Civil 
Disturbance and head of the Civil Rights Dirision.348 This list of per- 
sons was sent to the Internal Revenue Service where the Special 
Services staff opened intelligence files on all persons and organiza- 
tions listed. Many of them were later investigated or audited, in some 
casesmerely because they were OJI the list. 

In 19’71, the IDIU computer included data on such prominent, per- 
sons as Rev. Ralph :4bernathy, Caesar Chavez. Boslep Crowther 

sM Memorandum from Messrs. Maroney, Nugent, Mc!I’iernan, and Turner to 
Attorney General Clark, 12/6/67. 

JL* Xemorandnm from Attornev General Clark to Assistant Attorneys General 
John Dear, Fred Yinson, Jr., Roger W. Wilkins. and J. Walter Yeagley, 12/M/67. 

‘a Memorandum from Attorney General Clark to Kevin T. Maroney, et al., 
1 l/9/67. 

Jo Testimony of Kevin T. Maroney (Deputy Assistant Attorney General), 
l/27/76, pp. 59-60. 

s” Memorandum from Assistant Attorney General YeagIey to Deputy Attorney 
General Richard Kleindienst. 2/6/69. 

31’ -Justice Department memorandum from James T. Devine, g/10/70, Subject : 
InterdirisionaI Information Unit. 

“’ Statement of Deputy Attorney General Laurence H. Silberman, *Justice 
Dennrtment. l/14/7.5. Arcordine to this statement. a .Tustiw Denartment inonirv 
in IN’.‘, concluded that Leonard~“initiated the transaction hy rehuestinp the’CIk 
to check against its omn sources whether any of the individuals on the IDIU 
list were engaged in foreign travel, or received foreign assistance or funding.” 
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(former New York Times film critic), Sammy Da%, Jr., Charles 
Evers, James Farmer, Seymour Hersh, and Coretta K&p. Organiza- 
tions on which information had been collected included tile KABCP, 
the Congress of Racial Equality, the Institute for Policy Studies, 
VISTA, United Farm Workers of California, and the Urban League. 
Ordinary private citizens who were not nationallv prominent were also 
included. One was described as “a local civil riihts worker,” another 
as a “student at Merritt, College and a member of the Peace and 
Freedom Party as of mid-68,” and another as “a bearded militant who 
writes and recites poetry.” 347 

Thus, beginning in 1967-1068, the IDIU was the focal point of a 
massive domestic intelligence apparatus established in response to 
ghetto riots, militant black rhetoric, antiwar protest, and campus dis- 
ruptions. Through IDIU, the A4ttorney General received the benefits 
of information gathered by numerous agencies, without setting limits 
to intelligence reporting or providing clear policy guidance. Each 
component of the structure-FBI, Army, IDIU. local police, and 
manv others-set its own generalized standards and priorities, result- 
ing in excessive collection of information about law abiding citizens. 

f .  COMINFIL Znrestigationa: Owrbreadth 
In the late 1!36O?s the Communist. infiltration or association concept 

continued to be used as a central basis for FBI intelligence investiga- 
tions. In many cases it led to the collection of information on the same 
groups and persons who were swept into the investigative net by the 
vague missions to investigate such subjects as “racial matters” or the 
“Xew Left. As it had from its beginning, the COMINFIL concept pro- 
duced investigations of individuals and groups who mere not Commu- 
nists. Dr. ?Ilartin Luther King, Jr. is the best known example.348 But 
the lawful activities of many other persons were recorded in FBI fib 
and reports because thev associated in some wholly innocent way Rith 
Communists, a term which the Bureau required its agents to “interpret 
in its broad sense” to include “splinter” and “offshoot” groups.349 

During this period, when millions of Americans demonstrated in 
favor of civil rights and against the Vietnam war, many law-abiding 
citizens and groups came under the scrutiny of intelligence agencies. 
Under the COJIINFIL program, for example, the Bureaa compiled 
extensive reports on moderate groups, like the NA4hCP.350 

%‘Staff Memorandum for the Subcommittee on Constitutional Rights, United 
States Senate. g/14,/71. 

a# See detailed report on Martin Luther King, Jr. 
3(8 FBI Manual, Section 87. 
=The Bureau freauentlr disseminated renorts on the NAACP to military 

intelligence because ias one report put it) 0; the latter’s “interest, in matters 
pertaining to infiltration of the NAACP.” (Report from Los Angeles Field Oface 
to FBI Headquarters, 11/5/65.) All the national officers and board members 
were listed. and anv data in FBI files on their nast “association” with “sub- 
versives” was inrludled. Most of this information ‘event back to the 1940’s. (Re- 
port from New York Field Office to FBI Headquarters, 4/15/65.) When changes 
occurred in the SAACP’s leadership and board, the Bureau once aeain went back 
to its files to dredge up “subversive” associations from the 1940’s. (Report 
from New York Field Office to FBI Headquarters, 4/15/66.) Chapter member- 
ship information was sometimes obtained hi “pretext telephone cali . . . utilizing 
the pretext of being interested in joining that branch of the NAACP.” (Memoran- 
dum from Los Angels field office to FBI Headquarters, 11/5/65.) As discussed 
previously, the Bureau never found that the NAACP had abandoned its consistent 
anti-Communist policy. (See p. 49). 
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The FBI significantly impaired the democratic decisionmaking 
P~OCSS by its distorted intelligence reporting on Communist intil- 
tration of and influence on domestic political activity. In private re- 
marks to Presidents and in public statements, the Bureau seriously 
exaggerated the extent of Communist influence in both the civil rights 
and anti-Vietnam war nlovements.351 

3. Domestic Intelligence Aut?writy 
During this period there were no formal executive directives out- 

lining the scope of authority for domestic intelligence activity of the 
sort previously issued by Presidents Roosevelt, Truman, Eisenhower, 
and Kennedy. w However, there was a series of high-level requests 
for intelligence concerning racial and urban unrest directed to the 
FBI and military intelligence agencies. 1%~ with the earlier formal 
Presidential directives on subjects like “subversion.” these instructions 
provided no significant guidelines or controls. 

a. FBI Zntetligeme 
Since the early 1960s the Just.ice Department had been making 

sporadic requests for intelligence related to specific racial events. 
For example, the FBI was requested to provide a tape recording of 
a speech by Governor-elect George Wallace of Alabama in late 1962 353 
and for “photographic coverage” of a civil rights demonstration on 
the 100th anniversary of the Emancipation Proclamation.354 On its 
own initiative, the FBI supplied the Civil Rights Division with in- 
formation from a “confidential source” about plans for a demonstra- 
tion in Virginia, including background data on its L‘sponsor” and 
the intention to make “a test case. ” 355 The Civil Rights Division pre- 
pared regular summaries of information from the Bureau on “dem- 
onstrations and other racial matters.” 356 

m See examples of the exaggeration of Communist influence set forth in Find- 
ings on Political Abuse. Such distortion continues today. An FBI Intelligence 
Division Section Chief told the Committee that he could not “think of rery 
many” major demonstrations in this country in recent years “that mere not 
caused by” the Communist Party or the Socialist Workers Party. In response 
to questioning, the Section Chief listed eleven specific demonstrations since 
196.5. Three of these turned out to be principally SDS demonstrations, although 
some individual Communists did participate in one of them. Six others were 
organized br the Kational (or Sew) Mobilization Committee. which the Section 
Chief stated was subject to‘Communist and Socialist Workers Part.r “influence.” 
But the Section Chief admitted that the mobilization Committee “probably” 
included a n-ide spectrum of persons from all elements of American soeietg. 
(R. L. Shackleford deposition, 2/13/76, pp. 3-8.) The FBI has not alleged that the 
Socialist Workers Party is dominated or controlled by any foreign government. 
(Shackelford testimony, 2/6/76, pp. 73-77,114.) 

w See Sections B-3 and C-2. 
565Memorandum from Director, FBI, to Assistant Attorney General Burke 

Marshall (Civil Rights Division), 12/4/62. 
m Memorandum from St. J. B. (St. John Barrett) to Burke Marshall, 6/X3/63. 
565Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to Attorney General Robert Kennedy, 

7/U/63. 
358 Memorandum from Carl W. Gabel to Burke Marshall, 7/N/63. This memo- 

randum described twenty-one surh “racial matters” in ten states, including states 
outside the South such as Ohio, Xew Jersey, Pennsylvania, Indiana. and Sevada. 
While some of the items in this and later summaries related to violent or poten- 
tiaIIy violent protest demonstrations, they went beyond those limits to include 
entirely peaceful protest actiritv and group activities (such as conferences, mcet- 
ings. leadership changes) unrelated to demonstrations. (Memoranda from Gabel 
to Marshall. 7/22 and 7/25, 8/2 and S/22/&3) The Justice Department’s role in 
expanding FBI intelligence operations against the Klan is discussed at pp. -. 
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A formal directive, for a similar purpose, was sent by, Attorney Gen- 
eral Kennedy to U.S. Attorneys throughout the South m May 1963. It 
instructed t,hem to “make a survey?’ to ascertain “any places where 
racial demonstrations are expected within the next 30 days” and to 
make “assessments of situations’: in their districts. The FBI was 
“asked to cooperate.:’ 357 

President Johnson ordered the FBI to investigate and report on the 
origins and extent of the first small-scale Sorthern ghetto disturbances 
in the summer of 1962.358 After the FBI submitted a report on the 
Watts riot in Los Aneeles in 1965, however, Attorney General Kat- 
zenbach advised President Johnson that the FBI should investigate 
“directly>’ only the possible “subversive involvement.” Katzenbach did 
not belikve that the FBI should conduct a “general investigation” of 
“other aspects of the riot,” since these were local law enforcement mat- 
ters. The President approved this “limited investigat,ion.” 35Q None- 
theless, internal Bureau instruct,ions in 1965 and 1966 went far beyond 
this limitation.360 By 1967 new httorney General Ramsey Clark re- 
versed the Department’s position on such limitations. 

After the riots in Newark and Detroit in the summer of 1967, 
President Johnson announced that the FBI had “standing instruc- 
tions” for investigating riots “to search for evidence on conspiracy.” 361 
This announcement accompanied the creation of a National Advisory 
Commission on Civil Disorders to investigate the “basic factors and 
causes 1eadin.g to” the riots, including the “influence” of groups or 
persons “dedicated to the incitement or encouragement of violence.” 
The President ordered the FBI in particular to “provide investigative 
information and assistance” to the Cummission.362 Director Hoover 
also agreed to investigate “allegations of subversive influence, involve- 
ment of out-of-state influences, and the like.” 363 

In September 1967, Att,orney General Clark directed the FBI to : 

use the maximum resources, investigative and intelligence, 
to collect and report all facts bearing upon the question as 
to whether there has been or is a scheme or conspiracy by 
any group of whatever size, effectiveness or affiliat.ion, to 
plan. promote or aggravate riot activity.36* 

a67 Telegram from Attorney General Kennedy to U.S. Attorneys, 5/27/63. 
sirs The basis for the inquiry was explained in the most general terms : “Keeping 

the peace in this country is essentially the responsibility of the state government. 
Where lawless condEtions arise, however, with similar characteristics from coast 
to coast, the matter is one of national concern even though there is no direct con- 
nection between the events and even though no Federal law is violated.” (Text 
of FBI Report on Recent Racial Disturbances, Sew York Times, g/27/64.) 

360 Memorandum from Attorney General Katzenbach to President Johnson, 
8/17;% 

w ‘See p. 71. 
981 Remarks of the President, 7/29/W, in Report of the National Advisory Cont- 

mission ok Civil Disorders (1968). D. 537 (Bantam Books ed.) 
=a Execut.ire Order 113&5 7/29/67. 
3(13 Memorandum from C. D. DeLoach to Mr. Tolson, 8/l/67, Subject : Director’s 

Testimony Before Sational Advisory Commission on Civil Disorders. This mem- 
orandum indicates that, following this testimony, Director Hoover ordered his 
subordinates to intensify their collection of intelligence about “vociferous rabble- 
rousers.” The creation thereafter of a “Rabble Rouser Index” is discussed at 
pp. RHO. 

38( Jlemorandum from Attorney General Ramsey Clark ‘to .J. Edgar Hoover, 
9/14/67. 
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Justice Department executives vere generally aware of, and in some 
cases sought to widen, the scope of FBI intelligence collection. In a 
lengthy review of Bureau reports, John Doar, Assistant Attorney 
General for the Civil Rights Division, expressed concern that the 
FBI had not “taken a broad spect.rum approach” to intelligence col- 
lection, since it had “focused narrowly” on “traditional subversive 
groups” and on persons suspected of “specific statutory violat,ions.” 365 

Reiterating this viewpoint, Attorney General Clark told Director 
Hoover that “existing intelligence sources” may not have. “regularly 
monitored” possible riot conspirators in “the urban ghetto.” He added 
that it was necessary to conduct a “broad investigation” and that 

sources or informants in black nationalist organizations, 
SNCC (Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee) and 
other less publicized groups should be developed and ex- 
panded to determine the size and purpose of these groups and 
their relationship to other groups . . ?@ 

Clark described his directive as setting forth “a relatively new area of 
investigation and intelligence reporting for the FBI.” 367 

In response to t.he Attorney General’s instructions, the FBI advised 
its field offices of the immediate “need to develop additional penetra- 
tive coverage of the militant black nationalist groups and the ghetto 
areas.” 368 

6. Army Intelligence 
On January 10, 1968, a meeting took place at t,he White House for 

the purpose of “advance planning for summer riots.” The White 
House memorandum of the meeting reported : 

The Brn-17 has undertaken its own intelligence study, and has 
rated various cities as to their riot potential. They are mak- 
ing contingency plans for troop movements, landing sites, 
facilities, etc. 

It added that the Sttorney General and the Deputy Secretary of De- 
fense “had agreed to coordinate their efforts.” 360 The Army General 
Counsel’s memorandum of the meeting stated t.hat Attorney General 
Clark had “strewed the difficulty of the intelligence effort,” especially 
because there were “only 40 Negro FBI agents” out of t.he total of 
about 6$00. Clark added that “every resource” was needed in “the in- 
telligence collection effort,” although he asked the Defense Depart- 
ment to “screen” its “incoming intelligence” and send “only key items” 
to t.he Justice Department.370 

m Memorandum from Assistant Attorney ‘General John Doar to Attorney Gen- 
eral Clark, 9//27/67. 

w Memorandum from Clark to Hoover, g/14/67. 
ZS’ Clark to Hoover, g/14/67. The Department’s establishment of a special unit 

for intelligence evaluation is discussed at pp. 1X5-116. 
m SSC Letter 67-72, 10/17/67. The scope of the “ghetto informant program” is 

dewrihed at pp. 7576. 
w Memorandum from Joseph Califano to the President, l/18/68. Those present 

were Bttorney General Clark, Deputy Attorney General Warren Christopher, 
Deput.r Secretary of Defense Paul Nitze, Acting Army General Counsel Robert 
Jordan, and Presidential assislxnts Matthew Nimetz and Califano. 

“’ Memorandum from the Army General Counsel to the Under Secretarv of the 
Army, l/10/68. Former Army Chief of Stiff Hrlrold K. .Tohnson has s&d that 
thwo n-ere several other meetings at the White House lvhere the Army was urged 
to take a greater role in the civil disturbance collection effort. (Staff summary of 
Harold K. Johnson interview, U/18/75.) 
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There is no record that at this or any other similar meeting in this 
period t.he Attorney General or White House aides explicitly ordered 
the army to conduct intelligence investigations using infiltration or 
other covert surveillance techniques. However, even though Army col- 
lection plans which were circulated to the Justice Department and the 
FBI 371 did not mention techniques of collection, the information they 
described could only be obtained by covert surveillance. No objections 
Kere voiced by the Justice Department. 

Not until 1069 was there a formal civilian decision specifically 
authorizing Army surveillance of civilian political activity. At that 
time, Attorney General John Mitchell and Secretary of Defense Mel- 
vin Laird considered the matter and over the objections of the Army 
General Counsel, decided that the Army would participate in intelli- 
gence collection concerning civil disturbances.3’2 The Army’s collec- 
tion plan was not rescinded until June 1970, after public exposure and 
congressional criticism.3’3 

c. FBI Interagency Agreemm ts 
After the assassination of President Kennedy, the FBI and the 

Secret Service negotiated an ‘agreement which recognized that the 
Bureau had “general jurisdiction” over “subversion.” The term was 
defined, more narrowly than it had been defined by practice in the past, 
as “knowingly or wilfully adrocat [ing]” overthrow of the Government 
by “force or violence” or by “assassination.” Except for “temporary” 
action to “neutralize” a threat to the President, the Secret Service 
agreed to “conduct no investigation” of “members of subversive 
groups” without notifying the FBI. The Bureau, on the other hand, 
would not investigate individuals “solely” to determine their “danger- 
ousness to the President.” 374 

m Federal Data Banks, Hearings, at p. 1137. On at least one occasion, Deputy 
Attorney General Warren Christopher thanked an Army intelligence o5cer for 
spot reports and daily summaries. (Letter from Deputy Assistant General Chris- 
topher to Maj. Gen. William P. Yarborough, Assistant Chief of Staff for Intelli- 
gence, 5/15/68.) The Justice Department’s intelligence analysis unit received 
“army intelligence reports” during 1968 on persons and groups involved in “racial 
agitation.” (Memorandum from Assistant Attorney General J. Walter Yeagley to 
Deputy Attorney General Richard G. Kleindienst, 2/6/69.) 

m Memorandum from Secretary of Defense Melvin Laird and Attorney General 
John N. Mitchell to the President, 4/l/69. Subject: Interdepartmental Action 
Plan for Civil Disturbances. This reflected a failure on the part of the Army 
General Counsel to persuade the Justice Department to relieve the Army of 
its domestic intelligence-gathering role. (Memorandum from Robert E. Jordan, 
Army General Counsel, to the Secretary of the Army, Subject: Review of Civil 
Disturbance Intelligence Historv, in Biilitaty Surz;eiZZance, Hearings, p. 296.) 

578 Letter from Robert E. Lynch, Acting Adjutant General of the Army, to sub- 
ordinate commands, 6/g/70, Subject : Collection, Reporting, Processing, and Stor- 
age of Civil Disturbance Information. 

See discussion of the termination of this program in Section III [“Ter- 
minations” Sub-finding under “Accountability and Control”]. 

“‘Agreement Between the Federal Bureau of Inrestipation and the Secret 
Service Concernine Presidential Protection, 2/3/65. The FBI was to report to 
Secret Serri.ce information about “subversives, ultra-rightists, racists and 
fascists” who expressed “strong or violent anti-U.S. sentiment” or made “state- 
ments indicating a propensity for violence and antipathy toward good order and 
government.” 

These reporting standards were modified in 1971 to require the FBI to refer to 
Secret Service: “Information concerning civil disturbances, anti-U.S. demon- 
strations or incidents or demonstrations against foreign diplomatic establish- 

(Continued) 
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After Congress enacted antibombing legislation in 19’70, the FBI was 
assigned primary responsibility for investigating “offenses perpetrated 
by terrorist/revolutionary groups." 375 When these guidelines were 
developed, the FBI shifted supervision of bombing cases from its 
General Investigative Division to the 1ntelligenc.e Division because, as 
one official put it, the specific criminal investigations were “so inter- 
related with the gathering of intelligence in the racial and security 
fields that overlap constantly occurs.” ~0 

The agreement with Secret Service and the “guidelines” covering 
bombing investigations did not give the FBI any additional domestic 
intelligence-gathering authority. They simply provided for dissemina- 
tion of information to Secret Service and allocated criminal investiga- 
tive jurisdiction between the FBI and the Alcohol, Firearms, and 
Tobacco Division. Nevertheless, both presupposed that the FBI had 
broad authority to investigate “subversives” or “terrorist/revolution- 
ary groups.” 

$. Domestic Covert Action 

a. COINTELPRO 
The FBI’s initiation of COINTEI,PRO operations against the Ku 

Klux Klan, “Black Nationalists” and the “New Left” brought to bear 
upon a wide-range of domestic groups the techniques previously devel- 
oped to combat Communists and persons rvho happened to associate 
with them. 

The start of each program coincided with significant national events. 
The Klan program followed the widely--publicized disappearance 
in 1964 of three civil rights workers in Mississippi. The “Black Na- 
tionalist” program was authorized in the aftermath of the Newark 
and Detroit riots in 1967. The “New Left” program developed shortly 
after student. disruption of the Columbia TJniversity campus in the 
spring of 1968. While the initiating memoranda approved by Director 
Hoover do not refer to these specific events, it is clear that they shaped 
the context for the Bureau’s decisions. 

These programs were not directed at obtaining evidence for use in 
possible criminal prosecut.ions arising out of those events. Rather, 
they were secret programs-“under no circumstances” to be “made 
known outside the Bureau” 377 -which used unlawful or improper acts 
to “disrupt” or “neutralize” the activities of groups and individuals 
targeted on the basis of imprecise criteria. 

(1) Klan and “WJzite flute?’ GOZNTELPRO.-The expansion of 
Klan investigations, in response to pressure from President ,Johnson 
and Attorney General Kennedy,378 was accompanied by an internal 

(Continued) 
ments :” and “information concerning persons who may be considered potentially 
dangerous to individuals protected by the [Secret Service] because of their . . . 
participation in groups engaging in activities inimical to the United States.” 
With respect to organizations, the FBI reported information on their “officers.” 
“size,” “goals,” “source of financial support,” and other “background data.” 
(Agreement Between the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the United States 
Secret Service Concerning Protective Responsibilities. 11/26/71.) 

3xInvestigative Guidelines: Title XI, Organized Crime Control Act of 1979, 
Regulation of Explosives. 

“’ FBI Inspection Report, Domestic Intelligence Division, August 17-Septem- 
ber 9. 1971, pp. 224-38. 

311 Memoranda from FBI headouarters to all SAC’s, g/2/64 ; g/25/67 ; 5/g/68. 
ns See pp. 74-75. 
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Bureau decision to shift their supervision from the General Investiga- 
tive Division to the Domestic Intelligence Division. One internal FBI 
argument for the transfer \Tas that ihe Intelligence Division was ‘*in 
a position to launch a disruptive connterintellige~Icc program’! against 
the Klan with the “same effectiveness” it had against the Communist 
Party.379 

Accordingly, in September 1964 a directive was sent to seventeen 
field offices instituting a COINTELPRO against the Klan and what 
the FBI considered to be other ‘White Hate” organizations (e.g., 
American Nazi Party, National States Rights Party) “to expose, dis- 
rupt, and otherwise neutralize” the activities of the groups, “their 
leaders, and adherents.” 3~0 

During the 1964-1971 period, when the program was in operation, 
287 proposals for COINTELPRO actions against Klan and White 
Hate” groups were authorized by FBI headquarters.381 Covert tech- 
niques used in this COINTELPRO included creating new Klan chap- 
ters to be controlled by Bureau informants and sending an anonymous 
letter designed to break up a marriape.382 

(2) “Black Nationalist” 001iVTELPRO.-The stated strategy of 
the “Black Nationalist” COIXTELPRO instituted in 1967 was “to 
expose, disrupt., misdirect, discredit, or otherwise neutralize” such 
groups and their “leadership, spokesmen, members, and supporters.” 
The larger objectives were to “counter” their “propensity for violence” 
and to “frustrate” their efforts to “consolidate their forces” or to “re- 
cruit new or youthful adherents.” Field offices were instructed to 
exploit conflicts within and betrveen groups; to use news media con- 
tacts to ridicule and otherwise discredit groups; to prevent “rabble 
rousers” from spreading their “philosophy” publicly ; and to gather 
information on the “unsavory backgrounds” of group leaders.383 

In March 1968, the program was expanded from twenty-three to 
forty-one field offices and the following long-range goals were set 
forth : 

(1) prevent the “coalition of militant black nationalist 
groups ;” 

(2) prevent the rise of a “messiah” who could “unify and 
electrify” the movement, naming specifically Dr. Martin LU- 
ther K&g, ,Jr., Stokely Carmichael, and Elijah Muhammed; 

(3) prevent violence bv pinpointing ‘(potential trouble- 
makers” and “neutralizing” them before they “exercise their 
potential for violence;” 

(4) prevent groups and leaders from gaining “respectabil- 
ity” by discrediting them to the “responsible” Negro com- 
munity, the “responsible” Tvhite community, “liberals” with 

~TQ filemorandum from J. H. Gale to i\fr. Tolson, 7/30/64 (Gale was Assistant 
Director for the Inspection Division). 

380 1Iemorandum from FBI Headquarters to all SACc;, 9/Z/64. 
mThe average of 40 “White Hate” actions per war may he compared to an 

average of over 100 per year against the Communist Party from 1%6-19’71 
(Walling 1636). Exhibit. 11, Hearings, rol. 6, p. 371. 

aaThese techniques and those ILS~ against the other target groups referred 
to l~elom zre discussed in greater detail in the COINTELPRO detailed report 
and in the Covert Action section of the Findings. Part ITT. p. 211. 

m Memorandum from FBI Headquarters to all SACS, S/25/67. 
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“vestiges of sympathy” for militant black nationalist+ and 
“Negro radicals;” and 

(5) “prevent these groups from recruiting young people.” 384 

After the Black Panther Party emerged as a group of national stat- 
ure, FBI field offices were instructed to develop “imaginative and 
hard-hitting counterintelligence measures aimed at crippling the 
BPP.” Particular attention was to be given to aggravating conflicts 
between the Black Panthers and rival groups in a number of cities 
w-here such conflict’ had already taken on the character of “gang lvar- 
fare with attendant threats of murder and reprisals.” 383 

During 1967-1971. FRT headquarters approved 379 proposals for 
COIXTELPRO actions against “black nationalists.” 386 These opera- 
tions utilized dangerous and unsa.vory techniques which gave rise to 
the risk of death and often disregarded the personal rights and dignity 
of the victims. 

(3) “flew Left" C’OZflTZ?LPRO.-The most vaguely defined and 
haphazard of the COINTF,T,PRO operations was that initiated 
against the “Ne\v Left” in May 1968. It was justified to the FBI 
Director by his subordinates on the basis of the following considcra- 
tions : 

The nation vas “undergoing an era of disruption and 
violence” which was “caused to a large extent” by individ- 
uals “generally connected with the New Left.” 

Some of these. “activists” were urging “revolution” and 
calling for “the defeat of the United States in Vietnam.” 

The problem was not just. that they committed “unlawful 
acts,” but also that they “falsely” alleged police brutality, 
and that they “scurrilously attacked the Director and the l3u- 
reau” in an attempt to “hamper” FBI investigations and to 
“drive us off the college campuses.” 387 

Consequentlv, the COTXTELPRO was intended to “e.xpose, disrupt,. 
and otherwise neutralize!’ t,he activities of “this group” and “persons 
connected with it.” 388 The lack of anv clear definition of “New Left” 
meant, as an FRI supervisor test.ifie& that “legitimate” ,and nonvio- 
lent antiwar groups were targeted because they were “lending aid and 
comfort” to more disruptive groups.388 

Further directives issued soon after initiation of the progTam 
urged field offices to “vigorously and enthusiastically” explore “erery 
avenue of possible embarrassment” of New Left adherents. Agents 
were instructed to gather information on the “immorality” and the 
“scurrilous and denraved!’ behavior, “habits, and living conditions” 
of the members of tarpeted rrroups. 3Qo This message was reiterated 
s\vral months later. when the offices were taken to task for their 
failure to remain alert for and seek specific data denicting the “de- 
praved nature and m6ral looseness of the New Left” and to “use this 

“‘~lemorandum from FRT H~dguarter~ to ~11 8.4%. 3/4/t%. 
SJ ifemorandum from FBI Headquarters to SACS. 11/25/68. 
m The average was over 90 per year. (Exhibit 11. Hearings. Vol. 6, P. 371.) 
~Memorandum from C. D. Brennan to W. C. Sullivan, 5/9/68. 
Isa C. D. Brennan to W. C. Sullivan, 5/g/68. 
588 Sulwrvisor, FBI Intelligence Division, lo/%/$% D. 39. 
3L*) Memorandum from FBI Headquarters to all SACS, s/z/68. 
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material in a vigorous and enthusiastic approach to neutralizing 
them.:’ 3Q1 

In July 1968, the fie,ld offices were further prodded by FBI head- 
quarters to : 

(1) prepare 1eaflet.s using “the most obnoxious piotures” 
of Kew Left leaders at various universities ; 

(2) instigate “personal conflic,ts or animosities” betlveen 
New Left leaders ; 

(3) create the impression that, leaders are “informants 
for the Bureau or other law enforcement agencie,s” (the 
“snitch jacket.” technique) ; 

(-1) ~encl articles from student or “underground” news- 
papers which show “depravity” (“use of narcotics and free 
sex”) of Sew Left leaders to university officials, donors, 
legislators, and parents; 

(6) have members arrested on marijuana charges; 
(6) send anonymous letters about a student’s activities to 

parents, neighbors3 and the parents’ employers; 
(7) send anonymous letters about Sew Left, faculty mem- 

bers (signed “A Concerned Alumni” or <‘A Concerned Tax- 
payer”) to university officials, legislators, Board of Regents, 
and the press ; 

(8) use “cooperative Dress contacts;” 
(0) exploit the “hostility” between New Left and Old Left 

groups ; 
(10) disrupt Ne.w Left, coffee houses near military bases 

which are attrmpting to “influence members of the Armed 
forces :” 

5?i~hle” the Nen Tkft 
use cartoons photographs, and nnon;vmous letters to 

(12) use “n~isinf~rn~t;tioil: to “confuse and disrupt” New 
Left activities, such as by notifying members that events 
have been cancelled.3Q2 

During the period 1968-1971. 291 COIKTELPRO actions 
against the “Xew Left!’ were, approved by headquarters.3Q3 Particular 
emphasis w-as placed upon preventing the tar@ed individuals from 
public speaking or teaching and providing “misinformation” to con- 
fuse demonstrators. 

6. FBI Tnrget Lists 
The FBI’s most intensive domestic intelligence investigations and 

COISTELPRO operations were directed against persons identified, 
not. as criminals or criminal suspects, but in vague terms such as 
“rabble rollser.” “agitators.” “keg activists,” or “key black extremists.” 
The Secruity Index for detention in time of natlonal emergency was 
revised to include such persons. 

(1) “RahUe Rousel,/Agitntor” Z&e.r.-Following a meeting with 
the Kational A1drisory Commission on Civil Disorders in August 1967. 
Director Hoover ordered his subordinates to intensify collection of 

“* Jlemoranclum from FBI Headquarters to all SACS. 10/9/M 
-a \Icmorandnm from FBI HeaclqnartPrs to all SAC’s, 7/6/68. 
3”Appr~ximately 100 per year (Exhibit 11, Hearings, Vol. 6, p. 371.). 
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intelligence about “vociferous rabble-rousers.” 3838 He ,also directed 
“that an index be compiled of racial agitators and individuals who 
have demonstrated a potential for fomenting racial discord.” 3Q4 

The already vague standards for the Rabble Rouser Index were 
broadened in Nwcmber 1967 to cover persons with a “propensity for 
fomenting” any disorders affecting the “internal security”--as opposed 
to only racial disorders-and to include persons of local as v~ell as 
national interest. This included “black nationalists, white suprema- 
cists. Puerto Rican nationalists, anti-Vietnam demonstration leaders, 
and other extremists.” A rabble rouser was defined as : 

a person who tries to arouse people to violent action by 
appealing to their emotions, prejudices, et cetera; a 
demagogue.3”5 

In March 1968, the Rabble Rouser Index was renamed the Agitator 
Index and field offices were ordered to obtain a photograph of each 
person on the Index. 3L)G However, expanding the size of the Agitator 
Index lessened its value as an efficient target list for FBI intelligence 
operations. Consequently, the Bureau developed a more refined tool 
for this purpose-the Key Activist Program. 

(2) “JIcv -4~fi~i~t” P~og~ccnz..-Instructiolls were issued to ten ma- 
jor field offices in January 1968 to designate certain persons as “Key 
.ictirists,” who were defined as 

individuals in the Students. for Democratic Society and the 
anti-Vietnam war groups [who] are extremely active and 
most vocal in their statements denouncing the ‘t’nited States 
and calling for civil disobcclience and other forms of unlaw- 
ful and disruptive acts. 

There was to be an “intensive investigation” of each Kry Activist, 
which might. include “high-level informant coverage” and “technical 
surveillances and physical surveillances.” 3g7 

The “Yew TRft’! COISTET,PRO was designed in part to “neutral- 
ize” the Key ,4cti\-ists. who were “the moving forces behind the New 
Left.” 3gR One of the first techniqrles employed in this program was to 
obtain the Federal income tas returns of Key Activists for use in 
disrupting their activities. 399 In October 1968, the Key Activist Pro- 
gram was expanded to virtuallv all field offices. The field agents were in- 
structed to recommend adclitional persons for the program and to 
“consider if the individual was r~nclered ineffective would it. curtail 
[disruptive] activity in his area of influence.” While the FRI consid- 
ered Federal prosecution a “logical’! result of these investigations and 
“the best deterrent,” Key 14ctlrists were not selected because they were 
suspected of committing or planning to commit any specific Federal 
crime. 400 

381n JIemornndum from C. n. DeT,oach to Mr. Tolson. 8/l/67. (At the meeting, 
n Commission nwmlwr had asked the Bureau to “identify the number of militant 

38’?I~ninrandum from C. I). Brennnn to 11’. C. Sullivan, 8/3/6i; SSC Letter 
G7-&9/12/67 ,_--, 

38.i K\C Letter So. 67-70. 11/28/Ri. 
380 ;\f~n~nrandnn~ from FE1 Hendqnnrters to all S.\Cs. 3/21/W. 
“’ Memorandum from FBI Hwtlqnartrrs to all SACS, l/30/68. 
38q ~Irninrandnm from C. D. Brennnn to V. C. Snlli\xn. 5/9/W 
‘08 \Iemnrandum from C. D. Erwinan to W. C. Sullivan. 5/2+/W. 
‘Wkemorandum from FBI Headquarters to all SSCs, 10/24/68. 
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(3) “Rey R7ncXI Ertrcmisf Progmm.-A “Key Black Extremist” 
target list for concentrated investigation and COIXTEI~PRO actions 
was instituted in 1970. Key Black Extremists were defined as 

leaders or activists [who] are particularly extreme, ngitatire, 
anti-Gal-crnnlcllt, and vocal in their calls for terrorism and 
violence. 4o1 

Field ofices wre instructed to place all Key Black Extremists in the 
top priority category of the Security Index and in the Black Nation- 
alist Photograph Album. which concentrated on “militant black 
nationalists” who trawled cxtensirclg. In addition, the following steps 
were to be taken : 

(1) All aspects of the finances of a KBE must be deter- 
minecl. Bank accounts must be monitored. . . . 

(2) Continuing consideration must be given by each office 
to develop means to neutralize the effectiveness of each 
KBE. . . . 

(3) Obtain suitable handwriting specimens. . . . 
(4) Particular efforts should be made to obtain records of 

and/or reliable witnesses to, inflammatory statements. . . . 
(5) Where there appears to be a possible violation of a 

statute within the investigative jurisdiction of the Bureau, 
[it should be] yigorously investigated. . . . 

(6) Particular attention must be paid to travel by a KBE 
and every effort made to determine financial arrangements 
for such travel. . . . 

(7) The Federal income tax returns of all KBEs must be 
chicked annually. . . . 

Reports on all Key Black Extremists were to be submitted every ninety 
days, and the field was urged to use “initiative and imagination” to 
achieve “the desired results.” 403 Once again, the “result” was not 
limited to prosecution of crimes and the targets were not chosen 
because they were suspected of committing crimes. 

(4) Security Index.-The Agitator Inclex was abolished in 1971 
because “extremist, subjects” were “adequately followed” through the 
Security Index. M* In contrast to the other indices, the Securitv Index 
was not reviewed by the FBI alone. It. had, from the late 1946’s, been 
largely a joint FBI-Justice Department program based on the De- 
partment,‘s plans for emergency cletention.4o5 According to FBI mem- 
oranda, moreover, President ,Johnson was directly involved in the 
updating of emergency detention plans.40G 

After a large-scale March on the Pentagon against the Vietnam War 
in October 1967, President Johnson ordered a comprehensive review 
of the government’s emergency plans. Attorney General Clark was 
appoint,ed chairman of a comn;ittee to review the Presidential Emer- 
gency A&ion Documents (PE,iDs) preparrcl under the Emergency 
Detention Program. One result of this review? in which the FBI took 
part, was a decision to brin g the Detention Program into line with the 

“I Memorandum from G. C. Moore to C. D. Rrennan, 12/22/iO. 
‘On 3l~morandum from FRI Headynarters to all SACS, 12/23/70. 
‘(*I Memorandum from C. D. Brennan to IV. C. Sullivan, 4/30/M. 
4w Rre 1,~. 54-T,Z. 
HxI C. D. Brennan to TV. C. Sullivan, 4/30/68. 
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Emergencv Detention Act of 1950, reversing the previous decision to 
“disregard” as “unworkable” the procedural requirements of the Act, 
which \vere tighter than the standards which had been applied by FBI 
and Justice.*o7 

The Bureau also had to revise its criteria for inclusion of names on 
the Security Index, which since 1950 had disregarded the statutory 
standards. However: the definition chosen of a “dangerous individual” 
was so broad that it enabled the Bureau to add persons not previously 
eligible. A “dangerous individual” was defined as a 

person as to whom there is reasonable ground to believe that 
such person probably will engage in, or probably will conspire 
with others to engage in, acts of espionage and sabotage, 
including acts of terrorism or assassination and any intey*- 
ference with or threat to the survival of and effectiw opern- 
tion of the national, state, and local governme& and of the 
national defense effort. [Emphasis added.] 408 

The emphasized language greatly broadened the Security Index stand- 
ards. It gave FBI intelligence officials the opportunity to include on 
the Security Index “racial militants”, “black nationalists”, and in- 
dividuals associated with the “New Left” who were not affiliated with 
the “basic revolutionary organizations ” as the Bureau characterized 
the Communist Party, which had previously been the focus of the 
Security Index.40g Once again, the limitations which a statute was 
intended to impose were cffectlvely circumvented by the use of elastic 
language in a Presidential directive. 

Moreover, the Bureau adopted a neK “priority” ranking for appre- 
hension in case of an emergency. Top priority was non- given not only 
to leaders of “basic subversive organizat.ions.” but also to “leaders of 
anarchistic groups.‘1 410 It was said to be the “anarchistic tendencies” 
of New Left, and racial militants that made them a “threat to the 
internal security.” *I1 

Initiallv. the Justice Department approved informally these changes 
in the criteria for L‘the persons listed for apprehension.” 412 After 
several mont.hs of “study,” the Justice Department% Office of Legal 
Counsel formallv approved the new Security Index criteria. This was 
the first time since 10% that, the Department had fully considered 
the matter, and the previous policy of disregarding the procedures 
of the Emergency Detention Act of 19.50 was formally abandoned. 
If an emergency occurred. the Attorney General would abide by “the 
requirement that any person actually detained will be entitled to a 
hearing at, which timr the cridencc will hare to satisfy the standards 
of [the. Actl.” However. the Office of Legal Counsel declared that the 
Security Index criteria themselves could be-as thev were-less precise 
than those of the net because of the “needed flexil;ilitV and discretion 
at the operating level in order to carry on an effective surveillance 

‘01 See pn. W-5.5 and Report on FBI Investigations. 
a Presidential Emergency -4ction Document 6, as quoted in Brennan to Sulli- 

ran. 4/30/i%. 
‘OQ Memorandum from C. D. Brennan to IV’. C. Sullivan, 4/30/X. 
‘lo C. D. Brrnnan to W. C. Sullivan. 4/30/W. 
“I C. D. Brennan to W. C. Sullivan, 4/30/68. 
‘I’ Memorandum from J. Edgar Hoover to J. Walter Teagley, 5/l/@: Peagley 

to Hoover, 6/17/t%. 



93 

“4~ Thus while the plan to ignore Congress’ procedural 
E!%%s was aba;doned. Congress’ substantive standards were dis- 
regarded as insufficiently “flexible.” 

c. Internal Rccenue Serwkc Program 
(1) Misuse by FBI and CIA.-IRS information was used as an 

inst.rument of domestic intelligence mainly by the FBI. For example, 
in 1965, the Bure.au obtained t.he t.ax r&urns of Ku Klux Klan mem- 
bers in order to develop “discredit.ing or embarrassing” information 
as part of t.h e Bureau’s COINTELPRO against the K1an.414 
The procedure by which FBI obtained access to tax returns and related 
information held by IRS was deemed “illegal” when it was discovered 
by the Chief of the IRS Disclosure Branch in 1968.4’5 The FBI had 
not followed the procedures for obtaining returns which required 
written application to the IRS Disclosure Branch. Instead the Bureau 
had arranged to obtain the returns and information surreptitiously 
through cont,acts inside the IRS Intelligence Division. The procedure 
for FBI access was regularized by the IRS after 1968 : a formal request 
on behalf of the Bureau was made to the IRS Disclosure Branch, by 
the Internal Security Division of the Justice Department. 

During t,his same period, the CIA was obtaining tax returns in a 
manner similar to the FBI, although in much smaller numbers. Yet 
even after procedures were changed for the FBI’s access to tax in- 
formation in 1968, the IRS did not re-examine the CIA’s practices?16 
Therefore, CIA continued to receive tax return information without 
filing requests as required by the regulations. 

Between 1968 and 1974, either directly or through the Internal 
Security Division of the Justice Department, the FBI requested at 
least 130 tax returns for domestic intelligence purposes. This included 
the returns of 46 “New Left activists” and ‘74 “black extremists,” 417 as 
part of Bureau COINTELPRO operations to “neutralize” these indi- 
viduals.418 These requests were not predicated upon any specific in- 
formation suggesting delinquency in fulfilling tax obligations. 

Even after a formal request was required before supplying the FBI 
with tax returns, t.he IRS accepted the Justice Department’s undocu- 

“‘Among the criteria specifically approved by the Justice Department which 
went beyond the statutory standard of reasonable likelihood of espionage and 
sabotage were the expanded references to persons who have “anarchistic or 
revolutionary beliefs” and are “likely to seize upon the opportunity presented 
by a national emergency” to commit acts which constitute “interference wi’th” 
the “effective operation of the national, state and local governments and of the 
defense effort.” (Assistant Attorney General Frank M. Wozencraft, Of&e of 
Legal Counsel, to Assistant Attorney General J. Walter Yeagley, Internal 
Security Division, 9/9/f%.) The standards as approved were transmitted to the 
FBI, and its Manual was revised accordingly. (Yeagley to Hoover, g/19/68; 
Hoover to Yeagley, O/26/68; FBI Manual, Section 87, p. 45, revised 10/14/68.) 
The FBI still maintained its Reserve Index, unbeknownst to the Department. 

‘I’ One of the express purposes was to use tax information to “expose” the Klan 
members “within the Klan organization [or] publicly by showing income bevond 
their means.” (Memorandum from F. J. Baumgardner to W. C. Sullivan, 
5/10/65. ) Disclosure of tax information “publicly” or “within the Klan organiza- 
tion” is prohibited by staltute. 

‘= Xemorandum from D. 0. Virdin to H. E. Snyder, 5/2/68. Subject : Inspection 
nf Returns by FBI. 

‘I’ Donald 0. Virdin testimony, g/16/75, pp. 69-73. 
“‘Staff Memorandum: Review of Materials in FBI Administrative File on 

“Income Tax Returns Requested.” 
I”I Memorandum from C. D. Brennan to W. C. Sullivan, 12/6/68. 
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mentcd assertions that tax information was “necessary” in connection 
with an “official matter” involving “internal security.” 41g Yet in mak- 
ing such assertions, the Justice Department’s Internal Security Divi- 
sion relied entirely on the Bureau’s judgment’. Thus, \vhile the IRS is 
required by the statute to release tax information only where neces- 
sary, it in effect delegated its responsibility to the Internal Security 
Division which in turn delegated the decision to the FBI. Although 
most FBI requests for tax information were for targets of various 
COINTELPRO operations, the Justice Department official who made 
the requests on behalf of the Bureau said he was never informed of the 
existence of COINTELPR0.420 

Even after 1968, the Bureau sometimes used tax information in 
improper or unlawful ways. For example, the Bureau attempted to 
use such information to cause IRS to audit a mid-western college pro- 
fessor associated with “new left” activities at the time he was planning 
to attend the 1968 Democratic Party National Convention in Chicago. 
The FBI agent in charge of the operation against the professor ex- 
plained its purpose in a memorandum : 

if IR,S cont.act with [the Professor] can be arranged within 
the next two weeks their demands upon him may be a source 
of distract.ion during the critical period when he is engaged 
in meetings and plans for disruption of the Democratic Na- 
tional Convention. Any drain upon the time and concentra- 
tion which [the Professor], a leading figure in Demcon 
planning, can bring to bear upon this activity can only accrue 
to the benefit of the Government and general public.421 

Among the tax returns which the CIA obtained informally from 
IRS in an informal and illegal manner were those of the author of a 
book, the publication of which the CIA sought to preventp2 and of 
Ramparts magazine which had exposed the CIA’s covert use of the 
Nat’ional Student Association .423 In the latter case? CIA memoranda 
indicate that its officials were unwilling to risk a formal request for 
tax information without first learning through informal disclosure 
whether the tax returns contained any information that would be 
helpful in their effort to deter this “attack on the CIA” and on “the 
administration in general.” 424 

(2) The Special Service Staff: IRS Targetin.g of Ideological 
Groups.-In 1969, the IRS established a Special Service Staff to 
gather intelligence on a category of taxpayers defined essentially by 
political criteria. The SSS attempted to develop tax cases against the 
targeted taxpayers and initiated tax fraud investigations against some 
who would otherwise never have been investigated. 

The SSS originated as a result of pressure from the permanent Sub- 
committee on Investigations of the Senate Committee on Government 
Operations 425 and from President Nixon, acting through White House 

‘Ia Leon Green deposition, g/12/75, pp. 6-S. 
‘20 Statement of J. W. Yeaglev to Senate Select Committee, September 19% 
‘n Memorandum from ;\Iidw& City Field Office to FRI Headquarters, 8/l/68. 
o CIA memorandum, Subject : BUTANE-Victor Marchetti. 
a CIA memorandum, Subject : IRS Briefing on Ramparts, 2/2/67. 
‘*’ CIA memorandum. Subject : IRS Briefing on Ramparts, 2/2/67. 
*Leon C. Green testimony. 9/12/75, p. 36. 
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assistants Tom Charles Huston and Dr. Arthur Rurn~.~*~ According 
to the IRS Commissioner’s memorandum, Dr. Burns expressed to him 
the President’s concern 

over the fact that. tax-exempt funds ma7 be supporting a&iv- 
ist. groups engaged in stimulating riots both on the campus 
and \Tithin our inner cities.427 

The administration did not supply any facts to support the assertion 
that such groups were riolating tax Inn-s. 

After the SSS was established, the FBI and the Justice Depart- 
ment’s Interdivisional Information Vnit (IDIV) became its largest 
sources of names. An Assistant, IRS Commissioner requested the FBI 
to provide information regarding “various organizations of predoml- 
nantlv dissident or extremist nature and/or people prominently identi- 
fied &thin those organizations.?‘~8 The FBI agreed, believing, as 
one intelligence official put it, that SSS would “deal a blow” to “dis- 
sident elements.” 42Q 

Among the material received bv SSS from the FBI was a Iist of 
2.300 organizations categorized as “Old Left.” “New Left,” and “Right 
J\7ing.?y 430 The SSS also receired about 10,000 names on IDITJ com- 
puter printouts.431 SSS opened files on all these taxpayers, many of 
whom were later subjected to tax audits and some to tax fraud investi- 
gations. There is no reason to believe that the names listed by the FBI 
or the ID117 were selected on the basis of any probable noncompliance 
+th the tax Ian-s. Rather, these groups and mdividunls were targeted 
because of their political and ideological beliefs and activities.432 

The SSS. by the time it was disbanded in 1973, had gone over 
apnroximately half of the IDITT index and established files on those 
individuals on whom it had no file. Xames on the SSS list included 
Nobel Prize winner Linus Pauling, Senators Charles Goode11 and 
Ernest Gruening, Congressman Charles Diggs, journalists Joseph 
alsop and Jimmv Breslin. and attorney Mitchell Rogovin. Orpaniza- 
tions on the SSS list included : political groups ranging from the John 
Birch Society to Common Cawe; religious organizations such as the 
B’nai Brith -4ntidefamation League and the Associated Catholic 
Charities: professional associations such as the ,4merican Law Insti- 
tute and the L$pnl ,4icl Society: private foundations such as the Car- 
negie Foundation : publications ranging from “Playboy” to “Com- 
monwealth :” and government institutions including the United 
States Civil Rights Commission.433 

85% officials hare conceded that some cases referred to the field for 
tax inrestirrations would not hare qualified for referral but for the 
ideological category in which they fell. While IRS field offices closed 
out many cases because of the lack of tax grounds upon which legal 

‘26“Tn~e~tigation of the Special Service Staff of the IRS” II.+- the staff of the 
-Joint Committee on Internal Rerenue Ta\-ation, 6/5/i%. pp. 17-18. 

m Memorandum of IRS Commissioner Thrower, 6/16/69. 
128 Memorandum from D. W. Bacon to Director. FBI, 8/S/69. 
‘ZO Memorandum from D. .J. Rrennan, .Jr., to TV. C. SuIliran, R/15/69. 
‘Jo SSS Bi-weekly Report, 6/l s/70. 
ax SSS Bi-weekly Report. S/29/69. 
‘a’ For a discussion of IDTU standards. see pp. i%-81. 122-123. 
UJDonald Alexander testimony, 10/2/25, Hearings, Vol. 3, pp. 2s-30. 
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action could be taken, referral from the SSS probably resulted in the 
examination of some cases despite the lack of adequate grounds. Inter- 
views wtih IRS field personnel confirm that this did occur in several 
inst,ances.433a 

Upon discovering that its functions were not tax-related, new IRS 
Commissioner Alesancler ordered the Special Service Staff abolished. 
He testified: 

Mr. ALEXASDER. I ordered the Special Service st.aff abol- 
ished. That order was given on -4ugust the 9th, 19'73. It was 
implemented by manual supplements issued on August the 
13th, 1973. We held the files. 1 ordered the files be held intact- 
I’m not going t,o give anv negative assurances to this Com- 
mittee-in order that t.his Committee and other Committees 
could rerielv these files to see what Ivas in them, and see what, 
sort of information m-as supplied to us on this more than 
11,000 individuals and organizations as to whom and which 
files Kere maintained. 

I suggested, Mr. Chairman, that at the end of all of these 
inquiries, I would like to take those files to the Ellipse and 
have the biggest bonfire since 1814. 

The CHATRM.IS. Well. I concur in that, judgment. I would 
only say this to you; in a wrap, it might be a more important 
bonfire than the Boston Tea Party when it comes to protect- 
ing individual rights of American citizens. I am glad you 
feel that way. I am glad you took t.hat action.434 

5. Foreign, Intelligence and Domestic Dissent 
In the late 1960’s, CIA and NS4, acting in response to presidential 

pressure, turned their technological capacitv and great resources to- 
wa.rd spving on certain Americans. The initial impetus was to deter- 
mine whether the antiwar movement-and to a lesser extent the 
“black power” movement-were controlled bv foreigners. Despite evi- 
dence that there was no significant foreign influence. the intelligence 
gathering which culminated in CIA’s “Operation CHAOS” followed 
the general pattern of broadening in scope and intensity. The pro 
cedure for one aspect of t.hese programs was established by an informal 
agreement between the CIA and FBI in 1966, which permitted CIA to 
engage in “internal security” <activities in t.he United States. 

a. Origins of CIA Involvement in “Internal Security Func- 
tions” 

The National Security Act of 1947 explicitly prohibited the CIA 
from exercising “police, subpoena, or law-enforcement powers, or 
internal security functions.” But, t.he. Act did not address the question 
of the CL43 authority to conduct clandestine intelligence activity 
within the TTnited States for what Secretary Forrest.al called “pur- 
poses outside of this country.” 435 

IJnder Director Hoover, the FBI interpreted the term “internal 
security functions” broadly to encompass almost “a*nyt.hing that CIA 

“” Green. 9/12/75, pp. 65-66, 73-74 : Statement of Auditor, San Francisco Dis- 
trict. 7/30/75. p. 1: statement of Collector. J&R Anceles Diatrirt. 8;/3/75. 

cu Donald Alexander testimony, 10/2/75, Hearings, Vol. 3, pp. N-11. 
“Hearings before the House Committee on Exnenditures in the Executive 

Departments, on H.R. 2319, 80th Cong. (1947), p. 127. 
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might, be doing in the United States.” 436 Throughout. the 1950% and 
into the early 1960’s, Director Hoover’s psition led to jurisdictional 
conflicts between the CL4 and the FBI. 

The Bureau insisted on being informed of the CIA’s activity in the 
1Tnite.d States so that it couId be coordinated with the Bureau. as the 
FBI liaison with the CIA in that period recalled, “CL4 would t.a.ke 
action, it would come to our attention and we Kould have a flap.” 437 

In 1966 the FBI and CIA negotiated an informal agreement to regu- 
larize their coordination. This agreement was said to have “led to a 
great improvement” and almost eliminated t.he “flaps.” 438 

Under the agreement, the CIA would “seek concurrence and coordi- 
nation of the FBI” before engaging in clandestine activity in the 
United St.ates and the FBI would “concur and coordinate if the pro- 
posed action does not conflict with any operation, current or planned, 
including active investigation of the FBI.” 430 When an operative 
recruited by the CL4 abroad arrived in the United States, the FBI 
would “be advised” and the two agencies mould “confer regarding the 
handling of the agent in the United States.” The CIA would continue 
its “handling” of the agent for “foreign intelligence?’ purposes. The 
FBI would &o become in\-olred where there were “internal security 
fac,tors,” although it was reclgnized that the CL.4 might continue to 
“handle” the agent, in the United States and provide the Bureau with 
“information” bearing on “internal security matters.” NJ 

Bs part of their handling of “internal security factors,” CIA opera- 
tives were used after 1966 to report on dome&c “dissidents” for the 
FRI. There were infrequent instances in rhich, according to the for- 
mer FBI liaison with CIA : 

CIA had penetrations abroad in radical, revolutionary 
organizations and the individual was coming here to attend a 
conference, a meeting, and would be associating with leading 
dissidents. and the question came up, can he be of any use to 
us, can we have access to him during that period. 

In most instances, because he was here for a relatively short 
period, we would levy the requirement or the request upon the 
CL.4 to find out what was taking place at the meetings to get 
his assessment of the individuals that he was meeting. and any 
other general intelligence that he could collect from. his asso- 
ciations with the people who were of interest. to us.441 

The policies embodied in the 1966 agreement and the practice under 
it clearly involved the CL4 in the performance of “internal security 

u Former FBI Liaison with CIA testimony, Q/22/75, p. 9. 
uI Former FBI liaison with CIA testimony, Q/22/75, pp. Q-11. 
-Liaison, Q/22/75. p. 11. For a discussion of liaison problems between FBI 

and CIA in 1970. see up. 112-113. 
-Liaison, Q/22/75, p. 52. “Central Intelligence Agency Operations in the 

United States,” FBI-CIA Memorandum of Understanding, 2/7/66. 
‘W Liaison, Q/22/75, p. 55. 
“* T,iaison, Q/22/75, pp. 57-58. These “internal security” aspects of the lQ66 

FBI-CIA agreement were not the only pre-CHAOS arrangements bringing the 
CIA into liaison with the FBI. For example, as early as 1963 the FBI Manual 
was revised to state that information concerning “proposed travel abroad” by 
domestic “subversives” was to be “furnished by the Bureau to the Department 
of State” and the “Central Intrlligrnre Agency :” and field offices were ‘advised 
to recommend the “extent of foreign investigation” which was required. (FBI 
Manual Section 87, p. 33a, revised 4/15/63.) 

68.786 0 76 - 8 
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functions.” :Yt no time did the Executive branch ask Congress to amend 
the 1947 act to modify its ban against CIA exercising “internal secu- 
rity functions.” Sor n-as Congress asked to clarify the ambiguity of the 
194’i act. about the CIA% authority to conduct clandestine foreign 
intelligence and counterintelligence activities within the United States. 
a matter dealt. with even today bv Executive Order.442 

Moreover, Sational Securitv’Council Intelligence Directive 5 pro- 
vided authority within the Executive Branch for the Director of Cen- 
tral Intelligence to coordinate. and for the CIA to conduct. counter- 
intelligence activities abroad to protect the I’nited States against not 
only espionage and sabotage, but also “subversion.” 443 However. 
XSCID 5 did not purport to give the CIA authority for counter- 
intelligence activities in the United States. as provided in the FBI- 
CL4 agreement of 1966. 

6. CIA Intelligence About Domestic Po7itical Groups 
In the late 1960s the CIA increasingly was drawn into collecting 

intelligence about domestic political groups, particularly the anti-war 
movement, in response to FBI requests and to pressure from Presidents 
.Johnson and Sison. A principai assistant to President Johnson testi- 
fied that high governmental officials could not believe that 

a cause that is so clearly right for the country. as they per- 
ceive it, would be so widely attacked if there were not some 
[foreign] force behind it.k44 

The same pressures and beliefs led to CIA investigations of “militant 
black nationalists” and radical students. 

(1) CZA Response to FBI Requests.-The FBI was the main chan- 
nel for mobilizing foreign intelligence resources and techniques 
against domestic targets. The FBI regularly notified the CIA that it 
wished coverage of Americans overseas.444a Indeed, the CIA regarded 
the mention of a name in anv of the thousands of reports sent to it 
by the FBI as a standing requirement from the FBI for information 
about those persons. 445 FBI reports flowed to the CL4 at a rate of 
over 1.000 a month.4a From 1967 to 1974, the CL4 responded with 
over 5.000 reports to the FBI. These CL4 disseminations included some 
reports of information acquired by the CIA in the course of its own 
operations, not sought in response to a specific FBI request.447 

The FBI’s broad approach to the investigations of foreign infiu- 
ence which it coordinated with the CL4 is shown by a memorandum 

ua President Ford’s Executive Order 11905,2/18/76. This order, discussed more 
fuIlr in Part IV. Recommendations, in effect reinforces the 1966 FM-CIA agree- 
ment and defines CIA counterintelligence duties abroad to include “foreign sub- 
version” directed against the United States. 

‘u The Sational Security Council Intelligence Directives, or NSCIDs, have been 
promulgated by the R’ational Security Council to provide the basic organization 
and direction of the intelligence agencies. 

“’ .Toseph Califano testimony, l/27/76. p. 70. 
M’ Richard Ober testimony, 10/30/75. p. 88. 
u5 Ober, 10/28/75, p. 45. 
4(8 Memorandum from Richard Ober to James Angleton, 6/9/70, p. 9. 
“‘Letter from Director W. Colby to Vice President Rockefeller, s/8/75, p. 6 of 

attachment. 
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prepared in the Intelligence Division early in 1969 summarizing its 
“coverage of the New Left :‘! 

Foreign influence of t,he New Left movement offers us a 
fertile field to develop valuable intelligence data. To date there 
is no real cohesiveness between international Yew Left groups, 
but . . . despite the factionalism and confusion now so preva- 
lent, there is great potential for the development of an inter- 
national student revolutionary movement. [Emphasis added.] 

The memorandum expressed concern that “old line” leftist groups 
were 

. . . making a determined effort to move into the New Left 
movement . . 
New Left . . . 

. [and were] influencing the thinking of the 
against the police in general and the FBI in 

particular, to drive us off the campuses; as well as attacks 
against the new administration to degrade President 
tiixon.448 

There was no mention of, or apparent concern for, direct influence or 
control of the “New Left” by agents of hostile foreign powers. In- 
stead, the stress was almost entirely upon ideological links and sim- 
ilarities, and the threat of ideas considered dangerous by t,he FBI. 

The enlistment of both CL4 and NSB resources in domestic intel- 
ligence is illustrated by the “Black Nationalist” investigations. In 
1967, FBI Headquarters instructed field offices that: 

. . . penetrative investigations should be initiated at this 
time looking to\vard developing any information regarding 
contacts on the part of these individuals with foreign elements 
and looking toward developing any additional information 
having a bearing upon whether the individual involved is cur- 
rently subjected to foreign influence or direction. . . . 

During your investigative coverage of all militant black 
nationalists, be most alert to any foreign travel. Advise the 
Bureau promptly of such in order that appropirate overseas 
incestigatiom may be conducted to establish activities and 
contacts abroad. [Emphasis added.] 44Q 

The FBI passed such information to the CIA, which in turn began 
to place individual black natimonalists on a “watch list” for the inter- 
ception of interna:tional communica,tions bv the National Security 
Agency. After 1969. the FBI began submitting names of citizens en- 
gaged m domestic protest. and violence to the CT,4 not only for inresti- 
gaition a,bmad. but also for placement on the “watch list?’ of the CIA’s 
mail opening project. Similar lists of names rent from the FBI to the 
Sational Securitv ,4gencv. for use on a “watch list” for monitoring 
other channels of’internat’ional communication. 

(2) Opemtiou Cn,4OS.-The CT,4 did not restric.t itself to serric- 
ing t.he FBI’s requests. Under White House pressure, the CL4 derel- 
oped its awn program-Operation CHhOS-as an ‘adjunct to the 

*“Bfemorandum from C. D. Brennan to TV. C. Sullivan re New Left Move- 
meni 2/3/69. 

H8 SAC Letter No. 67-66,11/7/67. 
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CId’s foreign coun~t~rintellige~~~e activities, although CIA officials 
rccognizctl from the outset that it had “definite domestic counterin- 
tellipncr nsprcts.” ajo 

Former CIA Director Richard Helms testified that he established 
the program in response to President .Johnson’s persistent interest in 
the extent of foreign influence on domestic dissidents. According to 
Helms. the President would repcatedlv ask. “How are you getting 
along with your examination?” 
information on this subject ?!’ 451 

and “Hal-c you picked up any more 

The first. CH.408 instructions to CT,4 station chiefs in August 1967 
described the need for “keepin, v tabs on radical students ancl U.S. 
Negro expatriates as wrll as travelers passing t,hrough certain select 
aresas abroad.” The originnllv stated objective was “to find out [the] 
extent. t,o which Soviets, Chiiaoms (Chinese Communists) and Cubans 
are exploiting our domestic problems in terms of espionage and sub- 
version.” 452 

Following the consistent pattern of inte,lligence activities, those 
original instruc.tions graduallv broadened v&hout any precision in the 
kind of foreign contacts which were to be targeted by CT-4 operations. 
For example : 

-President Johnson asked the CIA to conduct a study of 
“International Connections of the U.S. Peace Jiovement” fol- 
lowing the October 1967 demonstration at the Pentagon.453 
In response, ,CIA headquarters sent a directive to CIA sta- 
tions seeking information on “illegal and subversive” connec- 
tions between U.S. aotivists and “communist, communist 
front, or other anti-American and foreign elements ‘abroad. 
Such connections might range from casua7 contacts based 
mere7y on mutunl interest to closelv controlled channels for 
party directives.” [Emphasis added;] 454 

-In mid-1968, the DDP described CHaOS to CIA stations 
as a “high priority program” concerning foreign “contacts” 
with the “Radical Left.” which was defined as : “radical stu- 
dents, antiwar activists. draft rrsistrrs and deserters. black 
nationalists, anarchists. and assorted ‘New Leftists.’ ” 455 

-In 1969, President Nixon’s White House required t,he 
CIA to study foreign communist support of American protest 
groups and stressed that “support” should be “liberally con- 
strued” to include 
tries. 456 

“encouragement” by Communist coun- 

-In the fall of 1969, CL4 stations were asked to report on 
any foreign support, guidance, or “inspiration” to protest 
activities in t,he United States.d57 

u” Memorandum from Thomas Karnmessines to James Angleton, 6/15/67, p. 1. 
&* Helms. Rockefeller Commission, 4/28/75, pp. 2434-24.35. 
UZCIA Headquarters cable to several field stations, August. lS67. p. 1. 
w Memorandum from Richard Helms to President .Johnson. 11/15/67. 
1M VIA Cable from Acting DDP to various field stations, November 1967, 

pp. 1-2. 
*’ CIA Cable from Thomas Karamessines to various field stations, .Julr 1968, 

p. 1. 
‘“Mmmorandum from Tom Huston to the Deputy Director. CI4, 6/26/69. p. 1. 
&’ Cable from CIA headquarters to stations, Xorember 1969. 
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Thus, this attempt to ascertain and evaluate “foreign links” was so 
bNXld1~ dt?filWd that it required much more than bacligrOlUlCl infor- 
mation or in\-estigation of a few individuals suspcc,ted of being agents 
tlirec:ted by a hostile power. Instead, at a time when there was 
considerable international communication and travel by L4nlericans 
engaged in protest, and clisscnt, a substantial segment by American 
protcst~ groups was encompassed bv CIA co&.&on requirements to 
investigate foreign “encouragement’;” “inspiration,” “casual contacts” 
or “mutual interest.” Once again, the use of elastic words in mandates 
for intelligence activity resultecl in orerbroacl coverage and collection. 

In addition to their intelligence activity directed at Americans 
abroad, CHAOS undercover agents, while in the United States in 
preparation for overseas assignment or between assignments, provided 
substantial information about lawful domestic activities of dissident 
American groups, as well as providing leads about possible foreign 
ties.458 In a few instances, the CL4 agents appear to have been encour- 
aged to participate in specific protest activity or to obtain particular 
domestic information.45” The CHAOS program also involved obtain- 
ing information about Americans from the CIS mail opening project 
and other domestic CL4 components 460 and from a National Security 
Sgency international con~munications intercept program.461 

CL4 officials recognized that the CIA’s examination of domestic 
groups violated the Bgency’s mandate and thus accorded it a high 
degree of sensitivity. As CIA Director Richard Helms wrote in 1969, 
when he transmitted to the White House the CIA’s study of “Restless 
Youth :” 

In an effort to round out our discussion of this subject, we 
hare included a section on American students. This is an area 
not within tl1c charter of this Agency. so I need not emphasize 
how extremely sensitive this makes the paper. Should anyone 
learn of its existence. it would prove most. embarrassing for 
all concerned?* 

The reaction to such admissions of illegality was neither an instruction 
to stop the program or an attempt to change the law. Rather, the White 
House continued to ask for more information and continued to urge 
the CL4 to confirm the theory that American dissidents were under 
foreign contr01.4G3 

Director Richard Helms testified that the only manner in which 
the CL4 could support its conclusion that there was no significant 
foreign influence on the domestic dissent, in the face of incredulity 
at the White House, was to continually expand the coverage of 
CHAOS. Only by being able to demonstrate that it had invest1patcd 
071 anti-war persons and a71 contacts between them and any foreign 

‘a Charles Marcules testimony, Rockefeller Commission, 3/10/75. pp. 153%1547, 
l.%G1567: Olwr. R,E4/i5, p. 46. (For security reasons, the CHAOS agent case 
officer testified as “Charles Marcnles”.) 

“’ JIarcules Contact Report, 4/17/71; Marcules, Rockefeller Commission, 3/10/ 
7.5. pp. lR%-1.558. 

(a 3Iemornndnm from Richard Oher to Chief, CI Project. 2/15/72. 
M* Olwr. 10/30.7S nn. lFc17. 
uI’ T,etter from Richard Helms to Henry Kissinger, 2/M/69. 
u” Richard Helms deposition. Rockefeller Commission, 4/24/75, p. 223. 
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person could CL4 “prove the negative” 
domination4G4 

that none were under foreign 

In 1972, the CIA Inspector General found “general concern” among 
the overseas stations “over what appeared to constitute a monitoring 
of the political views and activities of Americans not known to be. or 
suspected of. being involved in espionage.” Several stations had “doubts 
as to the nature and lcgitimacv of the program” because requests for 
reports on “prominent personS’” were based on “nebulous” allegations 
of “subversion.” 465 This led to “a reduction in t,he intensity of attention 
to political dissidents.” 466 although the program was not terminated 
imtil March 1974.467 

By the end of the CHAOS program. 13,000 different files were accu- 
mulated, including more than 7.200 on ;4merican citizens. Documents 
in these files inclndcd the names of more than 300,000 persons and 
groups, indexed by computer. 468 In addition to collectine information 
on an excessive number of persons. some of the kinds of information 
were n-holly irrelevant to the lepitimatc interests of the CIA or any 
other government agency. For example. one CT-4 agent supplying 
information on domestic activities to Operation CHAOS submitted 
detailed accounts of the activities of women who were interested in 
“women’s liberation.” 46g 

c. CIA Security Operations Within the United States: Pro- 
tecting “So~lwes” and “Methods” 

The National Security Act of 1947 granted the Director of Central 
Intelligence a vaguely-worded responsibility- for “protecting intelli- 
gence sources and methods from unauthorized disclosure.” “’ The 
legislative history of this provision suggests that it was initially 
intended to allay concerns of the militarv services that the new CIA 
would not operate with adequate safeguards to protect the military 
inte.llipence secrets which would be shared with the CIA4” However, 
this authority was later read by the CIA to authorize infiltration of 
domestic groups in order to protect CL4 personnel and facilities from 
possiblv violent public demonstrations. It was also read to permit 
elect.rohic surveillance and surreptitious entry to protect sensitive 
information. 

The CL4 undertook a series of specific security investigations within 
the T’nited States, in some cases to find the’ source of news leaks and 
in others to determine whether government employees were involved 
in espionage or otherwise constituted “security risks.” These investiqa- 
tions were directed at former CL4 employees, employees of other 
government agencies, newsmen and other private, citizens in this 
countrv.4’2 Among the techniques used were physical surveillance, 

M Helms deposition, Rockefeller Commission, 4/24/75, p. 234 ; Ober deposition, 
Rockefeller Commission. 3/28/75, pp. 137-138. 

w Memorandum from Inspector General to Executive Director-Comptroller, 
11/9/72. p. 1. 

a Memorandum from Executive Director-Comntroller to DDP. 12/20/72. 
M Cable from CIA Director William Colby to Field Stations, March 1974. 
w Rnckefeller Commission Report, p. 23. 
a’ Awnt 1. Contact Report, Tolnme II. Agent 1 file. 
“o5O T’.R.C. 403(d) (31. 
‘Ti I,nwrence How&on testimony, Rockefeller Commission. 3/17/7.5. pp. 1654- 

lch55. 
“I Rockefeller Commission Report, pp. 162-166. 
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mail and tax information coverage, electronic surreillance, and sur- 
re.ptitious entry. Attorne,;y General Robert Kennedy appears to have 
authorized CIA wiretappmg in one of these inrestlgations. With this 
exception, however, there is no suggestion that’ the CIS’s security 
investigations were specifically approved by the attorney Genera1.473 

The CL4 Office of Security est~ablished two programs directed at 
protest, demonstrations which involved the CIA ,in domestic aEairs 
on the t,heory that doing so was necessary to safeguard CIA facilities 
in the T’nited States.“4 Project MERRII\IACI~ (196’7 to 1973) in- 
volved the infiltration by CIA agents of Washington-based peace 
groups and Black activist groups. The stated purpose of the program 
was to obtmain early warning of demonstrations and other physical 
threats to the CIA. However. the collection requirements Kere broad- 
ened to include general information about the leadership, funding, 
activities, and policies of the targeted groups. 

Project RESIST,\KCl? (1967 to 1973) was a broad effort to obtain 
general background information about radical.groups ,across the coun- 
try, particularly on campuses. The CIA justified this program as a 
means of predicting violence which mi,ght threaten CIA installations, 
recruiters, or contractors, and gathermg information with which to 
cvaluatc applicants for CL\ employment. Xuch of the reporting by 
CIA field offices to headounrters was from open sources sucll as news- 
papers. But additional information was obtained from cooperating 
police departments, campus officials, and other local authorities, 
some of whom in turn were using collection techniques such as 
informants. 

These programs illustrated fundamental weaknesses and contra- 
dictions in the statutory definition of CIA authority in the 1947 Act. 
While the Director of Central Intelligence is charged with responsi- 
bility to protect intelligence “sources and methods,” the CIA is for- 
bidden from exercising law enforcement and police powers and 
“internal sccuritr functions.!’ The CIA4 never went to Congress for 
a clarification of this ambignitv. nor did it seek interpretation from 
the chief legal officer of the T-&ted Statrs-the Attornrv Genernl- 
except on the rarest of occasions.477 

‘X According to n “memorandum for the record” sent by CL4 General Counsel 
I,awrence R. Houston to Deputy Attorney General William P. Rogers in 1954, an 
agreement was reached at that time allo\Tina the CI.4 to inrestieate on its own 
a& “actual or probable violation of criminal statutes” involving the CIA’s 
“corert operations” and to determine for itself, without consulting the *Justice 
Department, xx-hether there were “possibilities for prosecution.” The Justice 
Denartment n-onld not he informed if the Cr.4 decided that there should be 
noAproserntion on the gronnd that it mizht lead to “revelation of highly classified 
information.” (Memorandnm from Hnustnn to Ropers. 3/1/M. and enclosed 
memorandum from Hovstnn to the Director of Central Tntelliwnce. 2/23/54.) 

This practice was reviewed and re-confirmed internally n*ithin the CIA on at 
least two snhsqnent nrcacions. (Memnrnndnm from Houston to the Assistant 
to the Director, CIA, l/6/60 : memnrnndnm from Houston to the Deputy Director 
of Centrnl Intelligence. 6/10/64.) It was not terminated nntil 1975. (Memo- 
rnndvm from John 8. Warner, CIA Gonnral Counsel. for the record. l/31/75.) 

“‘These CIA activities, Projects JIERRTMA2CK and RESTSTASCE. n-ere de- 
scribed in great detail hp the Rockefeller Commission. (Rockefeller Commission 
Renort. Chs. 32 and 1.3.) 

4ii Tli~ Rnckcfeller Commission Rrwort describw “. two cases in which tellc- 
phnn~s of thrw newsmen were In&ed [One7 occurred in 1962. apparently 
with the knolr-ledge and consent of Attorney General Kennedy.” (Rockefeller 
Commission Report, p. 164.) 
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d. h7SA Monitoring 
The Kational Securitv Agency ~-as created by Executive Order in 

19.52 to conduct “signals intelligence,” includi?g the interception and 
analysis of messages transmitted by electromc means. such as tele- 
phone calls and telegrams. 4i* In contrast to the CIA, there has never 
been a statuton- “charter” for KSA. 

The executire directives which authorize SSA’s ,activities prohibit 
the agency from monitoring communication between persons within 
t,he United States and communication concerning purely domestic 
affairs. The current SSA Director testified : 

[The] mission of XL4 is directed to fore&n intelligence ob- 
tained from foreign electrical communications. . . .47Q 

However. SSh has interpreted “foreign communications” to include 
communication where one terminal is outside the United States. Vnder 
this interpret&ion. XSA has. for many years, intercepted communica- 
tions between the Pnited States and a foreign country even though 
the sender or receiver was an ,4merican. Durmg the past decade, NSA 
increasingly broadened its interpretation of “foreign intelligence” 
to include economic and financial matters and “international 
terrorism.:’ 480 

The overall consequence. as in the case, of CIA activities such as 
Project CHAOS! was to break down the distinction between “foreign” 
and “domestic” Intelligence. For esamplc. in the 1960s. PI’SA began 
adding to its “match lists,” at the request of various intelligence agen- 
cies. the names of ,L~rericans suspected of involvement’ in civil clis- 
turbance or drug activitv which had some foreign aspects. Second, 
Operation Shamrock. which began as an effort to acquire the tele- 
grams of certain foreign targets. expanded so that SSA obtained from 
at, least, two cable companies essentially all cables to or from the 
Cnitecl States, including millions of the private communic.ations of 
Americans. 

6. Zwtmsice Techniques 
As domestic intelligencr activitv increasingly broadened to cover 

domestic dissenters under many d’ifferent, programs. the government 
intensified the use of covert techniques which intruded upon individual 
privacy. 

Informants were used to gather more information about more 
Americans, often targeting an inclividual because of his political views 
a.nd “regardless of past or present involvement in disorders.” 483 The 
CIA’s mail opening program increasinglv focused upon domestic 
groups, including “protest and peace orpa&zations” which were cov- 
ered at the FBI’s request. 484 Similarly, XS14-largely in response to 
Ammy, CL& and FBI pressures---expanded its international intercep- 
tion program to include “information on I-.S. organizations or indi- 
T-iduals who are engagecl in activities which may result in civil 

“* Memorandum from President Truman to Secretary of Defense, 10/24/52. 
““General IRW Allen testimony, 10/29/75, Hearings, Vol. 2. p. 6. 
M’ Allen, 10/29/75. Hearings, rol. 2. p. 11. The programs of NSA are discussed 

further in the succeeding section, “Intrusire Techniques.” p. 183. 
“’ Memorandum from FBI Esecutire Conference to Mr. Tolson, 10/29/iO. See 

pp. 74-76. 
@’ Memorandum from Hoover to Angleton, 3/10/72. 
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disturbances or otherwise subvert the nat,ional security of the United 
sta&.*:’ 485 

During this period, Director Hoover ordered cutbacks on t.he FBI’s 
use of a number of intrusive techniques. Frustration with Hoover’s 
cutbacks was a substantial contributing factor to the effort in lOTO- 
coordinated by White House .\ide Tom Charles Huston and strongly 
supported by CL% Director Helms. SS-1 Director Gaylor and 
Hoover’s Intelligence Division subordinates-to obtain Presidential 
authorization for numerous illegal or questionable intelligence 
techniques. 

n. Warmnt7css Blcctro,lic Surmei77ance 
(1) Exec-uticc Bmnch RPstrictiona on Electwmic SurzwYTunce : 

1SG.i-19&!?.-In March 1965, Attorney General Sicholas deB. Katzen- 
bath established a new requirement for the FBI’s intelligence opera- 
tions: the Bureau had to obtain t,he written approval of the Attorney 
General prior to the implementation of any microphone. surveillance. 
He also imposed a six month limitation on both wiretaps and micro- 
phone surveillances. after v:hich time new requests had to be sub- 
mitted for the Attorney General’s re-autliorization.486 

Upon Katzenbach’s recommendation, President Johnson issued a 
directive in June 1065 forbidding all federal government wiretapping 
“except in conjunction 
security.” 487 

with investigations related to national 
This standard n-as reiterated by Attorney General Katzen- 

bath? for both wiretapping and microphone surveillances three months 
later. and again in ,July 1966.4s7a 

While the procedures were tightened, the broad “national security” 
standard still alloTT-ed for questionable authorizations of electronic 
surveillance. In fact, Katzenbach told Director Hoover that he would 
“continue to approve all such requests in the future as I have in the 
past.” He saw “no need to curtail any such activities in the national 
security field.” 488 

In line with that policy, Katzenbach approved FBI requests for 
wiretaps on the Student Non-Violent Coordinating Committee,48s 
Students for a Democratic Society, 490 the editor of an anti-communist 
newsletter,4g1 a Washington attorney with whom the editor was in 
frequent contact,4Q2 a Klan official:93 and a leader of the black Revolu- 
tionary Action Movement. 494 According to FBI records. Katzenbach 
also initialed three memoranda informing him of microphone surveil- 
lances of Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr.4g5 

&Memorandum from XSA MINBRET Charter, 7/l/69. 
m Memorandum from Hoover to Katzenbach, 3/30/65. 
un Memorandum from President .Johnson to Heads of Departments, 6/30/65. 
m’ Memorandum from Katzenbach to Hoover, 9/27/65 : Wpplemental Memo- 

randim to the Supreme Court in Black v. United States, Julv 13 1966. 
Katzenbach also stated to Hoover that while he belieT’ed kh techniques 

could be properly used in cases involving organized crime, he would not approve 
any such requests in the immediate future “in lkht of the present atmosphere.” 

L88 Memorandum from Katzenbach to Hoover, Q/27/65. 
uD Memorandum from Hoover to Katzenbach, 6/15/65. 
w Memorandum from Hoover to Katzenbach, 5/25/65. 
“I Memorandum from Hoover to Katzenbach, 4/19/G, see footnote 266. 
‘Ba\Iemorandum from Hoover to Katzenbach, B/7/65, see footnote 266. 
lD3 kemorandnm from Hoover to Katzenbach, S/28/64. 
“’ Memorandum from Hoover to Katzenhach. 3/3/65. 
‘X Memoranda from Hoover to Katzenbach, 5/17/65, 10/19/65, 12/l/65. 
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There were no similar electronic surveillance authorizations bv 
Attorney Gmcrnl Ramsey Clark in cases involving purely domestcc 
“national secilrity” considerations.49G Clark has stated that his policy 
was “to confine the area of approval to international activities directly 
related to the military security of the United States.4”7 

(2) Omnibus GGxe Gon.trol Act of 1.96X-111 response to a 1967 
Supreme Court decision that required judicial warrants for the use of 
electronic surveillance in criminal cases,498 Congress enacted the Omni- 
bus Crime Control lZct of 1968. This Act established warrant, proce- 
dures for wiretapping and microphone surveillances, but it included a 
provision that neither it nor the Federal Communications Act of 1934 
“shall limit the constitutional power of the President.” 499 Although 
Congress did not purport to define the President’s powerq500 the Act 
suggested five broad categories in which warrantless electronic sur- 
veillance might be permitted. The first three categories related to 
foreign intelligence and counterintelligence matters : 

(1) to protect the nation against actual or potential attack 
or other hostile acts of a foreign povver; 

(2) to obtain f’oreign intelligence information deemed essen- 
tial to t,he security of the United States; and 

(3) to protect national security information against for- 
e@ intelligence activities. 

The last two categories dealt with domestic intelligence interests: 

(4) to protect the United States against overthrow of the 
government by force or other unlawful means, or 

(5) against any other clear and present danger to the struc- 
ture or existence of the government. 

Thus, although Conpress suggested criteria for warrantless electronic 
surveillance for intelligence purposes, it left to the, courts the task of 
defininp the scope of the national security exception, if any, to the 
warrant, requirement. 

Between 1969 and 1972, the Nixon administration used these criteria 
to justify a number of questionable wiretaps. One New Left organiza- 
tion was tapped because. among other factors, its members desired 
to “take the radical politics t.hep learned on campus and spread them 
among factory workers.” 5o1 Four newsmen were wiretapped or bugged 
during this period. as were sixteen executive branch officials, one 

‘s+ For example, Clark turned down FRI requests to n-iretap the National 
Mobilization Committee Office for Demonstrations at the Democratic National 
Convention in Chicago in 1963. (Memoranda from Hoover to Clark 3/11/f%, 
3/22/W 6/31/681. Clark derided that there was not “an adeanate rlemnnstration 
of a direct threat to the national security.” (Clark to Hoover, 3/12/68) (These 
memoranda appear at Hearings, Vol. 6, pp. 740-7L%. 

4w Clark has stated that he denied requests “tn tap Ahha Eban when he mas 
on a visit to this country, an employee of the United Nations Secretariat. the 
Organization of Arab Students in the U.S.. the Tanzanian Mission to the T’.N.. 
the offire of the Agricultural Counselor at the Soviet Bmhasnv and a cnrreannndenf 
of TARS.” [Statement of Former Bttnrney General Ramsey Clark, Heariws 
before the Snhcnmmittee nn Administrative Practice and Procedure. Committee 
nn the Iudiciary. Fnited States Senate (39i41 .l 

‘@ Kofz v. linifed Strifes. 397 TJ.S. 347 (1967). This case explicitly left open 
the qnwtinn of n-arrantless electronic snrreillance in “sitnation (s) involving 
the national secnritv.” (39i P.S.. at 358 n. 23.) 

"0818 V.S.C. 2511(3). 
5oo SW T’nitcd Stntcs r. Vnitm7 Sfntcs District Cnurt. 407 T’.S. 297 (1972). 
60’Memorandum from Hoover to Attorney General Mitchell, 3/16/70. 
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former executive official, and a relative of an executive official.” 502 
There were nun~crow wiretaps and some microphones used against the 
Black Panther Party and similar domestic group~.~O~ Attorney Gen- 
eral ,John Mitchell approved FBI requests for wiretaps on organiza- 
tions involved in planning the November 1969 antiwar “JIarch on 

T\‘ashington,” including the moderate Yietnam Moratorium Com- 
nlittee.503a 

(3) XrcpTe7ne Court Rcsfktions on National Xecwity Electronic 
Surwillan~e~ 197%:The issue of national security electronic surreil- 
lance was not addressed by the Supreme Court unt;l 1972, when it held 
in the so-called Keith case that the President did not have the “con- 
stitutional power’? to authorize viarrantless electronic surveillance to 
protect the security of the nation from “domestic” threats.50* The Court 
still remained silent. however, on the legality of warrantless electronic 
surveillance There there was a “significant connection with a foreign 
power. its agents or agencies. )’ 505 As a result of this decision, the JUS- 
tice Department eliminated as criteria for the use of warrantless elec- 
tronic surveillance the tsvo categories, described by Congress in the 
1968 Act, dealing with domestic intelligence interests.506 

b. Cl,4 Nail Opening 
Although Director Hoover terminated the FBI’s own mail opening 

propramscin 1966, the Bureau’s use of the CIA program continued. In 
1969. upon the recommendation of the official in charge of the CIA’S 
CHAOS program, the FBI began submitting names of domestic po- 
litical radicals and black militants to the CIA for inclusion on its mail 
opening “Watch List.” 5o7 By 1972, the FBI’s list of targets for CIA 

e mail opening included : 

New Left activists, extremists, and other subversives. 
Extremist and Scm Left organizations. 
Protest and peace organizations, such as People’s Coalition 

for Peace and Justice, Kational Peace Action Committee, and 
Women’s Strike for Peace. 

Subversive and extremist groups. such as the Black Pan- 
thers. White Panthers. Black Nationalists and Liberation 
Groups. Students for a Democratic Society, Resist, Revolu- 
tionary Union, and other New Left Groups. 

50? See Findings C and E, pp. 183 and 2%. 
5o3 For example. at one time in March 1971 the FBI wan conducting one micro- 

phone surveillance of Black Panther Park leader Huey Sewton, seven wire- 
taps of Black Panther Party offices including Sewton’s residence, one wiretap 
on another black estremist group. one wiretap on Jewish Defense League head- 
quarters, one wiretap on a “New Left extremist group”. and two wiretaps on 
“Sew Left extremist actirities.” (Memorandum from TT. R. WannaIl to C. D. 
Brennan. 3/29/il, printed in Hearings, Vol. II, pp. 2’iO-271.) 

so’” Jlemoranda from Hoorer to Attorney General Xitrhell. 11/s/69 and 
11/i/69. This and other aspects of eiectronic surveillanre in this period are 
discussed in Findings C and E in greater detail. pp. 183 and 225. 

sM T-nitfd Stntfa v. Pnitcf7 Rfnfcs Dintrid Court. 407 Iy.S. 49i (1972). 
srii T7vitcr7 Sfntrx r. 7-nifcrl Sfnfcs Dintrift Court. 407 T-.8.. at 309 (1972). 
sm Jlemnrnntlum from William Olson to Elliott Richardson, .June 1973. Vntil 

19% hnw?rer. the .Jusltice Department stretched the term “cwnnpqtinn with a 
fnrci?Zn poW?r” to inrludr domestic groups. such as the .Jevish Defense T,eague, 
WhnS? protest actions against a fnreim nation were beliered to threaten the 
J’nited Statec’ relations with that nation. [Xwcibon v, J~ifchcU, ,516 F. 2d 594 
CD.C. Cir. lSiZ).] 

ran Memorandum from FBI/CL4 Liaison Agent to D. J. Brennan, l/16/89. 
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Traffic to and from Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands 
showing anti-U.S. or subversive sympathies.5o8 

Thus, the mail opening program that began fourteen years earlier as a 
means of discovering hostile intelligence efforts in the United States 
had expanded to encompass communications of domestic dissidents of 
all types. 

c. Expnnsion of NXL4 Monitoring 
Although NSA began to intercept. and disseminate the communica- 

tions of selected Americans in the early 196Os, the systematic inclu- 
sion of a wide range of American names on the “Watch List” did not 
occur until 1967. 

The Army Chief of Staff for Intelligence requested “any informa- 
tion on a continuing basis” that NSA might intercept concerning : 

A. Indications that foreign governments or individuals or 
organizations acting as agents of foreign governments are 
controlling or attempting to control or influence the activities 
of TJ.S. “peace” groups and “Black Power” organizations. 

B. Identities of foreign agencies exerting control or influ- 
ence on U.S. organizations. 

C. Identities of individuals and organizations in U.S. in 
contact with apents of foreign governments. 

D. Instructions or advice being given to U.S. groups by 
agents of foreign governments.50g 

Two years later. MA issued an internal inst.ruction intended to 
ensure the secrecv of the fact, that it was monitoriw and disseminat- 
ing commnnications to and from Americans.510 This memorandum 
described the “Watch List” program in terms which indicated that 
it had widened beyond its originally broad mandate. In addition to 
describing hhe pro,cram as covering foreigners who ‘Lare attempting” 
to “influence, coordinate or control” U.S. groups or individuals who 
“mav foment civil distnrbance or otherwise undermine the nstional 
security of the U.S..” the memorandum indicated that the program 
intercepted communications dealing with : 

Information on 1T.S. orpanizations or individuals who are 
engaged in activities which may result in civil distnrbances 
or otherwise subvert the national securit.y of t,he U.S.“” 

This standard. which was clearly outside the foreim intelligence 
mandate of NM,, resulted in sweeping coverage. Communicat,ions 
such as the follow~g were intercepted, dissemmated. and stored in 
Government files: dlswssion of a peace concert: the interest of t.he 
wife of a 1J.S. Senator in peace causes; a correspondent’s report from 
Sout.heast Asia to his ma.gazine in New York; an anti-mar activist’s 
request for a speaker in New York. 

,Qccording to testimony before the Committee. the material which 
resulted from the “Watch List” was of little intellipnce value; most 

508 Routing Slip from J. Edgar Hoover to aames Angleton (attachment), 
3/10/72. 

‘08 JI0JI Cable. Yarhorough to Carter, 10/20/67. 
‘lo S&4’s name, for example, was to be kept off any of the disseminated 

“product.” 
‘II MINBRET Charter, 7/l/69. 
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intercepted communications were of a prirat.e or personal nature or 
involwd rallies and drmonstrations that were public kno~vled~e.“lz 

d. FBI Cutbacks 

The reasons for ,J. Ecl~~ar Hoovrr’s cutback in 1966 on FBI use of 
several covert techniques are not clear. Hoover’s former assistants 
have cited widely divergent factors. 

Certainly bv the mid-1960s. Hoover was highly sensitive to the 
possibility of damage to the FBI from public exposure of its most 
intrusive’ intrlligence techniques. This sensiti\-itg 1v-a~ reflected in a 
nwmoranclun~ to .\ttorner General Kat’zenbach in September 1965, 
whew Hoover referred to’“thc present atmosphere” of “Con,rrressional 
and public alarm and opposition to any act.ivitp which could in any 
way be termed an invasion of privacv.” j13 The FBI Director was 
particularly concerned about, an inquiry by the Subcommittee on 
Administrative Pract.ice and Procedure of the Senate Judiciary Com- 
mittre rhnired by Senator Edward Long. 

(1) The Lo?lg h’zrbcommittee Znccstigrrtion.-The Senate Subcom- 
mittee was primarily inresti@irq elect,ronic surveillance and mail 
cover. The Bureau was seen as a major subject of the inquiry, al- 
thou,rrh the Internal Revenue Service and other Executive aencies 
wrre also included. 

In Febnlsrv 1965. President Johnson asked Attorney General 
Katzenbach td coordinate all matters relating to the investi,rration, 
and Katzcnba.ch then met with senior FBI officials to discuss the 
problems it raise,d.“lJ According to a memora.ndum by A. H. Belmont, 
one of the FBI Director’s principal assistants. Katzenbach st.ated 
that he planned to SW Senator Ed~~ard Lor)$. the Subcommittee 
chairman. for the purpose of “impressinp on him that the committee 
would not want to stumble b\- mistake, into an area of extreme inter- 
est to the national secnritr.” 
General added that he. 

Accorclin,rr to Belmont. the Attorney 
“miyht, have to resort to pressure from the 

President” and that he did not want, the Subcommittee. to “under- 
mine the rtstrictrd and tiphtl,v controll~rl oprrations of the Bureau.” 
FBI officials had assured Katzenbach t.hat their activities were, in- 
deed, “ti,nhtly controlled” and restrictecl to “important security 
matters.” 516 

The following note on the memorandum of this meeting provides 
a sign of Director Hoowr’s attitude at that time : 

I don’t see what all the excitement is about. I ~~oulcl have no 
hesitancy in discontinuing all techniques-technical cover- 
ape. mlcroghonrs. trash covers, mail covers, etc. While it 
miqht handicap us I doubt, they are as valuable as some 

‘I’TT. R. W?nnnll (FRT Assistant IXrwtor for Intellieenw). 10/3/75. p. 13. 
“The feeling is that there 1~a.c wry little in the wan of goorl prodnct as a result of 
nllr 1lqrin.c snnnlicrl names to SS.1.” 

m3 1lemornn~nm from Hnorer to Katzenharh. 9/14/C%. This memorandnm dealt 
enwificnlly with electronic snrreillnnce and did not mention mail openings or 
“Rlnck Rnr .Tolw.” Hnowr said the FBI had “discnntinnwl” microphone snrwil- 
Innws (hnw). a restriction which Attorney General I<atzcnlxwl~ said went tou 
far. (Ti?tawhnch to Honrw. 9/27/0.5.) 

““Mw~nr~nrl~~m from A. H. Relmont to Mr. Tolsnn, 2/27/G. Ratzenhach testi- 
mnnr. 12/3/i5. Hearings. Pnl. 6. p. 204. 

“’ Jlrmnrandum from A. H. Belmont to C. Tolson. 2/27/65. 
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believe and none warrant the FBI being used to justify 
them.“17 

Several days later, according to a memorandum of the FBI Director, 
the &torney General “a~vled that he had talked to Senator Long,“ 
and that tile benzator “salti he clid not want to get 111tO ally llaLlolU1 
security area.“ jib Katzenbach has confirmed that he ‘*would have been 
concerned” in these clrcunxtances about the Subcornnnttee s demands 
for information about “matters of a national security nature” and that 
he was “declining to provide such information” to Long.51V 

Again in 1966, the FBI took steps to, in the wortis of Bureau of- 
ficial Cartha DeLoach, “neutralize” the “threat of being embarrassed 
by the Long Subcommittee.” 5LI0 This time the issue involved war- 
rantless electronic surveillance by the FBI, particularly in organized 
crime matters. DeLoach and another ranking Bureau official visited 
Senator Long to urge that he issue a statement that “the FBI had 
never participated in uncontrolled usage of wiretaps or microphones 
and that FBI usage of such devices had been completely justified in all- 
instances.” 521 The Bureau prepared such a statement for Senator 
Long to release as his own, which apparently was not used.522 At 
another meeting with DeLoach, Senator Long agreed to make “a 
commitment that he would in no way embarrass the FBI.” When the 
Subcommittee’s Chief Counsel asked if a Bureau spokesman could 
appear and “make a simple statement,” DeLoach replied that this 
would “open a Pandora’s box, in so far as our enemies in the press 
were concerned.?’ Senator Long then stated that he would call no 
FBI witnesses.523 

(2) Director Hoover’s Restrictions.-The Director subsequently 
issued instructions t.hat the number of warrantless wiretaps installed 
at any one time be cut in half. One of his subordinates speculated 
that this was done out of a concern that the ‘Subcommittee’s “inquiry 
might get into the use of that technique by the FBI.” 5z4 

In July 1966, after hundreds of FBI “black bag job” operations 
had been approved over many years, Director Hoover decided to 
eliminate warrantless surreptitious entries for purposes other than 
microphone installations. 525 In response to an Intelligence Division 
analysis that such break-ins were an “invaluable technique,” although 
“clearly illegal,” Hoover stated that ‘<no more such techniques must 
be used.” 526 Bureau subordinates took Hoover’s “no more such tech- 

“’ Hoover Note on Belmont Memorandum to To&on. 2/27/S. 
m8 Memorandum from Hoover to Tolson, et al., 3/2/65. 
“’ Katzenbach testimony. 12/3/75, Hearings, Vol. 6, pp. 205-206. 
62o Memorandum from DeLoach to Tolson. l/21/66. 
sn Memorandum from DeT,narh to Tolwn. l/10/66. 
M Memorandum from M. A. Jones to Robert Wick, l/11/66. 
W IZemorandum from DeLoach to Tolson, l/21/66. 
62’C. D. Brennan denosition. 9/23/7X, p. 42, 
%According to FBI records and the recollections of Bureau agents, the fol- 

lowing number of microphone surveillances involving “surreptitious entry” were 
installed in “internal security, intelligence, and counterintelligence” inrestiga- 
tions: 1964: SO: 19%: 59: 1966: 4: 1967: 0: 1968: 9: 1969: 8: 1970: 15: 1971: 6; 
1972 : 22 : 1973 : 18 : 1974 : 9 : 1975 : 13. The similar figures for “criminal inrestiga- 
tinns” (including installations authorized by judicial n-arrant after 1968) are : 
l!XA: 8.1: 1965: 41: 1966: 0: 196i: 0: 1968: 0: 1969: 3: 1970: 8: 1971: 7: 1972: 
19 19i3 : 27 : 1974 : 22 : 1975 : 11. (Memorandum from FBI to Select Committee, 
10/17/75.) 

624Hoover note on memorandum from Sullivan to DeLoach. i/19/66. This 
memnrandum cited as a “prime example” of the utilitr of a “black hag jobs" a 
break,in to steal records of three high-ranking Klan officials relating to finances 



111 

niques?’ language as an injunction against the Bureau’s mail opening 
program as well.>” Apparently, a termination order was issued to 
field offices by telephone. FBI mail-opening was suspended, al- 
though the Bureau continued to seek information from CIA’s illegal 
mail-opeuing program until its suspension in 1973. 

A year and a. half before Hoover’s cutbacks on n-ire-tapping, “black 
bag jobs,” and mail-opening, he prohibited the FBI’s use of other 
covert, techniques such as mail covers and trash covers.528 

FBI intelligence officials persisted in requesting authority for “black 
bag” techniques. In 1967 Director Hoover ordered that “no such rec- 
ommendations should be submitted.” jz9 At about this time, Attorney 
General Ramsey Clark was asked to approve a “breaking and enter- 
ing” operation and declined to do so.j30 There was an apparently un- 
authorized surreptitious entry directed at a “domestic subversive tar- 
get” as late as April, 1968. 531 A4 proposal from the field to resume mail 
opening for foreign counterintelligence purposes was turned down by 
FBI officials in 1970.532 

7. Accountability and Control 

a. The Hustoll. Plan: A Domestic Intelligence Network 
In 19’70, pressures from the White House and from within the in- 

telligence community led to the formulation of a plan for coordinat.ion 
and expansion of domestic intelligence activity. The so-called ‘LHuston 
Plan” called for Presidential authorization of illegal intelligence tech- 
niques, expanded domestic intelligence collection, and centralized eval- 
uation of domestic intelligence. President, Nixon approved the plan and 
then, five days later, revoked his approval. Despite the revocation of 
official approval, many major aspects of the plan were implemented, 
and some techniques which the intelligence community asked for 
permission to implements had already been undeway. 

In 1970. there was an intensification of the social tension in America 
t,hat had provided the impetus in the 1960s for ever-widening domestic 
intelligence operations. The spring invasion of Cambodia by United 
States forces triggered the most extensive campus demonstrations and 
stude.nt “strikes’? in the history of the war in Southeast Asia. Domestic 
strife heightened even further when four st.udents were killed by Na- 
.-~ 

and membership which “we have been using most effectively to disrupt the 
oreanization.” 

in Wannall, 10/13/75, pp. 4546. There is to this day no formal order pro- 
hibiting FBI mail-oneninp. although Assistant Director Wannall contended that 
general FBI Manuai instructions now applicable forbid ang unlawful technique. 

525 These technicties were not prohibited by law. Their use vias banned in all 
cases. including serious criminal investigations and foreign counterintelligence 
matters. (Memorandum from TV. C. Sullivan to A. H. Belmont. 9/30/64.) Mail 
covers. which mag be used to identify from their exteriors certain letters which 
can then he opened lvith a judicial n-arrant. were reinstituted with Justice De- 
partment approval in 1971. (1\Iemnrandum frnm Hoover to 1\Iitchell, 7/27/71; 
Memorandum from Assistant Attorney General Will Wilson to Hoover, g/31/51.) 

621 Memorandum from Hoover to Tnlsnn and Delnach, l/6/67. 
GJo “Once Mr. Hoover, apparent& at the request of the Satinnal Security Agency, 

sought approval to break and enter into a foreign mission at the Inited Sations 
to procure cryptographic materials to facilitate decoding of intercepted trans- 
missions. The request was presented \vith some urgency, rejected and presented 
again on perhaps srr~rnl occasions. It was never approved and constituted the 
nnl~ request nf that kind.” [Statement of former .~ttorne,v Genera1 Ramsey Clark. 
Hearings hefnre the Senate Judiciary Subcommittee on Administrative Practice 
and Prncednre. (1974) .l 

531 Memnrnndnm from FRI to Senate Select Committee. 2/23/E. 
=’ Memorandum from W. A. Branigan to TV. C. Sullivan, 3/31/70. 
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t.ional Guardsmen at Kent State University. Wthin one tlventy-fonr 
hour period, there were 400 bomb threats m New York City alone. TO 

responcl, \\‘hite Ilousc Chief of Staff: H. R. Haldenlnn, assigned prin- 
cipal responsibility for domestic intelligence planning to st.atf assist- 
ant Tom Charles I~77ston.533 

Since June 1969, Huston had been in touch with the head of the 
FBI Domestic Intelligence Division, Assistant Director William C. 
Sullivan. Huston initially contacted Sullivan on President Xxon’s be- 
half to request “all information possibly relating to foreign influences 
and financing of the New Left.” 534 Huston also made similar requests 
to CIA, NS+, and the Defense Intelligence Agency. The quality of 
the data provided by these agencies, especially the FBI, had failed to 
satisfy Huston and Presidential assistant John Ehrlichman.535 There- 
after, Huston’s continued discussions with awistant Director Sulli- 
van convinced him that the restraints imposed upon domestic intelli- 
gence techniques by Director IIoover impeded the. collection of im- 
portant information about dissident activity.536 

(1) I~~telZigence Community PT*ess?cres.-The interest of the White 
House in better intelligence about domestic protest activity coincided 
with growing dissatisfaction among the foreign intelligence agencies 
with the FBI Director’s restrictions on their performance of foreign 
intelligence functions in America.537 

The CIA’s concerns crystallized in March 1970 when-as a result 
of a “flap” over the CIA’s refusal to disclose information to t,he 
FBI-Hoover issued an order that “direct liaison” at FBI head- 
quarters with CIA “be terminated” and t,hat “any contact with CL4 
in the future” was to take place “by letter only.” 538 This order did 
not bar interagency communication ; secure tele,phones were installed 
an d \vorking-level contacts continued. But the position of FBI 
“liaison agent” with CIA was eliminated.539 

CIA Director Helms subsequently attempted to reopen the question 
of FBI cooperation with CIA requests for installing electronic 
surveillances and covering mail. 540 Hoover replied t,hat he agreed with 
Helms that there sl~ould be expanded “exchange of information be- 
tween our age.ncies concerning New Left and racial extremist. mat- 
ters.” However, he, refused the request, for aid with electronic sur- 
veilla,nce and mail coverage. Hoover cited the “miclespread concern 

631 Memorandum from John R. Brown to H. ‘R. Haldeman. 4/30/70. 
534 Memorandum from Sullivan to DeLoach, 6/20/69 ; Memorandum from Hus- 

ton to Hoover, 6/20/69. 
535 Tom Charles Huston testimony, 5/23/75, p. 19. 
630 Huston, 5/23/75, pp. 23, 28. 
551 Helms deposition, g/10/75, p. 3 ; Bennett deposition, 8/5/75, p. 12 ; Gayler 

deposition, 6/19/75, pp. &7. As early as 1963, the FBI Director had successfully 
opposed a proposal to the President’s Foreign Intelligence Advisory Board by 
CIA Director John McCone for expanded domestic wiretapping for foreign 
intelligence purposes. (Memorandum from TV. C. Sullivan to C. D. DeLoach, 
3/7/70). In 1969, CIA Director Richard Helms was told bg the Bureau. when he 
asked it to institute electronic surveillance on behalf of the CIA. that he should 
“refer such requests directly to Attorney General for approral.” (Mgmorandum 
from Sullivan to DeLoach. 3/30/70.) The administrators of NSA also failed to 
persuade Director Hoover to lift his restraints on foreign intelligence electronic 
surveillance. (Staff summary of Louis Tnrdella interrirv. 6/16/75.) 

b38 Snte by Hoover on letter frnm Helms to Hnorer. 2/26/70. 
58 Former FBI Liaison with Cl.4 testimony, 9/22/Z?. p. 3. 
aoMemorandum from Sullivan to DeLoach, 3/30/70, pp. 1-2, 4. 
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by the American public regarding tlic possible misuse of this t;vpe of 
co~crage.” Their lw in “tlomestic investigations;” pow1 legal problems 
not, enconntcrcd *,in similar olwrations abrond.” Zioo\-cr adtletl, ‘+The 
FI3l’s effecti\-encss has always depended in large nieasure on our 
capacity to retain tlic full coiifidcncc of the -\merican people.” :a1 

(2) Yhc I7,fe~/~e~~!/ (‘o/n 7rliffec~ Z~e~~u~~f.--Iii the following months, 
Tom C’harlw 1Tnst on arr:in~ed :I meeting l,etwwn President Kixon 
and tlw directors of the FBI, (‘IA, SSL and DLL\ on June 5, 1370.” 
The President% cnlpllasis jv\-ns 111)on improved coortlination among the 
agencies to strengthen their capabilities to collect intelligence about 
“revolutionarv ncti\isiil” ant1 “the sul)port-ideological and other- 
wise-of forbign 1)o~crs” for these activities. The talking paper 
prepared by Il~~ston for the President to wad at the meeting declared, 
“IT’c are non- cor~froiitcd with a nc~v and grave crisis iii our country- 
one which we know too little about.zf3 

From this meeting emanated the Special Report of the Interagency 
Committee on Intelligence (*id Hoc), prepared jointly by represents- 
tives of the FBI, CIA, XS& and DIh, and submittecl to the President 
a month later.“J’k The report presented the President a series of options, 
and Huston recommended that the President approve the following : 

(1) “coverage by SS,l of the communications of U.S. 
citizens using international facilities;” 

tra(Z!ms” 
“intensification” of “electronic surveillances and pene- 

directed at individuals and groups “who pose a 
major threat to the internal security” and at. “foreign na- 
tionals” in the United States “of interest to the intelligence 
community ;” 

(3) removal of restrictions on “legal” mail coverage and 
relaxation of “restrictions on covert coverage” [mall open- 
ing] on “selected targets of priority foreign intelligence and 
internal security interest ;” 

(4) modification of “present restrictions” on “surreptitious 
entry” to allow “procurement of vitally needed foreign cryp- 
tographic material” and “to permit selective use” against 
“high priority internal security targets;” 

(5) rela,xatlon of “present restrictions” on the “develop- 
me.nt of campus sources” to permit ‘(expanded coverage of 
violence-prone and student-related groups 1’ 

(6) “increased’! coverage bp CIA “of American students 
(and others) traveling or living abroad ;” 

(7) appointment of a “permanent committee consisting of 
the FBI, ,CI;1, NS;2, DIA. and the military counterintelli- 
gence agencies” to evaluate “domestic intelligence” and to 
“carry out the other objectives specified in the report.” 545 

Huston also raised and dismissed questions about the legalit,y of 
tvio collection techniques in particular. “Covert [mail opening] cov- 

“’ 3Icmorandum from Hoover to Helms, 3/31/70. 
w Hnston deposition, 5/23/75, p. 32. 
w Presidential Talking Paper, F/5/70, from the Nixon Papers. 
544 The renort was written br the Research Section of the FBI Domestic Intel- 

ligence Di&ion on the basis of committee decisions and FBI Director Hoover’s 
rerisions (Staff Summary of Richard Cotter interriew, g/15/75.) 

KJ The seren recommendations were made in an attachment to a memorandum 
from Huston to Haldeman, 7/70. 

68.786 0 - 76 - 9 
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erage is illegal, and there are serious risks involved,” he wrote. “HOT- 
ever, the advantages to be derived from its use outweigh the risks.” 54G 
As for surreptitious entry, Huston advised : 

Use of this technique is clearly illegal : it amounts to burglary. 
It is also highly risky and could result in great embarrass- 
ment if exposed. However, it is also the most fruitful tool 
and can produce the type of intelligence which camlot be ob- 
tained in any other fashion.” 64i 

Huston testified that his recommendations “reflected what I under- 
stood to be the consensus of the working group” of intelligence 
officials on the interagency comniittee.548 

Just over a week later, the FBI, CIA, NSA, and DIA were advised 
by Huston that “the President has. . . made the following decisions”- 
to adopt all of Huston’s recommendations. 54g Henceforth, with Presi- 
dential authority, the intelligence community could intercept the 
international communications of Americans; eavesdrop electronically 
on anyone deemed a “threat to the internal security ;” read the mail of 
,4me&an citizens; break into the homes of anyone regarded as a 
security threat ; and monitor the activities of student politicad groups 
at home and abroad. 

There is no indication that the President, was informed at this time 
that SSA was already covering the international communications of 
Americans and had been doing so for domestic intelligence purposes 
since at, least 1967. Kor is there ‘any indication that he was told that the 
CIA was opening the mail of Americans and sharing the contents with 
the FlZI and the militarv for domestic intelligence purposes. In effect, 
the “IIuston plan” suppiied Presidential authority for operations pre- 
viouslv undertaken in secret without such authorczation. For instance, 
the p1hn gave FBI Assistant Director Sullivan the “support” from 
“responsible quarters” which he had believed necessary to resume the 
“black bag jobs”’ and mail-opening programs Director Hoover had 
terminated in 1966.550 

Nevertheless, the FBI Director was not satisfied with Huston’s 
memorandum concerning the authorization of the plan.551 Hoover 
Irent immediately to Attorney General Mitchell, who had not known 
of the prior deliberations or the President’s “decisions.” 552 In a memo- 
randum, Director Hoover said he would implement, the plan. but only 
with the explicit approval of the Attorney General or the President : 

bM Memorandum from Huston to Haldeman, 7/i’O. 
64’hlemorandum from Huston to Haldeman. i’/i’O. In using the word “hur- 

glary.” Huston said he sought to “escalate the rhetoric . . to make it as 
bold as possible.” He thought that, as a staff man, he should give the President 
“the worst possible interpretation of what the recommendation would result 
in.” (Huston deposition. 5/22/75. p. 69.) 

&1q Huston deposition. S/22/75. p. 8. 
“’ M~morandnm from Tom Charles Huston to Jntelligence Directors, ‘i/23/70. 
“’ Memorandum from Sulliran to DeLoach, 4/14/70. 
sm An assistant to the head nf the Defense Jntelligence Agency recalls agreeing 

with his superior that the memorandum from Hustnn to the intelligence dirertnrs 
shnved that the White House had “passed that one down ahnnt as low as they 
could go” and that the absence of signatures by the President or his ton aides 
indicated “That a hot potato it was.” (Staff summary of James Stillwell inter- 
riew. 5/21/75.) 

“’ Nitchell testimony, 10/24/55, Hearings. Vol. 4, p. 122. 
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Despite my clear-cut and specific opposition to the lifting of 
the various investigative restraints referred to above and to 
t,he creation of a permanent interagency committee on do- 
mestic intelligence, the FBI is prepared to implement the 
instructions of the White House at your direction. Of course, 
we would continue to seek your specific authorization, where 
appropriate, to utilize the various sensitive investigative 
techniques mvolred in individual cases.5j3 

CIA Director Helms shortly thereafter indicated his support for the 
plan to the Attorney General, telling him “WP had put our backs into 
this exercise ” 554 Nonetheless, Mitchell advised the President to with- 
draw his al;proval.““j Huston was told to rescind his memorandum, 
and the White House Situation Room dispatched a message requesting 
its return.5jG 

(3) Iml,lementation.-The President’s withdrawal of approval for 
the “H&on plan” did not, in fact, result in the termination of either 
the NSA program for covering the communications of Smericans or 
the CIA mail-opening program. These programs continued without 
the formal authorization which had been hoped for.“57 The directors 
of the CIA and NSA also continued to explore means of expanding 
their involvement in, and access to, domestic intelligence.558 A new 
group, the Intelligence Evaluation Committee (IX), was created by 
Attorney General Mitchell within the Justice Department to consider 
such expansion.5”9 NSX, CL4. Army counterintelligence, and the FBI 

M3 Memorandum from Hoover to Mitchell, 7/25/70. 
“’ Helms memorandum for the record, ‘7/28;70. 
w Jlitchell. 10/24/75, Hearings. Vol. 4, p. 123. 
658 Huston deposition, 5/23/75, p. 56; staff summary of David BIcManus inter- 

view, 7/l/75. 
%‘Director Helms thinks he told Attorney General Mitchell about the CIA 

mail program. Helms also believes President Nixon may have known ahout the 
nrogram although Helms did not nersonallv inform him. (Helms, 10/22/75, 
Hearings. Vol. 4:nn. 88-89.) JIitchell denied that Helms told him of a CIA mail- 
opening program- and testified that the President had no knowledge of the 
program, “at least not as of the time xve discussed the Huston Plan.” (Mitchell, 
j/24/75. Hearings, Vol. 4, pp. 120, 138.) 

W In Xarch 1971. SSA Director Soel Gavler and CIA Director Helms met with 
Attorney General Mitchell and Director Hoover. According to Hoover’s memo- 
randum of the meeting, it had been arranged hv Helms to discuss “a hroadening 
of operations, partirularly of the very confidential type in covering intelligence 
both domestic and foreien.” Hoover was aeain “not enthusiastic” because of 
“the hazards involved.” 3‘iitrhell asked Helms’and Gavler to prepare “an in-depth 
examination” of the collection methods they desired. (Memorandum for the files 
hy J. Edgar Hoover, 4/12/71.) It was less than two months after this meeting 
that. according to a CIA memorandum. Director Helms hriefed Mitchell on the 
mail program.’ (CIA memorandum for the record, G/3/71.) Even before this meet- 
ing, SSA Director Gnvler sent a memorandum to Attorney General Mitchell and 
Defense Serretarv JIelrin Lnird describing “SSA’s Contribution to Domestic 
Intelligence.” This memnrandnn~ refers to a discussion with hot11 Mitchell and 
Laird on how X8.1 could assist with “intelligeuce bearing on domestic problems.” 
The memorandum mentioned the monitoring of foreign support for subversive 
activities. as well as for drug trafficking. although it did not discuss sperificnllp 
the SS.\ “Watch List” of Amerirans. (Memoralldnni from SSA Director Soel 
Gayler to the Serretnrv of Defenre and the dttornev General. .Jnnuarv 26, 1971.) 
SSA offirial Benson Bnfflian~ recorded that he personally showed this memo- 
r;11rdn771 to JIitrhell and had been told b,v the Military Assistant to Secretary 
T.aird that the Secretary had read and agreed with it. (Memorandum for the 
rerord b.v Benson I<. Buffham. 2/3/Z.) 

558 Memorandum from Assistant Attorney General Robert Mardian to Attorney 
General Mitchell, 12/4/70. 
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each sent representatives to the IEC. X%4 Director Gayler provided 
the IEC with a statement of S&Y’s capabilities and procedures for 
supplying domestic intclligence.“GO Although the IEC merely evalu- 
ated raw intelligence data, over 90 percent of which came to it 
through the FBI, it had accrss to domestic intelligence from KSA 
coverage and the CL.43 mail-opening and CH140S programs, which 
was channeled to the FBI jG1 

Two of the specific reEommendations in the “Huston Plan” were 
thereafter implemented by the FBI-the lowering of the age limit 
for campus informants from 21 to 18 and the resumption of “legal mail 
COVerS.” 562 Two men I\-ho had participated in developing the “Huston 
Plan” were promoted to positions of greater influence within the 
Bureau.563 More important the Bureau greatly intensified its domestic 
intelligence investigations in the fall of 107b without using “clearly 
illegal” techniques. The Key Black Extremist Program was inaugu- 
rated and field offices were instructed to open approximately 10,500 
new investigations, including investigations of all black student groups 
“regardless of their present or past involvement in disorders.” All 
members of “militant XeFv Left campus organizations” were also to be 
investigated even if they were not, “known to be violence prone.” The 
objective of these investigations was 
“actual extremists.” 564 

“to identify potential” as well as 

The chief of the Domestic Intelligence Division in 1970 said the 
“Huston Plan” had “nothing to do” with the FBI’s expanded intelli- 
pence activities. Rather, both the “Huston Plan” and the Bureau inten- 
sification represented the same effort by FBI intelligence officials “to 
recommend the types of action and programs which they thought 
necessary to cope wi*th the problem. ” 565 Brennan admit.s that. “the FBI 
was getting a tremendous amount of pressure from the White House,” 
although he attributes this pressure to demands from “a vast majority 
of the American people” who wanted to knolv “why something masn% 
being done” about violence and disruption in the country.566 

6. Political intelligence 

The FBI practice of supplying political information to the White 
HOUSC and’ on occasion, responding to White House requests for 
such information was established before 1964. However, under the 
administrations of President Lyndon Johnson and Richard Xixon, 
this practice grew to unprecedented dimcnsions.56’ 

(1) Fame Check* RPqzteafs.-IVhitr House aides serving under Presi- 
dents .Johnson and Nixon made numerous requests for “name checks” 

KBo Memorandnm from Ga~ler to Laird and 1Iitrhell. l/26/71 
w1 For a discussion of the FBI as “consumer.” see pp. 107-109. 
562The reslmlption of mail corers is discussed ahove at footnote 528. FRI 

field offices were inctrncted that they cnnld recruit I%21 year-old informers in 
Scntemher 1970. (SAC Ietter No. 70-M. 9/15/70.) See. p. 76. 

683The head of the FRI Domestic Tntellieencr IErisinn. William C. Snllirnn. 
--as promoted to he Assistant to the Director fnr all investigative and intelli- 
gence activities. His successor in charge of the Domestic Intelligence Division 
was Charles IP. Rrennan. 

%’ Eserntives Cnnferenw to Tnlson, 10/29/71I : Memoranclnm from FRI Hcad- 
qiiarters to all S.4C.s. 71/a/70. 

6G Rrennan denonition. 9/23/7X. nn. 2X31 
508 Rrrnnnn testimony. 9/25/75. Hearinrrs. Vol. 2. n. 108. 
“‘!I%P inrnlrement of the Central Tntelliaence Agency in improper attirities 

for the White House is described in the Rockefeller Commission Report, Ch. 14. 
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of FBI files to elicit all Enreau information on particular critics of 
~~11 administration. ,Johnson aides requested such reports on critics 
of the escalating war in ~-ietnan~.“Gq President ,Jolmso~~‘s assistants 
XISO requested name checks on members of the Senate staff of Presi- 
dential candidate Barry Goldwater in 1964,jc” on ,Justice and Treasury 
Department officials responsible for a phase of the criminal invest]- 
gation of ~Johnson’s former aide Bobby Baker,j”“” on the authors of 
books critical of the Warren Commission report,570 and on prominent 
newsmen.571 President Sixon’s aides asked for similar name checks 
on anot,her newsman! the Chairman of Ame.ricans for Democratic 
Xction, and the producer of a film critical of the J?residcnt.5’z 

According to a memorandum by Director Hoover, Vice President 
Spiro Ameb received ammunition from Bureau files that could be 
used in Gdestroying [the] credibilitv” of Southern Christian Lead- 
ership Conferen’ce leader Reverend Ralph Abernathy.573 

(2) Democratic National Gonve?? tion, Atlrrntic City, 1964.-On 
August 22, 1061, at the request of the White House, the FBI sent 
a “special squad” to the Democratic National Convention site in 
Atlantic City, New Jersey. The squad was assigned to assist the 
Secret, Service in protecting President Lyndon Johnson and to ensure 
that the convention itself would not be marred by civil disruption. 

But it went beyond these functions to report political intelligence 
to the White House. Approximately ‘30 Special Agents. headed by 
Assistant Director Cartha DeLoach, “were able to keep the White 
House fully apprised of all major developments during the Con- 
vention’s course” by means of “informant coverage, by use of various 
confidential techniques, by infiltration of key pr&ps through use of 
undercover agents, and through utilization of agents using appro- 
priate corer as reporters.” 574 Among these “confidential techniques” 
were,: a wiretap on the hotel room occupied by Dr. Martin Luther 
King, Jr., and microphone surveillance of a storefront serving as head- 
quarters for the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee and 
another civil rights organization.575 

sBB Letter from J. Edgar Hoover to Marvin Watson, 6/4/65. 
mMemorandum from Hoover to Jloycrs, 10/27/64, cited in FBI summary 

memorandum, subject : Senator Barry Goldwater, l/31/75. 
w” Jfemorandum from DeLoach to Tolson, l/17/67. 
6’0Memorandum from Hoover to Marvin Watson, U/8/66. 
si18~e Finding on Political Ahnse. p. 225. 
“‘T etter from .J. Edgar Hoover to *John D. Ehrlichman, 10/6/69; House 

.JudiriarF Committee Hearings. Statement of Information (1974), Book VII, 
p. 1111; Book VIII, p. la?. Director Hoover volunteered information from 
Rureau files to thp Johnson White House on the ,author of a play satirizing the 
President. (Jfemorandum from Hoover to Watson. l/9/67.) 

“’ Jfrmnrandum fmm Hoover to Tolson. ct al., 5/N/70. A&w admits having 
rewired snrh information. hut denies having asked for it. (Staff summ&ry of 
Spiro Agnew intwriew, 10/15/75.) 

5“~Temnrandum from C. D. DeLoach to Mr. Mohr. s/29/64. 
“’ DpLnach memorandum. s/29/64 : Carthn DeJ,narh testimony, 12/3/75. Hear- 

ing% Vol. 6, p. 177. A 1975 FRT Inspection Report has speculated that the 
SNCC hug may have been planted berause the Rureau had information in 19M 
that “an apparent member of thp Cnmmunist Partv. TJRA, was engaging in 
con+rlwnhlc 3ctirit.v. mnrh in a Ieadwship rapacity in the Student Xnnvinlent 
Coordinating Committee.” (FBI summary memorandum. l/30/75.) It is unclear, 
hnwrer. whcthrr this hue XIS rwn approved internally 1)~ FRI Headquarters, 
as nrrlinnril~ required 11~ Bnrenn pmcednres. DeI,nnch stated in a contempo- 
raneous memorandum that the microphone surveillance of SSCC was instituted 

(Continued) 
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Neither of the electronic surveillances at Atlantic City were spe- 
cifically authorized by the Attorney General. At that time, Justice 
Department procedures did not require the written approval of the 
Attorney General for bugs such as the one directed against SNCC in 
Atlant\ic City. Bureau officials apparently believed that the wiretap 
on King was justified as an extension of Robert Kennedy’s October 10, 
1963, approval for surveillance of Kin, 0‘ at his then-current address 
in Atlanta, Georgia, or at any future address to which he might 
move.576 The only recorded reason for institutin.g the wiretap on Dr. 
King in Atlantic City, however, was set forth In an internal memo- 
randum prepared shortly before the Convention : 

Martin Luther King, Jr., head of the Sout,hern Christian 
Leadership Conference (SCLC), an organization set, up to 
promote integration which we are investigating to deter- 
mine the extent of Communist Party (CP) influence on King 
and the SCLC, plans to attend and possibly may indulge in 
a hunger fast as a means of protest.577 

Walter Jenkins, an Administrative Assistant to President Johnson 
who was the recipient of information developed by the Bureau, stated 
that he was unaware that any of the intelligence was obtained by 
wiretapping or bugging. 578 DeLoach, moreover, has testified that he 
is uncertain whether he ever informed Jenkins of these sources.578 

Walter Jenkins, and presumably President Johnson, received a 
significant volume of information from the electronic surveillance 
at Atlantic City, much of it purely political and only tangentially re- 
lated to possible civil disturbances. The most important single issue 
for President Johnson at the Atlantic City Convention was the seat- 
ing challenge of the Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party to the 
regular Mississippi delegation. SO From the electronic surveillances 
of King and SNCC, the White House was able to obtain the most 
intimate details of the plans of individuals supporting the MFDP’s 
challenge unrelat.ed to the possibility of violent demonstrations. 

Jenkins received a steady stream of reports on political strategy 
in the struggle to seat the MFDP delegation and other political plans 
and discussions by the civil rights groups under surveillance.581 More- 
over, the 1975 Inspection Report stated that “several Congressmen, 

(Continued) 
“with Bureau approval.” (Memorandum from DeLoach to Bohr, 8/29/64.) But 
the Inspection Report concluded that “a thorough review of Bureau records fails 
to locate any memorandum containing [internal] authorization for same.” (FBI 
summary memorandum. l/30/75.) 

md Mr. DeLoach cited the fact that in the summer of 1964 “there was an on- 
going electronic surveillance on Dr. Martin TAuther King . . as authorized by 
Attorney General Kennedy.” (Cartha DeT,oach testimnyv. 11/%/75. p. 110) ‘T%P 
Inspection Report noted that the Special Agent in Charge of the Newark office 
n-as instructed to institute the Tiretap on the ground that “the Burenn had au- 
thoritr from the Attorney General to cnrer any residences n-hich King may 
use with a technical installation.” (FBI summary memorandum l/30/75. Sub- 
Ject: “Special Squad at Democratic National Convention. Atlantic City. Sew 
,Jersev. Bugust 2228. 1964.“) 

“’ >Temnrandum from W. C. Sullivan to A. H. Relmont. 8/21/M 
“’ Staff summarv of Walter aenkins interview-. 12/l/75. 
5’S DeT,nach. 11/2R/i5. p. 174. 
GsoTheodore White. Inking of tke Pr~niclw~t 1.964 (Sew York : Athenium. lM5). 

np. 277-280. Walter Jenkins also confirmed this characterization. (Staff sum- 
mary of Jenkins interview. 12/l/75). 

* Memorandum from DeLoach to Mohr, 8/29/&I. 
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Scllators, and Governors of States” were overheard on the Icing tap.5s2 
Accorcling to both Cartha Deloach and Kalter ,Jenkins, the Bu- 

reau% coverage in Atlantic City ~vas not designed to serve political 
ends. DeLoach testified : 

I was sent there to provide information . . . which could 
reflect on the orderly progress of the convention and the 
danger to distinguished mdividuals, and particularly the 
danger to the President of the Unitecl States, as esempli- 
fied by the many, many references [to possible civil disturb- 
ances] in the memoranda furnished Jlr. Jenkins. . . .583 

Jenkins has stated that the mandate of the FBI’s special unit did not 
encompass the gathering of political intelligence and speculated that 
the clissemination of anv such intelligence was due to the inability of 
Bureau agents to dis&uish dissident activities which represented 
a. genuine potential for violence. 584 Jenkins did not believe the White 
House ever used the incidental political intelligence that was received. 
However, a document located at the Lyndon B. Johnson Presidential 
Library suggests that at least one political use was made of Mr. De- 
Loach’s reports.585 

Thus, although it may hare been implemented to prevent violence at 
the Convention site, the Bureau’s coverage in atlantic Cit,y---which 
included two electronic surveillances-undeniably provided use,ful PO- 

litical intelligence to the President as we11.58G 
(3) By-Product of Foreign Intelligence Covercxqe.-Throu,ph the 

FBI’s coverage of certain foreign officials in Washington, D.C., tihe 
Bureau was able to comply with Presiclent Johnson’s request for re- 
ports of the contacts between members of Congress and foreign officials 
opposecl to his Vietnam policy. According to a summary memorandum 
prepa.red by the FBI : 

On March 14, 1966, then President Lyndon B. Johnson in- 
formed Mr. DeLoach [Cartha DeLoach, Assistant Director 
of the FBI] . . . that the FBI should constantly keep abreast 
of the actions of [certain foreign officials] in making contact 
with Senators and Congressmen and any citizen of a. prom- 
inent nature. The President stated he strongly felt that much 
of the protest concerning his Vietnam policy, particularly 
the hearings in the Senate, had been generated by [certain 
foreign officials] .587 

‘*’ Jfemorandllm from H. S. Bassett to Mr. Callahan, l/29/75. 
jg3 DeLoach. U/26/75. n. 139. 
58( Staff summary’ of jenkins interview, l/21/75. 
x Eshihit 68-2. Hearings, Vol. VI, p. 713. 
z86 FRI memoranda indicate that in 1968 Vice President Hubert Humphrey’s 

l?xecutire Assistant, Bill Connell. asked the Bureau to send a “srwcial team” to 
1-1~~ forthcoming Democratic Sutional Conrention. since President Johnson “al- 
1r:edl.v told the Vice President lhnt the FBI had been of ,--rent service to him and 
he had been given considerable information on a timely basis throxhout the 
entire convention.” (Memorandum from DeLoach to Tolson, R/7/68). Mter talk- 
ing with Conwll, Director Hoover advised the SAC in Chirngo that the Bureau 
was “not going to pet into anything political but anything of extreme action or 
violence contemplated ve want to let Connell know.” (Memorandum from Honrrr 
to T~~lsnn. et al.. S/15/6%) Dpmocrntic Party Treasurer John Criswell made a 
similar request. stating thnt Postmaster General Sfnrvin Watson “had informed 
him of the great serrice performed by thr FBI durin E the I.ast Democratic Cnn- 
rentinn.” (Jlemornndum from DeLnach to Tolson, S/22/68.) 

‘8~ FBI summary memorandum, 2/3/75. 
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As a result of the President’s request, the FBI prepared a chronolog- 
ical sluniilary-nppal~eiltl~ based in part on csistiiq electronic sllrvcil- 
lances-of the contacts of each Senator, Reprcsentatire, or legislative 
staff member viho communicated with sclrctcd forei,cn officials during 
the period ,Jul;v 1. 1964. to March 17. 1966. This t,T-paw snmmar;v was 
transmitted to the White House on Xarch 21, 1966, with a note that 
certain foreign officials were “making more contac.ts” with four named 
Senators “t,han with other United States legislators.” 585 A second sum- 
mary. prepared on further contacts between Congressmen and foreign 
officials, was transmitted to the Yhitc House on May 13, 1966. From 
then until the end of the Johnson -1dministration in January 1969, 
biweelclv additions to the second summary were regularly disseminated 
to the JThite H~use.~~” 

This practice was reinstituted during the Nixon Administration. 
On July 27? 1970, Larry Higby? Assistant to H. R. Haldeman, in- 
formed the Bureau that Haldeman “wanted any information pas- 

sessed b- the FBI relating to contacts between [certain foreign offi- 
cials] and Members of Congress and its staff.” Two days later, the 
Bureau provided the White House with a statistical compilation of 
such contacts from ,January l7 1967, to the present. Unlike the case of 
the information provided to the Johnson White House, however, there 
is no indication in related Bureau records that Presiclent Xxon or his 
aides were concerned about critics of t,he President’s policy. The Bu- 
reau’s reports dicl not identify individual Senators: they provided 
overall statistics and two examples of forei,? recruitment, attempts 
(with names removed) .590 

In at least one instance the FBI, at the request of the President and 
with the approval of the Attorney General, instituted an elect,ronic 
surveillance of a foreign target for the express purpose of intercept- 
ing telephone conversations of an American citizen. An FBI memo- 
randum states that shortl,v before the 1968 Presidential election, Pres- 
ident Johnson became suspicious that the South Vietnamese were 
trying to sabotage his peace negotiations in the hope that Presidential 
candidate Nixon would win the election and then take a harder line 
toIT-ard North Vietnam. To determine the validitv of this snsnicion, 
the White House instructed the FBI to institute physical surveillance 
of Mrs. Anna Chcnnault, a prominent Republican, as well as electronic 
surveillance directed a,cainst a South Vietnamese target.591 

The electronic surveillance was authorized by Attorney General 
Ramsey Clark on October 29. 1968. installed the same clay, and con- 
tinued until ,Januarv 6. 1969.5”* Thus. a “foreign” electrohic surreil- 
lance was instituted io tarret indirectlv an American citizen who could 
not be lepitimatelv surveilled directl-. Also as part of this investiga- 
tion, President dohnson personally.ordered a check of the long distance 
toll call records of Vice Presidential candidate Spiro Agnew.593 

685 FBI summary memorandum, 2/3/75. 
sw FBI summarT memorandum. 2/3/X. 
680 FRT summary memorandum. 2/3/X See Findings on Political Abuse. 
“I FRI summnrr memornndum. 2/l/75. 
582 Memorandu& from Director.’ FBI tn Attorney General, 10/2%&R : mcmo- 

mndnm from Director. FBI to Attorney General, 10/30/t%?; memorandum from 
Dirertnr. FRT to Attorney General. 3/27/69. 

Attorney General Clark testified that he was unaware of any surveillance of 
Mrs. Chennault, (Clark, 12/3/75. Hearings, Vol. 6, pp. 251-252.) 

683 See Findings on Political Abuse, p. 225. 
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(4) 1’72~ 8103cc;i77n~ice of Joseph Kt~nf’t (l%Y).-There is 110 sukkm- 
tin1 indication of any gcnuinc iiational sec.lll.itJ yatiollale for tile elec- 
tronic surveillance o\-erseas of colunmist ,Josvpl~ Kraft in 19ti9. Jolln 
Erlicliinan testified before tlic Senate \Vatcrgate C‘oinniittee that the 
national security was in\-olved, but did not elaborate furtlier.594 

13c;vond this, general clail~i, liowt~\~~~~, there is little erideiicc that anr 
national sccurlty isme v-as in\-olwtl in tlic cast. Former Deputy Attor- 
ney General and Acting FI<Z I)irector Villiam Rnckelsl~aus testified 
that, after reviewing the matter lw “could never see any national se- 
curity justification” for the sur\-cillance of K&t. Ruckelsl~aus stated 
that the dclmiiiistration’s “justification” for bugging ICraft’s hotel 
room was that lie was *%3lring questions of some members of the Sort11 
T’ietiiainese Go\-criiinciit.” I~uckelsllaus belie\-cd that this was not an 
adequate national secllrity justification for placing “any kind of sur- 
velllance on an American citizen or newsman.” 595 Xr. Kraft agreed 
that, he vas in contact, Fit11 Sort11 Yietnauitsc officials while he was 
abroad in 1069, but noted that this XLS a common practice among 
journalists and that “at the time” hc never knowinpl~ published any 
classified information.5”G 

The documentary recorcl also reveals no national security justifica- 
tion for the FI3I’s electronic surveillance of Mr. Rraft overseas. 
The one memorandum which referred to V’ossible Leaks of Informa- 
tion” by Kraft, does not indicate that there clearly n-as a leak of na- 
tional security significance or that Xr. Kraft was responsible for such 
a leak if it occlwred.597 Furthrrmore, the hotel room bug did not pro- 

duce anr evidence that &-aft received or published any classified 
information.z9s 

ES’ John Ehrlichman testimony. Senate Watergate Committee, 7/24/73, p. 2.535. 
Arcorcling to the trnnscri])t of the White House tapes, President Sison stated to 
John Dean on April l&1973 : 

“What I mean is I think in the case of the Kraft stuff x-hat the FBI did. they 
were both fine. J hare checked tt- facts. There were snme done through privatk 
sources. JIost of it was done through the Bureau after \ve got-Hoover didn’t 
want to do Kraft. What it involved apparent&, ,John, was this: the leaks from 
thr SW rSatinna1 Securitr Cnnnrill. Ther were in Kraft and others columns 
and n-e were trying to plug the leaks rind & had to get it done and finally we 
turned it over to Hnorer. And then when the hnllahaloo developed we just 
knncked it off nltogrther. . .” (Suhmissinn of Recorded Presidential Cnnversa- 
tinns tn the Cnmmittep on the Jur1iciar.v of the House of Representatives by 
President Richard Xi’isnn. 4/W/74.) The Presidpnt’n statement was made in the 
rontpst of ‘coaching’ .Jnhn Dean on TX-hat to say to the Watergate Grand Jury. 

w William Ruckleshaus testimony before the Subcommittee on Administrative 
Practice and Procedure. s/9/74. p. 320. 

-Kraft testified that Henry Kissinger, then the President’s Special Adviser 
for Satinnal Security, informed him that he had no knowledge of either the wire- 
tan or the hntcl rnnm bnz. Kraft also stated that former i\ttnrnev General Elliot 
Rirhardsnn indicated to iirn that “there was no justification for t%ese activities.” 
(.Jnse~h Kraft testimony. Senate Subcommittee on Administrative Practice and 
Prow&w, 5/10/74. p. 381.) 

w LMer from TV. C. Sullivan to 1lr. Hoover. 7/12/69. 
688While the summaries sent to Hoover by 8ulliran did show that Kraft cnn- 

tacted North Vietnamese nfficials (Letter from ~ulliran to Hoover, 7/12/M). the 
Rnrenu did not discover anv imnrnnrieties or indiscretions on his part. When 
Rnrkelshaus was asked if iis r&i& of these summaries revealed to him that 
Kraft engaged in any conduct n-hile abroad that posed a danger to the national 
swnritr. hr rqvliwl : “.4bwlntely not.” (Rnckelshnns testimony before the Suh- 
committee on Bdministratire Practice and Procedure, 5/g/74. p. 320.) 
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Similarly, there is no evidence of a national security justification 
for the physical surveillance and l~roposecl electronic surveillance of 

Kraft in t,he fall of 1969. A Bureau n~en~ora.nclun~ suggests that the 
Attorney General requestecl some t?pe of coverage of kraft,Z”g but the 
record reveals no purpose for this coverage. The physical surr-cillance 
was discontinued after fire weeks because it had “not been produc- 
tive.” -1pparcntly. the -1ttornev General himsrlf was unconvinced 
that a genuine national securit$ justification supported the Kraft 
surveillance : he refused to autho;*ize the requested wiretap, and it was 
consequently never inil~lemcnted.~OO 

(5) The “17” Wiretqs.-The relative ease J&h which high admin- 
istration officials could select. improper intelligence targets was demon- 
strated by the ‘;17’! wiretaps on Executive officials ancl newsmen in- 
stalled betlveen 1969-1971 under the. rationale of determining the 

SOLUTC of leaks of sensitive information. fxoa In three cases no national 
security claim was even advanced. While national security issues were 
at least arguwblv involrrd in the initiation of the other taps, the pro- 
gram continued‘in tx-o instances against persons who left the govern- 
ment ancl took positions as advisors to Senator Edmund Muskie, then 
the leading Democratic Presidential l~rosl~ect.Go1 

The records of these wiretaps were kept separate from the FBI’S 
regular electronic surveillance files, * 602 their duration in many cases 
went beyond the period then requirecl for re-authorization 13p the At- 
torney General; and in some cases the Attorney General did not au- 
thor& the tap until after it had begun.F03 In 1971. the records were 
removed from the FBI’s possession and sent to the White House. 

Thus. misuse of the FBI had progressed 1);~ 19.71 from the regular 
receipt by the VlCte House of polltlcal “tid-bits” and occasional re- 
quests for name checks of Bureau files to the use of a full array of 
intelligence operations to serve the political interests of the admin- 
istrat,lon. The final irony was that the Sison administration came to 
distrust Director Hoover% reliability and, consequently, to develop a 
White House-basecl covert intelligence operation.604 

C. The Justice Departmen.t’s Internal Security Divisi~t 
FBI intelligence reports flowed consistently to the Justice Depart- 

ment. especially to the TDIU established by Attorney General Clark 
in 1967 and to the Internal Security Division. Before 1971, the Justice 
Department provided little guidance to the FBI on the proper scope 
of domestic intelligence investigations .605 For example, in response to 
a Bureau inquiry in 1964 about whether a group’s activities came 
“within the criteria” of the employee securit,y program or were “in 

688 Memorandum from W. C. Sullivan to Mr. DeLoach, U/4/69 
w” Memorandum from Sullivan to DrLoach. 12/11/69. 
Bw’ For discussion of dissemination of political intelligence from the “1’7” wire- 

taps, see Finding nn Political Abuse, p. 225. 
8o1 Sen. Edmund Muskie testimony, Senate Foreign ReIations Committee, 

9/10/7X Esecntire Srwinn. pn. .%&51. 
soa Memorandum from W. C. Sullivan to C. D. DeLoach, 5/11/69. 
B”3Report of thy House Judiciary Committee. fi/BO/C4. pp. 14&1.54. 
w!l%e creation of the “plumbers” unit in the White House led inexorably to 

Watergate. See Report of the House Judiciary Committee, S/20/74, pp. 157-162, 
16&170. 

‘Oi An example of a generalized Departmental instruction is Attorney General 
Clark’s order of September 1967 (see p. 79) regarding civil disorders. 
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violation of any other federal statute, 
sion replied that there was 

” 6oG the Internal Security Divi- 
“insuficient evidence” for prosecution and 

that the gronp’s leatlers were “becoming more cautions in their ut- 
terances.” (joy Sevcrthcless, the FBI contmued for years to investigate 
tile goup wit11 tile liwwledge ax1 approval of tile I>ivision. 

(1) The “h’ew” Internal Security Dieisio?z..-When Robert Mardian 
was appointed Assistant -4ttorney (;eneral in late 1970, the Internal 
Security Division assumed a more active posture. In fact, one of the 
alternatives to implementatiol~ of the “Huston Plan” suggested to 
Attorney General John Mitchell by White House aide John Dea.n 
was the invigoration of the Division. 6o8 This included Jlardian’s es- 
tablishment of the IEC to prepare domestic intelligence estimates. 
Equally significant. however: was Xardian‘s preparation of a new 
Esecutlre Order on federal eml)loyee security. The new order assigned 
to the moribund Subrersire .4cti\-ities Control Board the function of 
designating groups for what had been the “Attorney General’s 
list. ” 60g This attempt, to assign broad new functions bv Esectltive fiat 
td a Board with limited statutory responsibilities clearly disregarded 
the desires of the Con,rrress.610 

According to Mardlan, there. was a “problem” because the list had 
“not been updated for 17 years.” He expected that the revitalized 
SACB wo~rld “deal specifically with the revohItionnr~/terrorist or- 
ganizations which have recently become a part of our history.” 611 

Assistant Attorney General Mardian’s views coincided with those 
of FBI Assistant Director Brennan, who had seen a need to compile 
massive data on the “Xew Left” for fut.ure employee security pur- 
poses.612 Since FBI intelligence invest.igations were based in part on 
the standards for the “,\ttorney General’s list.” the new Executive 
Order substantially redefined and expanded FBI authority. The new 
order included groups who advocated the use of force to deny individ- 
ual rights w&r the “laws of anv State” or to overthrow the povern- 
ment of L’8any State or subdivision thereof.” 613 The new order also 
continued to use the term “subversive,” although it was theoretically 
more restrictive than the previous standard for the Attorney Gen- 
eral’s list because it required ‘Lunlawful” advocacy. 

B”Jlemorandnm from FBI Director to Peagley, l/31/64. 
BwMemorandum from Yeaglep to FBI Director, 3/3/W There was no reau- 

thorization of the continnine inrestieation between 1966 and 1974. 
w Memorandum from Dean to Mitchell, 9/N/70. 
BoB Erecntive Order 7 1605, 7/71. 
810 Ry 1971. the SL%CB had the limited function of making findings that sDe- 

rific individuals and groups were Communist. Its registration of Communist had 
been declared unconstitutional. [AZbwtdo?l v. &‘ubz;ersi?‘e Activities Control Board, 
38” U.S. io cl!%.?,.1 

811 Robert C. Mardian, address before the Atomic Ener,qv Commission Security 
Conference, Washinzton. D.C. 10/2i/il. Mardian added that the “problem” was 
that, withont an updated, formal list of subversive organizations, federal agen- 
cies \wre required “to individually evaluate information regarding membership 
in allqedly snbwrsire organizations based on raw data furnished by the Fed- 
eral Bureau of Inl-estigation or other governmental sources.” 

‘I’ Rrennnn testimony. 9/25/iEi. Hearings, Vol. 2, 11&117. 
m3Erecutire Order ~1605. i/71. By contrast. the prior order had been limited 

to zronns seckinp forcil)le violation nf rights “under the Constitution of the 
United States” or seeking “to alter the form of government of the United States 
h.v unconstitutional means.” Executive Order 10450 (1933). 
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Mardian made it clear that, under the order, the FBI was to provide 
intelligence to the Subversive Activities Control Board : 

We have a new brand of radical in this country and we are 
trying to address ourselves to the new situation. With the in- 
vestigative effort of the FBI, we hope to present petitions 
to the Board in accordance with requirement of the Execu- 
tive Order.614 

FBI intelligence officials learned that the Internal Security Division 
intended to “initiate proceedings against the Black Panther Party, 
Progressive Labor Party, Young Socialist Alliance, and Ku Klux 
Klan.” They also noted: “The language of Executive Order 11605 
is very broad and generally coincides with the basis for our investiga- 
tion of extremist groups. ” 615 Mardian had, in effect, provided a new 
and wider “charter” for FBI domestic intelligence.616 

(2) The ~ullica?2-illal,clian, ReZatimsl~ip.--ln 1971, Director Hoover 
expressed growing concern over the close relationship developing 
between his FBI subordinates in the Domestic Intelligence Division 
and the Internal Security Division under Jlardian. For example, when 
FBI intelligence officials met with Mardian% principal deputy, 
,4. William Olsen, to discuss “proposed changes in procedure” for the 
Attorney General’s authorization of electronic surveillance, Hoover 
reiterated instructions that Bureau officials be “ver? careful in our 
dealings” with Mardian. Moreover, to h’ave a source of legal advice 
independent of the Justice Department, the FBI Director created a 
new position of Assistant Director for Legal Counsel and required that 
he attend “at any time officials of the Department are being contacted 
on any policy consideration which affects the Bureau.” 617 

In the summer of 1971, William C. Sullivan openly challenged FBI 
Director Hoover. possibly counting on JIardian and ,ittornep General 
Mitchell to back him up and oust Hoover. 618 Sullivan charged in one 
memorandum to Hoover that other Bureau officials lacked “objectiv- 
ity” and “independent thinking” and that “they said what they did 
because they thought this was what the Director wanted them to 
sav 7: 619 

‘ihortly thereafter, Director Hoover appointed 1’. Mark Felt, for- 
merly Assistant Director for the Inspection Division?, .to a newly cre- 
ated position as Sullivan’s superior . -4pparentl;v reallzinp that he was 
on his way out, Sullivan gave Sssistnnt llttorney General Mardian the 
FBI’s documents recording the authorization for, and dissemination 

Q’ Hearings on the appropriation for the Department of Justice before the 
House Subcommittee on Appropriations, 92nd Cony., 2nd Sess., (1972), p. 673. 

a5 Inspection Report, FBI Domestic Intelligence Division, Bugust 17-Sep- 
tembrr 9, 1971. 

‘I8 The hostile Congressional reaction to this Order. xvhich shifted duties by 
Kkwutire fiat to a Board created hr statute for other nurnoses. led to the death 
of the SACB when no appropriation &as granted in 1972: A ’ 

‘Ii FBI Executives Conference Memorandum. 6/2/71. The first Assistant Direc- 
tor for Legal Counsel was Dwight DalbeF. who had for years been in charge of 
the legal training of Bureau agents. Dalbey’s elevation ear& in 1971. and Hoover’s 
requirement that he review all legal aspects of FBI policy. including intelligenre 
matters. was a ma,jor change in Bureau procedure. (Memnrandum from Hoover to 
,\11 Bureau Officials and Supervisors, 3/R/71.) 

m8 FBI Summary of Interview with Robert Jlardinn, s/10/73, pp. l-3. 
Q8Memorandum from Sullivan to Hoover, 6/16/71. 
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of, information from the ‘ili” wiretaps placed on Executive officials 
and nc\vsmen in l!K9-1971. The absence of these nlaterials was not dis- 
covered by otller FBI officials until after Sullivan was forced to resign 
in September 19T1.6’” Mardian cvcntuallv took part in the transfer of 
theye records to the Vhite House.G” ” 

Thus, the Attornev General’s princ~ipal assistant for internal secu- 
rity collaborated with a ranking FBI official to conceal vital records, 
ultimately to be secreted away,in the White House. This provides a 
striking example of the manner in which channels of legitimate author- 
ity within the Executive Branch can be abused. 

d. The FBZ’s Secret “Administmtice Index’? 

In the fall of 1971, the FBI confronted the prospect of the first seri- 
ous Congressional curtailment of domestic intelligence investiga- 
tions-repeal of the Emergency Detention ,4ct of 19X-and set a 
course of evasion of the mill of Congress which continued, partly with 
,Justice Depart,ment approval, until 1973. 

An FBI Inspection Report viewed the prospect of the repeal vvith- 
out great alarm. In the event the Act was repealed, the FBI intended 
to continue as before under “the Government’s inherent right to pro- 
tect itself internally.” 6Z2 After the repeal took place, Bureau officials 
elaborated the following rationale for keeping the Security Index of 
“potentially dangerous subversives :” 

Should this country come under attack from hostile forces, 
foreign or domestic, there is nothing to preclude the President 
from going before a joint session of Congress and requesting 
necessary authority to apprehend ant1 tletain those who would 
constitute a menace to national defense. At this point, it 
would be absolutely essential to have an immediate list, such 
as the SI, for use in making such apprchensions.623 [Em- 
phasis added.] 

Thus, FBI officials hoped there would be a way to circumvent the 
repeal “in which the essence of the Security Index and emergency 
detention of dangerous individuals could be utilized under Presiden- 
tial powers.” 624 

Bssistant Director Dwight Dalbeg, the FBI’s Legal Counsel? recom- 
mended writing to the attorney General for (‘a reassessment” m order 
to “protect” the Bureau in ease “some spokesman of the extreme left” 
claimed that repeal of the Detention Act eliminated FBI authority 
for domest,ic intelligence activity. Dalbey agreed that, since the Act 
“could easily be put back in force should an emergency convince Con- 

aw Memorandum from T. J. Smith to E. S. Bliller. 5/13/73. pp. 1.8. 
821 FBI Summary of Interview with Robert Mardian, i/10/73, pp. 2-3. The 

Watergate Special Prosecutor investigated these events. and did not find suffi- 
cient evidence of criminal conduct to bring an indirtment. Homcrer, they occurred 
at the time of intense White House pressure to rlerelop a criminal prosecution 
against Daniel Ellsberg over the Pentagon Papers matter. The dismissal of 
charges against Ellsherg in 1973 was largely due to the belated discorerg of the 
fart that Ellsherg had been overheard on a nirctap indicated in these records, 
xrhich were withheld from the court. preventing its determination of the perti- 
nency of the material to the Ellsberg case. 

e Tnspection Report. Domestic Intellieence Dirisinn. S/17-9/9/71, p. 98. 
En Memnrandum from R. II Cotter to E. S. Miller, g/21/71. 
824 Memorandum from Cotter to Miller, g/17/71. 
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gress of its need,” the Bureau should “have on hand the necessary 
action information pertaining to individuals.” G25 Thereupon, a. letter 
was sent to Attorney General Mitchell proposing that the Bureau be 
allowed to “maintain an administrative index” of individuals who 
“pose a threat. to the internal security of the country.” Such an index 
would be a,n a.id to the Bureau in discharging its “investigative re- 
sponsibility.” However, the letter made no reference to the theory pre- 
vailing within the FBI that the new “administrative index” would 
serve as the basis for a revived detention program in some future 
emergency.625a 

Thus? when the Attorney General replied that the repeal of the Act 
did not prohibit the FBI from compiling an “administr+ive index” 
to make “readily retrievable” the “results of its invest.igatlons,” he did 
not deal with the question of whether the index would also serve as a 
round-up list for a future emergency. The attorney General also stated 
that the Department did not “desire a copy” of the new index, abdicat- 
ing even the minimal supervisory role performed previously by the 
Internal Security Division in its review of the names on the Sef\urity 
Index.626 FBI officials realized that they were “now in a position to 
make a sole determination as to which individuals should be included 
in an index of subversive individuals.” W’ 

There were two major consequences of the new system. First,, the 
new “administratire index” (ADEX) was expa,nded to include an 
elastic category : “the new breed of subversire.“628 Second, the pre- 
vious Reserve Index, which had never been disclosed to the Justice 
Depa.rtment, was incorporated into the ADEX. It included “teachers, 
writers, la-ivyers, etc.” who did not. actively participate in subve,rsive 
activity “but who were nevertheless influential in espousing their 
respective philosophies.” It was est.imated that the total case load under 
the ,4DEX would be “in excess of 23,000.” ~2~ 

One of the FBI standards for placing someone on the ,4DEX list 
demonstrates the vast breadth of the list and the assumption that it 
COUICI be used as the basis for detention in an emergency : 

An individual who, although not a member of or participant 
in activities of revolutionary organizations or considered an 
activist in affiliated fronts, has exhibited a revolutionary 
ideology and is likely to seize upon the opportunity presented 

-- 
Baj?\lemorandum from D. J. Dalhev to C. Tolson, Q/24/71. 
@’ Memorandum from Hoover to Mitchell, 9/30/71. 
a= Memorandum from Mitchell to Hoover, 10/22/71. 
an Memorandum from T. J. Smith to E. S. Miller, 11/U/71. It was noted that in 

the past the Department had “frequently removed individuals” from the Security 
Index because of its strict “legal interpretation.” 

ma This new breed was described as follows : 
“He map adhere to the old-line rerolutibnary concepts but he is unaffiliated 

with any organization. He may belong to or follow one New Left-tsDe grouD today 
and another tomorrow. He may simplr belong to the loosely knit $ou$ ofrevoli- 
tionaries who have no particular political philosophy bnt who continuously plot 
the overthrow of our Government. He is the nihilist who seeks only to destroy 
America.” 

“On the other hand, he may be one of the revolutionary black extremists who, 
while perhaps influenced by groups such as the Black Panther Party. is also 
unnfWiated either permanently or temporarily with any black organization but 
with a seething hatred of the Tvhitr establishment will assassinate, explode, or 
otherwise destroy white America.” (T. J. Smith to E. S. Miller, 11/11/71.) 

m Memorandum from T. J. Smith to E. S. Miller, 11/11/71. 



127 

by natiod emergemy to commit acts of espionage or sabo- 
tage, including acts of terrorism, assassination or 071~ infe?*- 
ference with or threat to the survival and effective operation 
of the national, state, and local governments and of the defense 
efforLs. [Emphasis aclclecl.]G30 

These criteria were supplied to the Justice Department in 1972, and 
the Attorney General did not question the fact that the *IDES was 
more than an administrative aid for conducting investigations, as 

he had previously been told.G31 
A Bureau memorandum indicates that “representatives of the De- 

partment” in fact agreed with the view that there might be “cir- 
cumstances” where it would be necessary “to quickly identify persons 
who were a threat to the national security” and that the President 
could then go to Congress “for emergency legislation permitting ap- 
prehension and detention.” 632 

Thus, although the Attorney General did not formally authorize 
the ADEX as a continuation of the previous detention list, there was 
informal Departmental knowledge that the FBI would proceed on that 
basis. One FBI official later recognized that the ADEX could be 
“interpreted as a means to circumvent repeal of the Emergency 
Detention Act.” 633 

8. Reconsidemtion of FBI Authority 
In February 1971, the Subcommittee on Constitutional Rights of 

the Senate Judiciary Committee began a series of hearings on federal 
data banks and the Bill of Rights which marked a crucial turning point 
in the development of domestic intelligence policy. The Subcommittee, 
chaired by Senator Sam J. Ervin of North Carolina, reflected growing 
concern among Americans for the protection of “the privacy of the 
individual against the ‘information power’ of government.” 634 

Largely in response to this first serious Congressional inquiry into 
domestic’intelligence policy, the army curtailed its extensive surveil- 
lance of civilian political actirity. The Senate inquiry also led, after 
Director Hoover’s death in 19% to reconsideration by the FBI of the 
legal basis for its domestic intelligence activities and eventually to a 
request to the Attorney General for clarification of its authority.635 

63o Memorandum from FBI Headquarters to all S.4Cs, 11/15/71. 
831Xlemorandum from Hoover to Mitchell, Z/10/72 ; cf. memorandum from 

Hoover to Mitchell, S/30/71 for the previous statement. 
832 Memorandum from T. J. Smith to E. S. Miller, S/29/72. 
633 Jlemorandum from Domestic Intelligence Division. Position Paper: Scope 

of Authority, Jurisdiction and Responsibility in Domestic Intelligence Investiga- 
tions. 7/31/72. 

w Federal Data Banks, Hearings, Opening Statement of Senator Ervin, Febru- 
ar.v23.1971, p. 1. Senator Ervin declared that a major objective of the inquiry was 
to look into “programs for taking official note of law-abiding people who are active 
politically or who participate in community activities on social and political 
issues.” The problem. as Senator Errin saw it, was that there were citizens 
who felt “intimidated” by these programs and were “fearful about exercising their 
righIts under the First Amendment to sign petitions, or to speak and \vrite freely 
on current issues of Gorcrnment policy.” The ranking minority member of the 
Subcommittee. Senator Roman Hruska, endorsed the need for a “penetrating and 
sw;ching” inquiry. (Hearings, pp. 4, 7.) 

.ilsn during JIarch 1971. an FRT offirr in Media. Pennsylvania was broken 
into : a substantial nnmlwr of docnments were remored and soon began to appear 
in the press. One of these was captioned COTSTEI,PRO. The Burenu reacted 
by ordering its field offices to “discontinue” COISTELPRO operations “for 

(Continued) 
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a. Det~elopmtw ts in 197,?-1974 
There is no indication that FBI ‘bguidelines” material or the FBI 

Xannal provisions tlwmsclves were submitted to, or requested by, tile 
,Jnsticc Dcpartnlent prior to 197~. 3 G3G Indcecl, when Dcput~ Attorney 
General Richard Rlcindicnst tcstificd in Fchrnar\- 1Vi5! at the hear- 
ings on his nomination to be A1ttornc>- General, he stated that he was 
“not sure” what gliidelines wcrc wed 1)~ the FBI. Klcinclienst also 
stated that he belie\-rd FBI investigations vxc *‘restricted to criminal 
conduct or the likelihood of criminal conduct.” GRY Director Hoover 
noted on a newspaper report of the testimony. “Prepare succinst memo 
to him on our guidelines.” 638 

_U’tcr Hoowr’s death in 197% $1 shnrl) split derelol)ed within the 
Domestic Intelligence DiGion over whether or not the Burtan should 
continue to rely on the various Esrcuti\-e Orders as a basis for its 
autliority.G39 

,\cting Director Gray postponed making npg formal decisions on 
this matter; he dicl not formally request adr-we from the Attorney 
Gcneral.G40 Meanwhile, the Domestic Intelligence Division proceeded 

(Continued) 
security reasons because of their sensitirit?.” It was suggested, however. that 
“counter-intelligence action” would be considered “in escrl~tinnnl instances” so 
long as there were “tight procedures to insure absolute secrecy.” (Memorandum 
from IIrennan to Sullivan, 4/27/71; $lemorandum from FBI Headquarters to all 
SAC’s 4/28/71.) For actions taken thereafter, see COISTELI’RO report. 

“‘.tfter repeal of the Emergency Detention kt in the fall of 1971, the FBI’s 
Assistant Director for 1,eeal Counsel recommended that the Bureau’s renuest 
for ,approval of its new AIkX also include a mnre general request for re-affirma- 
tinn of FBI domestic intelligence authority to investigate “sulwrrsire activity.” 
(Memorandum from D. .J. Dalber to Mr. To&on. g/24/71.) The letter to the attor- ,. 

nep General reviewed the line of “Presidential directives” from 1939 to 1953. 
(Memorandum from Hoover to Mitchell, g/30/71.) The Attorney General replied 
with a general endorsement of FBI authority to investigate “subrersire activ- 
ities.” (Memorandum from Mitchell to Hoover. 10/22/71.) 

w Richard Kleindienst testimony, Senate Judikary Committee, 2/?4/‘i’1, p. CJ 
835 FBI routing slip attached to JVnrhi)1qfon Poxt article. 2/24/Z. The FBI’s 

summary of its “guidelines,” submitted to the ,4ttorney General stated that its 
investigations were partly based on criminal statutes, but that “subversive nctir- 
ity . often does not clearly involve a specific section of a specific statute.” 
Thus. investigations were also bared on thr 1939 Roosevelt directives which were 
said to hare been “reiterated nxd b?wctlo~crl by subsequent Directives.” /Attach- 
ment to Hoover memorandum to Kleindienst. 2/25/72.) (Emphasis added.) 

BmThe background for this development may be summarized as fc~llnws: In 
May 1972, FBI intelligence officials prepared a “position paper” for Scting Direc- 
tor I,. Patrick GraF. This paper merely rerited the xarinus Presidential directives, 
Executive Orders, delimitation agreements. and general authorizations from the 
Attnrnw General. with no attemnt at analrsis. (FBI Domestic Intellieence Divi- 
sion. Position Paper : Investigations o’f Sui~rminn. 5/19/72.) Assistant Director 
E. R. Miller. head of the Domestic Intelligence Division. withdrew this paper at ,a 
conference with Gray and other top Bureau officials : Jliller then initiated worli 
on a more estensire position paper, which was completed in July. It concluded 
that domestic intelligence investigations ccnld prarticahl,v be baled on the “cnn- 
crpt” that their purpose was “tn prevent a violation of ,a statute.” The paper also 
indicated that the ADEX vwald br revised so that it could not be “interpreted as 
a means to circumvent repeal of the Emewency Detention Act.” (FBI Dnnrwtic~ 
Intelligence Division: Position Paper: Scope of FBI Authority, 7/31/72; T. J. 
Smith to E. S. Miller. 8/l/72.) 

&lo Gray did order that the Bureau shnnld indicate its “jurisdictional authority” 
to investigate in every rnse, “by citing the pertinent prnrision of the I’.%. Cndp. 
or other ,nuthnrity.” and also that the Bureau should “indicate whether or not 
an inr-eatigfltion was directed 11,x- D.J (Department of Justice). or n-e opened it 
n*ithnut any request from D.T.” In the latter case, the Bureau was to “cite our 
reasons.” (FBI routing slip, S/27/72.) 
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A revision of the FBI Manual v-as completed !~y Nay 19?3. It was 

descrilwd as % major step” auxv front “hearv relm~cc upon Presiden- 
t ial Directi\-es” to an al~l~roach ‘“based on existing Federal statutes.G4” 
,1khougll field offices xere instructed to “close” investigations not 
meeting tile new criteria. headqnarters did not want “a massire rwiew 
on crash basis” of all existing cas~s.~“’ 

After a series of regional conferences with field office superrisors. 
the standards were yevised to allox greater flcsibility.G’z For the first 
time in FBI history: a copy of the Manual section for “domestic sub 
rersire inrestigations7’ was sent to the Attorney General.G4F 

After Clarence JI. Kelley WC confirmed as FBI Director, he au- 
thorized a request fol pnidance from Attornef Genei*al Elliot Rich- 
ardson.“” IlelleT advised that it “would be folly’! to limit the Burean 

011 One official observed that there were “some individuals non- included in 
-IDES even though they do not realistically pose a threat to the national secu- 
ritv.” IIe added that tllii: would leave the Burcaii “in a vnlnernl~le position if our 
guidelines tvere to be scrutinized by interested Congressional Committees.” (JIem- 
orandnm from T. J. Smith to E. S. Miller, 8/29/72.) 

w’ Mrl~~orniitlnm from Smith to Jliller. r;/L!)/Z.L The anticipated reduction was 
from 15.259 (the current fi,exre) to 4.iSfi (the tqt lxvo priority categories). The 
.Tustice Donartment n-as advised of this change. (Memorandum from Gras to 
Kleindienst. n/18/72.) 

c 

“‘Draft copies were distributed to the field for suggestions. (E. S. Miller to 
JIr. Felt, 5/22/73.) 

@’ Jlrmorandum from FBI Headquarters to all SACS. 6/7/73. The memorandum 
to the field stated, looking back on past Bureau policy, that since the FBI’s au- 
thority to investigate .kubversire elements” had never been “seriously challenged 
until recently,” Bureau personnel (and “the general public”) had accepted “the 
FBI*s right to handle internal secnritF matters and investigate subversive actir- 
itirs without reference to specific statutes.” But the “rationale” based on “PreSi- 
dential Dirertires” was no longer “adequate.” 

‘The field n-as advised that the “chief statutes” upon which the new criteria 
Jvere Iased were those dealing with rebellion or insurrection (18 U.R.C. 2583), 
seditious conspiracy (18 U.S.C. 2584) and advocating overthrow of the govern- 
ment (18 U.S.C. 2528). The ADEX P;as to be “strictly an administrative device” 
and should play no part “in investigative decisions or policies.” The revision also 
eliminated “overemphasis” on the Communist Party. 

a~ For esample. the field offices saw the need to undertake “preliminary in- 
rpiiries” beforeit \vas known “mhether a statutory basis for investigation exists.” 
This specifically applied xhere a person had “contact with known subversive 
groups or subjects,” but the Bureau did not know “the nurpose of the contact.” 
These preliminary investigations could go on for at least 9O days, to determine 
wbetber “a statutory basis for a full investigation exists.” Moreover. at the urging 
of the field supervisors. the period for a preliminary investigation of an allegedly 
“subversive organization” WIS expanded from 45 to 90 days. (Memorandum from 
FRI Headquarters to nll’SACs, 8/8/73.) 

“’ T1li.s was apparently “in connection with” a request made earlier by Senator 
Edward 31. Kennedy, who had recluested to see this section at the time of the 
confirmation hearings fnr Attorney General Kleindienst in 1972. (Kleindienst, 
Senate ,Judiciarv Committee, 2/24/72, p. 64; memorandum from Kelley to Rich- 
ardson. 8/i/73.) 

Rli In a memorandum to the Attorney General. Director Kelley cited Senator 
Sam .T. Ervin’s r-iexv that the FBI chould be prohibited by statute “from investi- 
gating any person nithni7t the individual’s consent. unless the Government has 
reason to believe that the person has committed a crime or is about to rommit 
a crime.” Keller then summarized the position paper prepared by the Domestic 

(Continued) 
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to investigations only lrhen a crime “has been committed,” since the 
government had to “defend itself against revolutionarv and terrorist 
efforts to destroy it.” Conseqnentl~-. he urged that the President eser- 
cise his “inherent Executive power to e,z~~~d by further tlefijli~g the 
FBI’s investigative authorit;v to enable it to develop advance informa- 
tion” about the plans of “terrorists and revolutionaries who seek to 
overthrow or destroy the Government.: M [Emphasis added.] 

Director Kelley’s request initiated a process of reconsideration of 
FBI intelligence authority by the Attorney G~neral.“~” 

The general study of FBI authority was supcrceded in December 
1073 when Acting -1ttorney General Robert BOA, in consultation with 
Attorney General-designate \T’illiam Sasbe . gal-e hi,gher priority to a 
Departmental inquiry into the FBI’s COIKTELPRO pract,ices. Re- 
sponsibility for this mquirg was assigned to a committee headed by 
14ssistant Sttorney General Henry Peterson.65o 

Even at this stage, the Bureau resisted efforts by the Department to 
look too deeply into its operations. Director Kelley advised t,he. ,Qcting 
Sttorney General that the Department should exclude from its review 
the FBI’s “extremely sensitive foreign intelligence collection tech- 
niques.” 651 
(Continued) 
Intelligence Division and the Bureau’s current policy of attempting to rely on 
statutory authority. Holyever. he observed that the statutes upon which the 
FBI was relying were either “desi,qmed for the Civil War era. not the Twentieth 
Century” (the rebellion and insurrection laws) or had been “reduced to a fragile 
shell lay the Supreme Court” (the Smith Act dealing with advocacy of over- 
throw). Moreover, it was difficult to fit into the statutory framework groups 
“suth as the Ku Klux Klan, which do not seek to overthrow the Government, 
but nevertheless are totalitarian in nature and seek to deprive constitutionally 
guaranteed rights.” 

Kelley stated that, while the FBI had “statut’ory authority,” it still needed 
“a definite requirement from the President as to the nature and type of intelli- 
fence data hc reauires in the nursuit of his resnonaibilities based on o?(r statutorv 
nuthority.” (Emphasis added.) While the statutes gave “authority,” an Esecd- 
tive Order “would define our national security objectives.” The FBI Director 
added : 

“It would annear that the President would rather snell nut his own rennire- 
merits in an Egbcutire Order instead of having Congre& tell him what the FBI 
might do to help him fulfill his obligations and responsibilities as President.” 

B18 Memorandum from Kelley to Richardson. g/7/73.- 
-o Even before Keller’s reouest. Denutv Attorner General-Designate William 

Ruckelshaus (who had se&d fo; two months as Acting FBI Director between 
Gray and Kelley). sent a list of questions to the Bureau to begin “an in-denth 
examination of some of the problems facine the Bureau in the future.” (Memo- 
randum from Ruckelshaus to Kellev. 7/20/i%) The Ruckelshaus study was 
interrupted by his departure in the “Satnrdar Xight Massacre” of October 1973. 

Bso Memorandum from Bork to Kel1e.r. 12/5/73. 
851 These techniques xvere handled within the Bureau “on a strictlv need-to- 

know basis” and Keller believed that they should not he inrluded in a study 
“which will be beyond the control of the FBI.” (Memorandum from Keller to 
Bork. 12/11/73.) 

One Bureau memorandum to the Petersen rnmmittw even suggested that the 
Attorney General did nnt have authority over the FRT’s fnreirn counterintelli- 
penre onerations. since the Bureau was accnI~ntnhle in this area directlr to the 
United Statw Intrlliwnw Rn?rd and the Sntinnal Rwurity Cnnncil. (Petersen 
Committee Rennrt. pp. 34-35.) The Petersen Committee shnrplr rejected this 
view. wwciallr hernnce the nrl 7rnc pqniralent of the T’.S. Tntellieencp Tbnrd 
hnd nnnrored the discredited “Hustnn plan ” in 19iO. The Committee ~PCIRI-PA: 

“There can he no doubt that in the awn of fnreien cn~~uterintclliepn~p. as in all 
its other fllnrtinws. the FBT is snhjwt to the nnwer and authority of the Attorney 
General.” (Petersen Committee Report. p. 35.) 
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*ls a result, the Petersen committee’s review of COISTELPRO did 
not consider anything more than a brief FBI-prepared summary of 
foreign coluite~llitcllig~~llce olwrati0ns.622 Moreover, the inquiry into 
domestic COISTELPRO cases was based mainly on short summaries 
of each incident compiled by FBI agents, with Department attorneys 
making only spot-checks of the underlying files to assure the accuracy 
of the snnm~aries. Thus. the inquiry n-as unable to consider the 
complete story of COISTELPRO as reflected in the actual memoranda 
discussing the reasons for adopting particular tactics and the means 
by which they mere iniplenlented.G”3 

Thus, at the same time that the Bureau was seeking guidance and 
clarification of its authority, vestiges remained of its past resistance 
to otttside scrutiny and its desire to rely on Executive authority? rather 
than statute. for the definition of its intelligence activities. 

6. Recent Domestic Intelligence Authority 
In the absence of any new standards imposed by statute? or by the 

Attorney General, the FBI continued to collect domestic mtelligence 
under sweeping authorizations issued by the Justice Department in 
1974 for investigations of “subversives,” potential civil disturbances, 
and “potential crimes.” These authorizations were explicitly based on 
conceptions of inherent Executive power. broader in theory than the 
FBI’s own claim in 1973 that, its authority could be found in the 
criminal statues. Attorney General Levi has recently promulgated 
guidelines which stand as the first significant attempt by the, Justice 
Department to set standards and limits for FBI domestic intelligence 
investigations.G55 

(1) Execzttiue Orcle~ l/?&50> -4s 4wewZc~.-The Federal employee 
securitv program continued to serve as a basis for FBI domestic intel- 
lipen& investigations . An internal Bureau memorandum stated that 
the .Justice Department’s instruction regarding the program : 

specifically requires the FBI to check the names of all civil 
applicants and incumbents of the Executive Branch against 
our records. In order to meet this responsibility FBIHQ 
records must contain identities of all persons connected with 
subversive or extremist activities, together with necessary 
identifying information.656 

FBI field offices were instructed in mid-1974 to report to Bureau 
headquarters such data as the following : 

Identities of subversive and/or extremist groups or move- 
ments (including front groups) with which subject has been 
identified, period of membership. positions held, and a sum- 
mary of the type and extent of subversive or extremist activi- 
tie.s engaged in by subject (e.g., attendance at meetings or 

FZL’ FBI Memorandum. “Orerall Recommendations-Counterintelligence 
Actiritp.” Appendix to Petersen Committee Report. 

ax Henry Petersen Testimony. 12/8/X. Hearings. Vol. 6, pp. 276-71. 
“’ .\ttorney General’s Guidelines : “Domestic Security Investigations,” “Re- 

porting on Civil Disorders and Demonstrations Involving a Federal Interest,” 
ant1 “White Honsr Personnel Security and Background Investigations.” 

OX Jlrmorandum from A. R. Fnlton to Mr. Wnnnall. T/10/74. See pp. 42-G for 
discussion of the initiation of the program. 
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other functions, fundraising or recruiting activities on behalf 
of the organization, contributions, etc.) .65T 

In .Jnne 19’74. President Bison formally abolished the “A%ttorney 
General’s list,” upon the recommendation of Attorney General Saxbe. 
However, the, President’s order retained a revised definition of the 
types of organizations. association wl!ich wonld still be considered in 
evaluating prospective federal en~ployees.G58 The .Jnstice Department 
instructed the FBI that, it should “detect organizations with a poten- 
tial” for falling within the terms of the order and investigate “indi- 
viduals who are active either as members of or as affiliates of” such 
organizations. The Department instructions addecl : 

It is not necrssarv that a crime occur before the inrestipa- 
tion is initiated, but onlv that. a reasonable evaluation of t,he 
available information suggests that the activities of the orga- 
nization may fall within the prescription of the Order. . . . 

It is not possih?e to set definite pnrametcrs corem'ng the 

initiation of investigations of potential oqanizations falling 
within the Order but once the investigation reaches a sta-ge 
that offers a basis for determining that t.he activities are legal 
in nature, then the investigation should cease, but if t.he 
investigation suggests a determination that the organization 
is engaged in illegal activities or potentially illegal activities 
it. should continue. [Emphasis added.] 

The Department applkd “the same yard&l? to investigations of 
individuals “when information is received suggesting t,heir involve- 
ment.” 65g 

(2) C&G7 IG~rr7ern In tP77igcnce.-The Justice Department also 
instructed the FBI in 1974 that, it should not, as the Bureau had sug- 
gested. limit its civil disturbance report’ing “to those particular situ- 
aCons which are of such a serious nature that, Federal military 
personnel may be called upon for assistance.” The Department advised 
that t,his suggested “guideline” was “not practical” since it “would 
place the burden on the Bureau” to make an initial decision as to 
“\vhether militarp personnel mav ultimatelr be needed.” and this 
responsibility rested “legally” wit.h the President. Instead, the FBI 
was ordered to “continue” to report, on 

857 Memorandum from FBI Headquarters to all SACS, 8/X/74. 
858E~ecutive Order 11785, 6/4/74. The new standard: “Knowing memher- 

ship with the specific intent of furthering the aims of, or adherence to and active 
partiripation in, anr foreign or dnmcnfic orrranization, association, mnrement. 
group. or combination of persons (hereinafter referred to as organizations) 
which unlawfully af7nocatea or practices the commission of acts of force or 
rinlence to prerent others from exercising their rights under the Constitution or 
laws of the Vnited States or of an?] ntnte. or which seeks to nrerthrnw the Gnrern- 
ment of the United States or any State or 8z~bdiz;isions thereof h.r unlawful 
mesns.” [Emphasis added.] 

6’oJIemorandum from Glen E. Pommerenine. Assistant Attorney General for 
Administration, to Kelley, 11/17/74. 

With respect to one organization. the Department advised the Bureau that 
“despite the abolition” of the Attorney General’s list, the group “would still 
crime within the criteria” of the emnlnree seruritv nrngram if it “mar have 
enraged in nctirities” of the sort prns&ilrrd by t’he rrrisrd executive‘ order. 
(Memorandum from Henry E. Petersen to Clarence Kelley, U/13/74. ) 
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all significant incidents of ci\-il unrest. and should not, be 
restricted to situations where, in the judgment of the Bureau, 
military personnel cremually may be u~ed.66~ 

Xoreover, under this authority the Bureau was also ordered to 
“continue” reporting on 

all disturbances where there are indications that extremist, or- 
panizations such as the Conmiuiiist Party, Ku Klux Klan, or 
Black Panther Partv are belkvcd to be involved in efforts 
to instigate or exploit them. 

The instructions specifically declared that, the Bureau “should make 
t,imely reports of significant disturbances, even when no specific viola- 
tion of Federal law is indicated.” This was to be done., at least in part? 
through “liaison” with local law enforcement, agencies.661 

Even after the *Justice Department’s IDIC dismantled its com- 
puterized data bank, its basic, functions continued to be performed 
hv a Civil Disturbance I-nit in the office of the Deputy attorney Gen- 
eral, and the FRI was under instructions to disseminate its civil dis- 
turbance reports to that IYnit.c62 

FBI officials considered these instructions “significant” because they 
pave it “an official, written mandate from the Department.” The 
Department’s desires were viewed as “consistent wit.h what we ha.ve 
already been doing for the past several years!” although the Bureau 
Manual was reJvritten to “incorporate into it excerpts from the 
Department’s letter.” D63 

(3) “Potentin.7” C%mes.-The FBI recently abolished completely 
the administrative index (,4DEX) of persons considered “dangerous 
now.‘? However, the, ,Justice Department has advanced a theory t,o 
support broad power for the Executive Branch in investigating groups 
which represent a “potrntial threat to the public safetv” or which have 
a “potential” for violating specific statutes. For example, the Depart- 
nient advised the FBI that the General Crimes Section of the Criminal 
Division had “recommended continued investigation” of one group on 
the basis of “potential violations” of the antiriot statutes.6G5 These same 

Om “On the other hand.” the instructions stated ambiguously, “the FBI should 
not report every minor local disturbance n-here there is no apparenst interest to 
the President, the Attorney General or other Government officials and agencies.” 
( JIemorandum from Petersen to Keller. 10/22/74. ) 

Oel Jiemorandum from Petersen to Iielley. 10/E/74. The FRI was espected to 
“be aware of disturbances and natterns of disorder.” althoueh it is not to renort 
“each and every relatirely insignificant incident of a strictly local nature.” 

“’ Memorandum from Petersen to Kelley-. 10/22/74. Frank Syland testimony, 
l/27/76. pp. 46-58. 

~B”Memorandun~ from J. G. Deegan to W. R. Wannall. 10/3O/i4. From a 
leaal viewpoint, the Justice Department’s instructors dealing with the col- 
lectinn of intelligence on potential civil disturbances xrere significant because 
1 hw relied for authority on : (1) the President’s nnwers under .\rticle IV. section 
4 of the Constitution to protect the states. upon alq,lication of the legislature or 
the rxeriitire. against “domestic rinlence :” (2) the statute (10 U.S.C. 331. et 
serl.) authorizing the use of troops ; and (3) the Presidential dirertire of l%Q 
tlesi,an~ttina the Attorney General as chief civilian nffirer to coordinate the 
Government’s respnn*e to ciril distnrl,ances. (JIemorandnm from Petersen to 
Keller. 10/42/74: Memorandum from Melvin Laird and John Xitchell to the 
President. 4/l/69.) 

mz 18 U.S.C. 2101-2102. 
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instrnct.ions added that there need not bc a “potential” for violation 
of any specific statutc.GG” 

(4) CVni712. of Inhcwnt E,w~l/tjw Pozpej,.-The Department’s theory 
of executirc power w-as set forth in 1X& testimony before the House 
Internal Secllrity Comniittec. According to Deljuty Alssistnnt -1ttorney 
Gene2xl Kevin JI:\ronev. “the primary hsis” for FBI domestic intcl- 
ligeuc’e authority rests in “the constitntionnl poviers and rcspousibili- 
ties vested in the Presiclent under Article II of the Constitution.” 
These powers were specified as : the Prtsitlent’s dut7 undertalw1 in his 
oath of oflice to “preserve. protect. and defend the Constitution of the 
United States ;” nGi the Cliirf Esccntire’s dllty to “take Cure that the 
Laws be faithfully executed ? c(is the President’s responsibilities as 
Coll7lnaiider-iii-Cl~ief of the military; and his “po”rer to conduct Our 

foreign relations.” FBU 
The chairman of the Internal Security Committee, Rep. Richarcl H. 

Icllord. stated nt that time that, csc,ept ‘in limited alws. lllc Colyy.ess 
“has not directly imposed upon the Fl3I clear!y defined duties ln the 
acquisition, use, or clisscmination of domestic or internal security 
intelligence.” 67D 

Subsequently, the FBI Intelligence Dirision revised its 1972-1973 
position on its legal anthorit,y, and in a paper completed in 1975 it 
returned to the view “that the intelligence-gathering activities of the 
Fl31 have had as their basis the intention of the President to delegate 

Bui Memorandum from Petersen to Keller, 11/13/74. This memorandum added : 
“[W]ithnut a broad range of intelligence information, the President and the 

departments and agencies of the Esecutive Branch could not properly and ade- 
quately protect our nation’s security and enforce the numerous statrrtes pertain- 
ing thereto . . [T]he Department, and in particular the Attorney General, 
must continue to be informed of those organizations that engage in violence which 
represent a potc&ictZ thrcnt to tha pftdlic snfrt?/.” [Emphasis added.] 

““iTlle opinion of the Supreme Court in the United States v. Unifcd States 
District Court, 407 U.S. 297 (1972)-the domestic security wiretapping case- 
stated. “Imnlicit in that dutr is the newer to nrotect our Government against 
those &ho \\‘ould subvert or o\.rrthrolT- ‘It by nnla~~~fnl mpans.:’ 

<, 

+‘@A 19th century Supreme Court opinion xvas cited as having interpreted the 
word “laws” broadly to encompass not only statutes enacted by Congress, but 
also “the rights. duties. and oblieations eromine nut of the Constitution itseIf. 
our international relations and ill the nrotecti& implied by the nature of Gov: 
ernment under the Constitution.” [In Re ATeagle, 135 U.S. 1 (1890).] 

Me The latter Dower n-as said to relate “more narticularlv to the Executive’s 
power to conduct foreign intelligence activities her; and abrnkd.” (Kevin Maronev 
te.+inion.v, “Domestic Intelligence Operations .for Internal Security Purposes,” 
Hearings before the House Committee on Internal Security, 93d Cong., 2d Sess. 
(1974). nn. 3332-3335.1 Mr. Maronev added : 

“We r&gnize the complexitv anb difficultr of adequately spelling out the 
FBI’s nutl1nrit.v and responsibility to conduct homestic intelligence-type investi- 
gations. The concept national security is admittedly a broad one, while the term 
subversive activities is even more difficult to define.” 

Mr. JIaronep also cited the follnwing from the Supreme Court’s opinion in the 
domestic serurity n-iretapping raw : “The gathering of secnri@ intelligence is 
often long-range and involves the interrelation of various sources and types of 
information. The wart targets of such surveillance mar 1)~ more diffirnlt to 
identify . Often, too. the emphasis of domestic intelligence gatherine is on 
the prercntion of unlawful activity or the enhnnrement of the Gnrernment’s pre- 
paredness for snme possible future crisis or emergenc,v. Thus. the focus of 
dnmcrtic surveillance may be Iws precise than that directed against more con- 
ventional t.vpes of prime.” [United Rtnfcs T. Unifed Sfnfcs District Cmrt, 407 

- 9 u.2q6 2C)r 32 (19 2j.J 
” Go&e Comm<ttee on Internal Security Hearings. 1974, pp. 333G-3331. 
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his Constitutional authority,” as well as the statutes “pertaining to the 
national securitp.” 671 

The Attorney (‘rcncral has continnetl to nsscrt the claim of inherent 
csecntirc l~ou-c~~ to c0ntlrtc.t waixmtlcss clertrollic swvcillance of 
American citizens, although this po~wr has been csercised sl~ariiiply.ci2 
The .Justicc I)epartnlr~nt has also claimed that this inherent executive 
l~ower l~eiwits wai~rantless surrcptitiow eiitrie5.“73 Hon.evcr, the Esec- 
Iltive Branch has recentlv joined a bipartisan group of Senators and 
Rcl~rcsentati\-cs in sl~ons~r~ng a lcpislatire l~rolmsal requiring judicial 
warrants for all electronic sw\-cillance b\- the FIJI. 

(5) A ttomey Gene4 Leci?s GuicZeZi,;es.--Duringr 1075, the Con- 
grrss and the Esecwti\-c ISranch bepn major efforts to review the 
field of doniestic intcllipcilcc. _I Presidential comnlission headed b;v 
T’ice President 12ockefrllcr inquirctl into the CIA’s improper SW- 
veillance of ~~iiiericans.“7’ A1ttorncy Creneral Edwaul H. Levi cstab- 
lishcd a committee in the .Jwtirc Dcpartnlcnt to tlcvclop “guidelines” 
for the FRI.“;” and the ,Justicr Tkpartment began to wol~k on draft 
legislation to require warrants fol: national security electronic SW- 
veillance.67” 

These efforts hnl-c brpn to bear flatlit in recent months. President 
Ford 1~s issnrtl an Esceuti\-c Or(lcr regulating foreign intelligence 
activities : Fii -1ttorncy Crcneral I,evi has l~roiiiiilgated several sets of 
“guidclincs” for tllc FI3I.“7’ -\nd the administration has endorsed a 
specific bill to cstnblish a warrant l~imxli~rc for all national secnrity 
n-irrtnlx and biys iii the T-iiitctl States.“79 

“I W. Rnymond Wnnnnll, Assistant Director for the Intelligence Division. 
1\Iemnr:7nd1im on the “Tktsic for Ia’T%T Sntionnl Security Tntelli~cnre Inrestign- 
tioni;.” Z/13/7*5. 

‘l” After wwr:ll repent trnnsfomlntinns. the policy of the Attorney General 
lens wt:il~lial~c~tl as nutllorizing warrantless snrwillnnrc~ “only when it is shown 
tllat its anbjerts nre the active, consc*ion?: agents of foreign pn\vers :” and this 
st:lndard “is npplicd with pnrticulnr striI1,wllcy n-hcrr the snbjects are .\mcricnn 
citizens or perlilnnwt resident nlifws.” (.Tnstiw Drpnrtmpnt memnr~ndnm from 
Ron Cur. Special Assistant to the Attorney General. to Mike Shahecn, Counsel 
OII I’rofcssionnl Responqil~ility, S/‘%/‘i(i.) 

‘a In Jlny 197.7. for the first time in .\mrricxn history. the Department of 
.Tnstirr pnhlicly aswrtrd the l?nn-er of the Esrcntirc Rrnnch to conduct warrant- 
less snrreptitinns entries unconnected XT-it11 the nw of electronic surwillance. This 
wcnrred in n letter to thr Vnited States Court nf A1pprnls for the District nf Cn- 
lmnl~in concerning an appeal II)- John Ehrlicllmnn. Ehrlichmmi was npi,enling R 
conrirtion arising from tlic I,rrnl;-in at the oflice of Daniel Ellslwrg‘s l,sycllintrist 
nftr~ lnil~lic7ltinn of the “Prntngnn Papers” in 1971. 

The Justice Department’s position war; that “warrantless searches involving 
l~llysic71 entries into prirntr l)rt~liiisrs” r:i** Iw “l:lwful llntlcr the Fourth Amrnd- 
meirt.” if they are “rcry rnrpfnlly cwntrolled :” 

“Thew must be solid reason to 1)elierr that foreign wpionn,w or intelligenw is 
ir;rolrccl. In addition. thr intrnsion into any mnr of cslwrted prirncy nlnst hr 
kcnt to the minimum and tllere must Iw prrsonnl nntliorixatinn Ily the Prrsident 
or the .\ttnrney General.” (Letter from John C. KenneT, Acting Assistant AttnrneY 
Gfwwnl. to ITngh E. Cliuc. Clerk of the T.iiited States Court of Appeals for the 
1)ivtl.i~t of C0lnmhin. 5/9/Z., 

g;4 Rnckrfeller Commission Report. 
“’ T.cvi. 12/11/7ri. Hwrilrgs. Vol. 6. p!‘. X1&317. 
“’ T,cri. 11/G/7.5. Hearings. Vol. 5. p. 90. 
‘ii frwiitire Order 11509. Z/lS/‘ifi. 
“’ .\t toriicy Gcnprnl’s Gnitlclinw “T)omc~stir Swuritr Iiir-estiwtions”. “Wliitp- 

110nw Pprsmrncl Sernrity and Rnrkgrmlntl Tnrwtign tions”. ant1 “Relmrtin~ on 
Cix-il Disnrtlcrs ant1 Drninnatmtinns InT.nlx-ing n Fcdernl Interest”, 3/10/76. 

m S. 3197, introduced 3/P3/76. 
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These Executive initiatives are a major step forward in creating 
safeguards and establishing standards? but, they are incomplete Cth- 
out legislation.C’O Ah~ong the issues left open by the President’s 
Executive Order>, for example, are : (1) the definition of the term 
“foreign sub\-erslon” used to characterize the coLulter-intelligeilce 
responsibilities of the CIA and the FM; and (2) clarification of the 
vague provisions in the Sational Secxrity _1ct of 1947 relating to the 
authority of the Director of C’cntral liitclligence to l)rotrct “sources” 
and *methods ;” and (3) nmplificatioll of the 1~47 11cat’s prohibition 
against the CIA’s exercise of “law cilforcemeiit powers” or “internal 
security functions.” 

Although they represent only a partial answer to the need for per- 
manent restraints, the ilGtiati;-es of the Executive Branch tlemon- 
strate a willingness to seriously consider the ncecl for legislative 
action. The Attorney General has recognized that Ihecutive “guicle- 
lines” are not, ellongll to regulate aud authorize FBI intelligence 
activities.““’ Tlw (‘ommittce’s conclusions and recomnlenclations in 
Part IV of this report indicate the areas most in need of legislative 
attention. 

e80Tlle major questions posed by the President’s Executive Order and the 
Attorney General’s guidelines for the FBI are di?;cnssed in the recommendation 
section of this report, as are the problems with the national security electronic 
surveillance bill. 

“I Levi Testimony, 12/11/75, Hearings, Tel. 6, p. 345. 
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